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Welcome to the third Novus Holdings’
integrated report, presented to you as a
stakeholder and partner on our journey to
become a diversified and market leading
print and manufacturing Group. This report
provides insights into the challenges and
opportunities that we have faced in 2017
and foresee, and will highlight how we
intend to create sustainable value in the
short, medium and long term.

SALIENT FEATURES FOR 2017
−

−

−

−

Continued decline in magazine and newspaper volumes,
rising input costs related to the exchange rate and
operational challenges in the optimisation of the
Group’s production portfolio and footprint resulted in an
operating margin excluding impairments and profit/(loss)
on disposal of assets of 12,3%, down 3,3%, from 15,6%
in the previous year.
Completion of the amalgamation of Paarl Media Paarl
and Digital Print Solutions into Novus Print Solutions.
The Group can now focus on improved profitability from
Novus Print Solutions.
Novus Holdings was awarded the Department of
Basic Education (DBE) workbook tender for a three-year
period, including 2018, 2019 and 2020.
Novus Holdings executed a voter registration tender for
the United Nations Development Programme (UNDP) in
Liberia. This is part of efforts to diversify from traditional
printing, enabling better access to ballot printing work.

NAVIGATIONAL TOOLS
The following icons have been applied throughout the
report to direct the reader to additional information or
cross-referenced sections.
Online reference for further information.
Page reference for supplementary information that
can be found elsewhere in this report.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

ABOUT
THIS REPORT
Novus Holdings Limited (“Novus Holdings”,
“the Group” or “the company”) is one
of the largest printing and manufacturing
operations in southern Africa. The Group
listed on the Johannesburg Stock Exchange (JSE)
on 31 March 2015 in the Business Support
Services sector (share code: NVS).
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About this report
Novus Holdings’ 2017 integrated report provides
insight into the Group’s strategy, business model,
operating environment, material risks, performance
and future prospects for the financial year of
1 April 2016 to 31 March 2017.

The report is structured to cover the Group’s operations
according to its two business segments:
−
−

 rint (including gravure, heatset, coldset,
P
sheet-fed and digital)
“Other” (including labels, flexible packaging and
tissue manufacturing)

The content of this report is comparable to the
2016 integrated report in terms of the business
operations covered, the measurement methods
applied, and the time frames used for financial and
non-financial data. The financial and non-financial
data in this report primarily cover the Group’s printing
and manufacturing operations in South Africa.
Novus Holdings has increased coverage of its African
operations to reflect growing business interests outside
of South Africa.
This integrated report contains statements about
Novus Holdings that are or may be forward-looking.
By their nature, forward-looking statements involve
risks and uncertainties that relate to events and depend
on circumstances that may or may not occur in the
future. Novus Holdings cautions that forward-looking
statements are not guarantees of future performance.

REPORTING GUIDELINES
In developing the content for this report, Novus
Holdings applied the following frameworks and
regulations for financial and non-financial reporting:
−

6

King Report on Governance for South Africa 2009
(King III) and for the Remuneration report, the
King IVTM Report on Corporate GovernanceTM for
South Africa 2016 (King IVTM)

−
−
−
−

−

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)
Companies Act, 71 of 2008, as amended
JSE Listings Requirements
Broad-Based Black Economic Empowerment
(B-BBEE) Regulations of the Department of Trade
and Industry (dti)
The International Integrated Reporting Council’s
(IIRC) Integrated Reporting <IR> Framework

Novus Holdings remains committed to improving
its sustainability reporting. The Group initiated a
process of applying materiality to the Global Reporting
Initiative’s (GRI) Sustainability Reporting Standards
and is identifying the appropriate measurements to
facilitate sustainability reporting going forward.

TARGET AUDIENCE AND MATERIAL MATTERS
This report is prepared in the interest of Novus Holdings’
shareholders and the South African investment
community to inform their assessment of the Group’s
ability to leverage off its printing and manufacturing
capabilities to ratchet returns in sub-Saharan Africa.
The report is also relevant to other stakeholders,
including communities, employees, Government,
industry bodies, publishers, media houses and
advertisers, retail and commercial clients as well
as suppliers.
Therefore, the information provided in this report covers
all material matters, risks and opportunities relating
to the Group’s business strategy, and the aspects of its
performance that are of importance to stakeholders.
Material matters were determined through an externally
facilitated process undertaken in 2015.

ABOUT THIS REPORT

Novus Holdings welcomes
feedback from stakeholders
on the value and effectiveness
of this report. Any comments,
or requests for additional
information not covered in
this report, can be directed to
investor.relations@novus.holdings
or on +27 21 550 2500. Additional
information can also be
accessed on the website at
www.novus.holdings.

These matters were reviewed at the beginning of the
2017 content development process. Material matters
are based on whether a matter could significantly impact
the Group’s ability to deliver products that generate a
sustainable return for providers of financial capital.
In addition to applying the principle of material matters,
Novus Holdings considers feedback from key users
of its integrated report in developing report content.
During the year, the Group conducted an integrated
reporting survey among investors and other
stakeholders to identify improvement opportunities
for its 2017 integrated report. Feedback from this
survey indicated the following (Novus Holdings’
response in [brackets]):
−

−

−

APPROVAL AND ASSURANCE
This report is the result of combined input from internal
and external sources. PricewaterhouseCoopers provided
assurance of the financial statements.
Other non-financial indicators were reviewed
by an internal process that includes approval by
management. The 2017 integrated report was reviewed
by the audit committee and recommended for approval
to the board. Final approval for release was granted on
8 June 2017 upon confirmation from the board that the
integrated report offers stakeholders the information
required to make considered evaluations about the
performance and sustainability of the Group.

A need for additional information about the
Group’s operating context, including industry and
market conditions [additional information provided
in the strategic overview].
Improved disclosure on value creation per
stakeholder group [disclosure expanded, with
stronger focus on measurable value creation].
Better articulation of Novus Holdings’ business
model [the Group’s reliance on and trade-offs
between the six capitals have been revised to
better illustrate Novus Holdings’ business activities,
outputs and outcomes].
Read the full forward-looking statements disclaimer on page 118.
Novus Holdings’ material matters and strategic objectives are discussed in more detail from page 24.
Read more about Novus Holdings’ growth strategy in the Leadership report from page 48.
Read more about how Novus Holdings creates value from page 33.
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KEY FACTS
Operating return on net assets

Revenue (R’000)

17,8%

R4 312 464
2016: R4 174 517

2016: 22,5%

Headline earnings (R’000)

Number of employees

2 018

R354 083

2016: R447 158

2016: 2 003

Net return on equity

Dividends paid per share

56 cents

9,0%
2016: 16,6%

2016: 70 cents

Headline earnings per share

Carbon footprint

110,8 cents

105 285
tonnes

2016: 139,9 cents

2016: 102 545 tonnes of CO2 emissions

Cash conversion ratio

77,5%

2016: 72,0%

AWARDS FOR 2017
−

−
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Paarl Media Cape, the flagship heatset plant,
was recognised for its quality publication gravure
printing by being awarded a commendation for
The Foschini Group Club magazine at the European
Publication Gravure Awards in September 2016.
Two of the coldset plants acquired membership
to the exclusive World Association of Newspapers
and News Publishers (WAN-IFRA) International

−

Newspaper Colour Quality Club. This membership
enables the plants to benchmark their print quality
against recognised international standards.
The Novus Academy received the prestigious
Gold award in the Best Artisan Development
Programme (small to medium size enterprise)
category at the National Skills Development
Awards held in March 2017.

ABOUT THIS REPORT

−

Novus Holdings’ heatset printing plants, Paarl
Media Cape and Paarl Media KwaZulu-Natal, won
a total of six awards at the Graphics, Advertising,
Print and Packaging (GAPP) Magazine Awards held
in October 2016. Categories awarded included
heatset litho web-fed, which encompasses all types
of printed matter produced on a heatset offset web
press, as well as commercial litho sheet-fed, which
includes all multi-sheet printed materials compiled
and bound into a publication.
For a list of plants that received SHERQ
certification during the year, see page 70.
For a list of environmental certifications
received during the year, see page 70.

INVESTMENT CASE

An attractive diversified investment portfolio
of sustainable growth assets
Novus Holdings has diversified its revenue stream by
leveraging some of its core print assets to include the
production of tissue and labels. Manufactured in part
from the waste of the Group’s core printing operations,
tissue is a high-volume and sustainable product that
draws on Novus Holdings’ experience in the paper
industry. An understanding of gravure production and
existing infrastructure to curtail set-up costs creates
capacity in the label and flexible packaging industry
and facilitates low-cost market penetration. These
diversified paper-based offerings give Novus Holdings
access to new markets, product lines and opportunities
for organic and acquisitive growth.

History of strong cash flow generation and cash
conversion with low financial leverage
Capital expenditure over the last few years has
resulted in lower capital investment requirements
going forward, particularly in the print and tissue
segments. Consequently, strong cash flow generation
and conversion provides the Group with the requisite
platform to fund acquisitions and greenfield operations,
as well as with the ability and flexibility to pay dividends.
A low level of third-party debt allows Novus Holdings to
enhance its capital structure through gearing benefits.

Strong market position in an industry that
benefits from operational leverage
The Group is a market leader in the high-volume,
high-quality print markets in South Africa, with very
few national and other African competitors that can
offer the same portfolio of products and services. With
significant goodwill among its existing client base,
Novus Holdings is able to secure additional printing

work with more certainty. The Group’s national network
of plants allows it to attract a diverse customer base.
Due to its scale, favourable terms can be negotiated
with suppliers. Little threat is posed by new entrants
joining the market due to high barriers to entry due
to high capital investment, specialised skills and
experience requirements.

Well-located, world-class production facilities
on company-owned properties located in close
proximity to end markets and major economic
hubs nationally
The Group has 11 specialised operations nationally
and a cumulative factory floor space of 139 123 m2.
In excess of R3,7 billion in capital expenditure since
2000 has ensured that facilities are equipped with
modern technology to attract business opportunities,
including the acceptance of projects on tight deadlines
with complex operating requirements. As a result of its
capital expenditure programme, the Group has capacity
to ensure that the incremental costs of production are
limited. Novus Holdings also continually focuses on
enhancing its product portfolio through relocations and
entity combinations to optimise efficiency and logistics.

Management team with extensive experience
in the printing and manufacturing industries
The management team helped establish Novus
Holdings as the leader in the South African printing
and manufacturing industry. The majority of the
key management team members have significant
experience in this industry and Novus Holdings has
attracted and retained younger managers who provide
impetus to executing growth strategies. Management
operates with a great degree of autonomy and
operational independence, allowing for quicker
decision-making. Management and shareholders’
interests are aligned through participation in the
Employee Share Ownership Plan.
See the Remuneration report on page 98.

Growth opportunities identified through
accretive acquisitions and greenfield
opportunities, both within its traditional
business and other related areas
By leveraging its capabilities in acquiring valueenhancing businesses and establishing greenfield
operations, Novus Holdings intends to execute its
strategy to ensure that it creates value for shareholders.
See the growth strategy on page 22.
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GROUP AT A GLANCE

GROUP
AT A GLANCE
Novus Holdings’ resilience is owed
to its pursuit of strategic partnerships,
comprehensive distribution capacity, focus on
service and high-quality standards, as well as
its expansion of its productive capacities into
growing market sectors.
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Group
at a glance
With 17 years’ experience, the Group
services the country and clients across
the African continent with a range of
print and manufacturing solutions.

Capital expenditure in excess of R3,7 billion has been
spent since 2000 to ensure that the Group’s facilities
are equipped with modern technology and highly
efficient, fully automated production processes.
This positions the Group well to provide clients with
seamless access to high-volume resources
and extensive print and manufacturing capability.

–

NOVUS HOLDINGS’ VISION
FOR A BETTER COMPANY

NOVUS HOLDINGS’ BUSINESS
OPERATIONS, PRODUCT OFFERING
AND SUPPORT SERVICES

Novus Holdings’ vision is to become the leading
commercial printing and manufacturing operation
in Africa, while maintaining the highest ethical
standards in its practices and creating long-term
value for stakeholders.
The Group will achieve this by:
–
–
–

12

Building lasting relationships with business
partners.
Exceeding the needs of clients in terms of quality
and service.
Offering cost-effective product solutions that
match market demands.

–
–

Providing a safe and productive working
environment which inspires the workforce to
thrive and grow.
Supporting communities and driving sustainable
socio-economic development.
Preserving natural resources and ensuring
environmentally responsible practices.

Novus Holdings operates according to two business
divisions: Print and “Other”.
Print includes all printing operations: modern pre-press,
press and post-press equipment, as well as production
processes that deliver quick, high-quality printing of
almost any format.
“Other” includes labels and tissue: labels offer clients
a portfolio of label printing solutions whereas tissue
constitutes all tissue paper manufacturing operations.
“Other” further includes all non-print business
activities, for example voter registration and security
products.

GROUP AT A GLANCE

The Group is positioned
to capitalise on growth
opportunities as well as
the expansion of new
product offerings through
labels, flexible packaging
and tissue products.

EMPLOYEES PER DIVISION

EMPLOYEE DEMOGRAPHIC PROFILE: RACE

35,7%
COLOURED

(2016: 35,4%)

84,5%
PRINT

36,3%
BLACK

(2016: 84,0%)

(2016: 33,7%)

19,2%
WHITE

15,5%
“OTHER”

(2016: 22,2%)

(2016: 16,0%)

8,8%
INDIAN

(2016: 8,7%)

Through its business
operations, the Group offers
printing and manufacturing
services for the following
product categories:

PRINT
−
−
−
−
−

“OTHER”

Retail inserts and catalogues
Magazines
Newspapers
Books and directories
Security printing

−
−
−

Labels and other flexible
packaging products
Tissue products
Security products
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REVENUE CONTRIBUTION PER PRODUCT CATEGORY
PRINT

“OTHER”

29,0%
22,6%

Retail inserts Magazines
and catalogues

2017

Newspapers

Books and
directories

Printed
security
products

Tissue
products

3,1%

Labels and other
flexible packaging
products

1,0%
0%

3,6%

2,7%

1,7%

20,7%

21,9%

20,6%

29,0%

0%

3,4%

20,6%

19,4%

Other
security
products

2016

PRODUCT OFFERING
The Group services the country and clients across the
African continent through its print production of all
short to long-run requirements of magazines, retail

inserts, catalogues, books, newspapers, commercial
work, labels, educational materials, as well as digital
printing and tissue product manufacturing.

Product category

Elements

Capabilities

Retail inserts
and catalogues

−

−

−
−

Brochures, leaflets
and catalogues
Reports and calendars
Retail inserts for the
majority of South
African retailers

−
−
−

Magazines

Newspapers

14

−

−

Audit Bureau of
Circulations (ABC)listed magazines,
trade magazines, club
magazines and freeto-market magazines
Daily, weekly
and community
newspapers

−
−
−
−
−
−
−
−
−

Fully automated production processes and high-speed
presses ensure short turnaround times
Inline finishing capabilities deliver finished products
directly off the press
Strategic geographical plant locations ensure fast and
efficient distribution
Fully automated inserting lines offer quick and efficient
inserting of retail inserts into newspapers
From high-volume publications to medium runs
of specialised magazines
Flexibility in formats and paper stock
Binding options include high-speed saddle stitching
and perfect (PUR) binding
Machine and hand insertion of marketing material
Bagging in clear or printed plastic
Caters for large as well as smaller print runs in a variety
of formats
High-quality coldset printing on uncoated papers
Plants based in main centres
Workflow system reduces turnaround times

GROUP AT A GLANCE

Product category

Elements

Capabilities

Books and
directories

−

−

−

−

Workbooks for
the DBE
Hard and softcover
books for leading
publishers
Telephone directories

−
−
−

Tissue products

−

A range of bulk tissue
and jumbo wadding

−

−
Labels and
other flexibles

−

High-quality labels
for the wine, beer,
spirits, cosmetics,
petrochemical, food
and beverage markets

−
−

Security products

−
−

Election ballots
Examination materials
and assessments
Any other securityrelated printing

−
−

−

−

Various press technologies provide access to the most
appropriate print solution for each format of book
Special quality effects on book covers such as spot
colours and UV varnishing
High-speed saddle stitching, thread sewing,
PUR binding and hand binding services
Specific software is used to manage and
control complexities
Production of domestic tissue paper through the
effective use of waste paper from other printing
operations
Parent reels in different grades and grammages
supplied to tissue converting operators
Specialised labelling and print-on-packaging solutions
Adhesive and finishing solutions that include selfadhesive items for the fast-moving consumer goods
(FMCG) market, wet glue labels for the beverage
industry and wrap-around labels for the carbonated
soft drink market
Paarl Media Gauteng is a registered security printer
Confidentiality of material is guaranteed and the
verification of barcodes provides a clear audit trail
Inclusion of sophisticated design techniques to deter
counterfeiting and falsification

A list of commonly used terms, as well as commonly referred to entities that are relevant to Novus Holdings’
business activities and operations, is available from page 118.

SUPPORT SERVICES

−

Novus Holdings supports its product offering
through a comprehensive range of services, which
are available nationally and in parts of Africa. These
services ensure that the finished product is delivered
to clients as efficiently as possible, without any
compromise on quality.

−

These services include:
−

Digital integration: Digital integration of the
pre-press departments provides for seamless
transfer of files between plants. This facilitates
the printing of one product in different locations,
on identical platforms, where it best suits clients.
It also reduces distribution costs and shortens
turnaround times, thereby minimising the
Group’s carbon footprint.

−

Quality control: Quality control to deliver crisp,
full-spectrum colour reproduction over millions
of copies for heatset, coldset, publication and
packaging gravure.
Production risk management: Production
risk management that includes International
Organisation for Standardisation (ISO) certification,
sufficient levels of key raw material stockholding,
as well as long-term repair and maintenance
agreements.
Comprehensive flexible logistics solutions:
Comprehensive flexible logistics solutions provide
for the distribution of products and services, both
locally and internationally.
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NOVUS HOLDINGS’ STRUCTURE AND OWNERSHIP PROFILE

A MARKET LEADER IN CONVERTING PAPER AND PULP INTO PRODUCTS

LABELS

PRINT

(Heatset)

Cape Town
KwaZulu-Natal
Gauteng

TISSUE

Paarl
Cape Town

KwaZulu-Natal

Cape Town
Novus
Academy*

(Coldset)

Johannesburg
Cape Town
Port Elizabeth
Bloemfontein
Pietermaritzburg

*	Novus Academy is a supporting
service to the Novus Holdings group
of companies.

Number of full-time employees
helping to maintain the Group’s leadership position in the industry

2017: 2 018

2016: 2 003
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GROUP AT A GLANCE

OWNERSHIP PROFILE
NOVUS HOLDINGS

61,2%

25,2%

7,0%

6,6%

Media241

Institutional
investors

Novus Holdings
share trust

Other non-public
investors

	This reflects Media24’s shareholding in Novus Holdings at the time of this report going to print. In April 2017, the Competition
Commission ruled that Media24 must divest itself of the majority of its shareholding in Novus Holdings – retaining only a noncontrolling minority stake of 19%. This ruling is subject to the approval of the Competition Tribunal.

1

ANALYSIS OF SHAREHOLDERS

Top 15 shareholders (by parent company)
Media241
Novus Holdings Share Trust1
Huguenot Finance1
36ONE Asset Management
Investec Asset Management
Allan Gray
Prudential Portfolio Managers
PSG Asset Management
Bateleur Capital
Sanlam Investment Management
Latiano 554 (Proprietary) Limited1
Electus Equity Specialists
Efficient Select
Deutsche Bank
BlueAlpha Investment Management
1
2

Percentage
of issued
shares

Cumulative
percentage
of issued
shares

212 500 000
24 313 272
19 545 857
15 477 790
14 816 930
14 044 276
11 442 997
5 306 958
4 392 544
4 022 633
3 473 325
3 040 039
2 275 982
1 567 548
683 662

61,18
7,00
5,63
4,46
4,27
4,04
3,29
1,53
1,26
1,16
1,00
0,88
0,66
0,45
0,20

61,18
68,18
73,81
78,27
82,54
86,58
89,87
91,40
92,66
93,82
94,82
95,70
96,36
96,81
97,01

2017

2016

Number of
shares2

Directors, employees and related parties.
Shareholding inclusive of treasury shares.

Stock exchange performance
Number of shares in issue
Number of shares traded
Value of shares traded
Market price (cents per share)
Closing price
High
Low
Price: earnings ratio (HEPS)
1

347 332 454
347 332 454
26 782 883
38 891 803
R292 178 386 R512 735 188
855
1 275
652
7,8

20151
347 332 454
314 360
R5 261 013

1 150
1 870
901
8,2

1 680
2 500
1 600
13,2

	Novus Holdings listed on 31 March 2015. Therefore, the 2015 statistics above reflect only one day of trading on the JSE.

INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2017 | NOVUS HOLDINGS

17

Public and non-public shareholdings

Public
Non-public
Total
1

Number of
shareholders

Percentage
of total
shareholders

Number
of shares
in issue1

Percentage
of issued
share capital

1 194
3
1 197

99,75
0,25
100,00

84 026 675
235 519 182
319 545 857

26,30
73,70
100,00

Number of
shareholders

Percentage
of total
shareholders

Number
of shares
in issue1

Percentage
of issued
share capital

950
22
–
37
1
12
68

79,37
1,84
–
3,09
0,08
1,00
5,68

6 625 667
232 158 086
–
1 622 397
1 567 548
474 975
11 263 472

2,07
72,66
–
0,51
0,49
0,14
3,53

107
1 197

8,94
100,00

65 833 712
319 545 857

20,60
100,00

Number of
shareholders

Percentage
of total
shareholders

Number
of shares
in issue1

Percentage
of issued
share capital

333
741
40
81
2
1 197

27,82
61,90
3,34
6,77
0,17
100,00

158 063
6 531 787
2 756 758
78 053 392
232 045 857
319 545 857

0,05
2,04
0,86
24,43
72,62
100,00

Number of shares in issue net of treasury shares.

Distribution of shareholders per category

Individuals
Private companies
Public companies
Nominees and trusts
Banks
Insurance companies
Pension funds and medical aid societies
Collective investment schemes and
mutual funds
Total
1

Number of shares in issue net of treasury shares.

Shareholder spread (by beneficial owner)

1 – 1 000
1 001 – 50 000
50 001 – 100 000
100 001 – 10 000 000
10 000 001 and above
Total
1

18

Number of shares in issue net of treasury shares.

GROUP AT A GLANCE

Directors’ interests in shares
As at 31 March 2017
Executive
KA Vroon
E Fivaz
E van Niekerk1
Total
Non-executive
LP Retief2
Total

Direct

Indirect

Total

1 910 329
764 131
–
2 674 460

–
–
–
–

1 910 329
764 131
–
2 674 460

–
2 674 460

–
–

–
2 674 460

	E van Niekerk resigned effective 31 August 2016. He had a direct interest in 1 041 997 shares through the Novus Holdings Share Option
scheme for the duration of his appointment in the 2017 financial year.
2
	LP Retief passed away on 25 January 2017. He had a direct interest in 3 473 325 shares through an option scheme for the duration of
his appointment in the 2017 financial year.
1

As at 31 March 2016
Executive
KA Vroon
E van Niekerk
STM van der Walt1
Total
Non-executive
LP Retief
Total

Direct

Indirect

Total

1 910 329
1 041 997
–
2 952 326

–
–
–
–

1 910 329
1 041 997
–
2 952 326

3 473 325
6 425 651

–
–

3 473 325
6 425 651

	STM van der Walt resigned effective 31 March 2016. He had a direct interest in 2 778 660 shares through the Novus Holdings Share
Option scheme for the duration of his appointment in the 2016 financial year.

1

There were no changes to directors’ interest in shares between the financial year end and the approval date
of this report.

INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2017 | NOVUS HOLDINGS

19

GEOGRAPHIC FOOTPRINT
With 11 specialised operations across South Africa, clients have access to
extensive resources and a comprehensive distribution network for large volume
production. Although each plant operates independently, they work together
as a cohesive group. This supports a client-centric approach.

COLDSET DIVISIONS

HEATSET DIVISIONS

LABELS DIVISION

TISSUE DIVISION

Johannesburg
Pietermaritzburg
Bloemfontein

Durban

Paarl
Port Elizabeth
Cape Town

In addition to these operations in key metropolitan areas, flexible logistics solutions enable the distribution
of products and services both locally and internationally.

20

GROUP AT A GLANCE

MARKET FOOTPRINT
The Group has extensive experience in handling large print projects with
intricate picking, packing and distribution requirements. Clients benefit from
expertise, streamlined processes, bespoke software solutions and strict
controls that ensure successful and timeous delivery.

Novus Holdings works closely with independent
distribution and logistics companies, including courier
and larger transport companies, to distribute products
throughout South Africa and across the continent.
For the rest of Africa, in particular, the Group has
developed a strategic supply chain and warehousing
solution to enable logistics process integration from

Guinea

original order through to printing, warehousing and
distribution. This assists the Group to overcome
challenges associated with limited infrastructure,
vast travelling distances and remote locations across
the continent.
Currently, 3,5% (2016: 3,6%) of the Group’s revenue
is derived from its client base in other African countries.

Nigeria
Ghana

Liberia

Cameroon
Uganda

OPERATIONS
MARKETS

Democratic
Republic of the
Congo

Kenya

Rwanda

Malawi
Angola
Zambia
Zimbabwe

Namibia

Mozambique

Botswana
Swaziland
Lesotho
South Africa
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STRATEGIC OVERVIEW

STRATEGIC
OVERVIEW
Novus Holdings’ intention is to explore
opportunities in new and value-adding
technology, and to invest in strategic
accretive acquisitions and skills that leverage
off the Group’s current core competence.
The outcome for the Group is to become a
diversified pan-African company, operating
primarily in the domestic market, and in highgrowth sub-Saharan African countries.
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Strategic
overview
The Group will focus on stabilising and growing
the newer divisions, and increasing its supply of
general printed work, tissue, labels and packaging
throughout sub-Saharan Africa.

NOVUS HOLDINGS’
STRATEGIC INTENT
Novus Holdings’ strategic intent is to market and
sell quality product solutions for print, labels and
tissue throughout South Africa and into Africa. The
Group’s intent is enabled by strategic partnerships and
investments in synergistic acquisitions. The Group’s
manufacturing skills set and competence ensures the
creation of a sustainable growth asset to create longterm value for stakeholders.

The objectives that follow drive the Group’s growth
strategy and are supported by detailed actions,
accountabilities and targets for the different divisions.

Operational objectives
−
−

−

NOVUS HOLDINGS’ GROWTH STRATEGY
Novus Holdings will deliver on its strategic intent by
pursuing an overall Group growth profile. This will be
achieved through:
−
−

−
−

24

Delivering on current diversification projects.
Identifying new and innovative product lines, as
well as acquisitive targets in sustainable growth
areas with good management, at the right price.
Maintaining profitability and return on assets in
traditional print.
Increasing the distribution of Novus Holdings’
products into African markets, especially in the
education and electoral service sectors where
the Group already offers expertise.

Prioritise production and operational efficiencies
and effective procurement practices.
Ensure an efficient and relevant geographic
footprint and capacity utilisation to match
market demand.
Take advantage of market consolidation
opportunities.

Diversification objectives
−

−

−

−

Increase Novus Holdings’ revenue and earnings
from a diversified portfolio of sustainable growth
assets, thereby increasing the Group’s appeal
to shareholders.
Explore new markets that can be serviced
by current as well as future diversification
production facilities.
Develop products that can increase sales
opportunities according to production
capabilities.
Offer exceptional service to the Group’s client base
to maximise market share.

STRATEGIC OVERVIEW

The Group is well-positioned
to provide clients with
seamless access to highvolume resources and
extensive print and
manufacturing capability.

African and Governmental objectives
−

−

−

Develop business opportunities aligned to the
Novus Holdings’ strategy and operations within
sub-Saharan African territories to maximise
commercial involvement.
Increase the frequency and volume of educational,
electoral and population census print projects,
through offering broader, non-print election and
population census services.
Develop and produce quality diversification
products to serve emerging markets.

Transformational objectives
−

−

Position Novus Holdings to achieve the best
B-BBEE scorecard possible to ensure that the
Group can maximise its commercial prospects
within South Africa.
Invest in and retain talented, value-adding
employees who will support a progressive and
representative workplace in terms of equity
and gender.
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NOVUS HOLDINGS’ OPERATING ENVIRONMENT AND MATERIAL MATTERS

Taking its growth objectives, trends in its operating environment, as well as its
key strategic partnerships into account, Novus Holdings has identified a list
of material matters that could significantly impact its ability to generate short,
medium and long-term value.
In addition to the above, the Group continuously assesses its significant risks through a risk management process
that is overseen by the board and risk committee.
Read more about the Group’s risk management process in the Risk report on page 90.
Detailed risks and their mitigating actions are available in the Risk report, from page 90.
The following discussion outlines each of the Group’s chosen material matters, relevant impacting trends, as well as
the Group’s response to mitigate negative outcomes.
Growth opportunities
Material matter (definition and context)
Print remains a significant portion of the business, however volumes are in decline. Novus Holdings’ diversification
businesses provide a stable base from which to further diversify its revenue streams. This includes growth into
sub-Saharan Africa markets.
Macro trends
The World Bank forecasts growth of 1,1% in the South African economy in 2017 – well below the average growth
rate of 2,9% for sub-Saharan Africa. The recent downgrade of South Africa’s sovereign credit rating places
additional pressure on economic growth – compounded still further by inflationary pressure, rising interest and
unemployment rates, as well as skills shortages in the country.
Global trends indicate that there is a decreased requirement for printed matter as electronic media and digital
printing gains market share from offset printing. There is also a growing demand for high-volume inkjet printing.
In South Africa too, newspaper and magazine volumes are in decline. The Group further witnessed a 6,7%
decline in volumes for retail inserts. However, the market for retail inserts remains buoyant, and the book and
education markets are showing a positive resurgence. Growth in tissue consumption is expected to be in excess of
inflationary growth, with growth in developing regions outstripping growth in developed regions. Novus Holdings’
diversification into labels provides opportunity to tap into the growing packaging market, which is expected to
expand at a compound annual growth rate of 5% in emerging markets.
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Growth opportunities (continued)
Response and ambitions for 2018
The Group is sensitive to local political, economic and other events that may influence the consumption of media.
In light of negative local growth trends, Novus Holdings continues to seek opportunities to increase the distribution
of its products into sub-Saharan Africa. Traditionally, the Group has focused on election ballot printing and printing of
educational books. This has been expanded to include broader election services through the Group’s election chain
of custody, as well as the distribution of packaging, label and tissue products across the border.
Servicing the current print client base remains a priority. The Group’s offering, which has been expanded through
digital printing (including continuous digital inkjet printing), ideally positions Novus Holdings to provide its client base
with the widest range of printing services.
Novus Holdings aims to make acquisitions in packaging growth segments as well as to capture additional market
share through footprint and capacity expansion while also leveraging significant client relationships.
Read more about the growth opportunities pursued by the Group in the Leadership report from page 48.

Capital availability for strategic acquisitions and diversification
Material matter (definition and context)
The investment in diversification initiatives aims to mitigate the decline in Novus Holdings’ core print business.
Funding for these investments is sourced through internal reserves and external financiers. However, funding
could be negatively impacted by upward interest rates that stifle economic growth as credit becomes more
expensive. This could lead to the suspension of projects.
Macro trends
There is a high level of uncertainty in the South African market due to a lack of economic growth and political
division and instability. This resulted in the re-rating of the local economy, which directly impacts local and foreign
investment, as well as private investment by large corporates.
Response and ambitions for 2018
Novus Holdings has a low-geared balance sheet, which provides the Group with the ability to gear itself for future
acquisitions. A good cash flow and cash conversion ratio demonstrates the Group’s ability to turn profits into cash
and service debt.
Novus Holdings is cognisant of investors’ requirements for operating within the dividend policy, which achieves a
dividend cover of approximately two times HEPS. The Group will further consider share buybacks if management
deems the share price to be at a level below fair value.
Read more in the Financial review, from page 54.
Read more about the dividend policy in the Leadership report, on page 53.
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Skills availability and retention (including succession planning)
Material matter (definition and context)
Novus Holdings’ operations are technologically driven, with modern systems and equipment. However,
manufacturing has become a less-preferred career route, which has led to a lack of critical skills. As the Group
diversifies its revenue streams, the shortage is compounded by the need to ensure efficient skills and a capable
workforce in identified growth areas.
Production inefficiencies that arise as a result of human error can lead to production downtime, bottlenecks and
quality issues and a rise in human resources costs. Novus Holdings also needs to ensure that the correct level of
expertise is involved at each stage of the production process in order to maintain service delivery levels to clients.
Skills retention could be negatively impacted by employees feeling disengaged from or dissatisfied with their
workplace environment.
Macro trends
South Africa is facing a skills shortage, particularly of engineers and skilled trade workers. Low pass rates in science
and mathematics have the knock-on effect of diminishing the available talent pool at tertiary institutions.
Response and ambitions for 2018
The Novus Academy plays a significant role in attracting and educating talent to ensure successful uptake
into the main operations of Novus Holdings. The Novus Academy provides training for both technical and
non-technical functions, which are aligned to international curricula. Since 2011, the Novus Academy has
successfully indentured 164 apprentices, 69 of who have completed their studies with an average score of 92%.
The Novus Academy also provides a Print and Packaging Bridging Programme for learners with insufficient scores
to study at tertiary institutions. These learners can be integrated into the apprenticeship programme or absorbed
into other areas of the Group’s operations.
A dedicated, internal recruitment database ensures a constant pool of skills when positions become available.
The Group is focused on succession planning on all levels. In 2017, the Group implemented an employee-specific
personal development plan approach to assist with performance management, as well as to identify skills
gaps in relation to the operational requirements of the business. Novus Holdings also conducted an employee
engagement survey across the business to identify ways in which levels of employee commitment can be
improved, thereby enhancing organisational effectiveness.
As the Group pursues acquisitions in growth sectors, the transfer of knowledge and skills will be prioritised
in order to unlock operational synergies. This will further benefit the multi-skilling and upskilling of the
Novus Holdings’ workforce at plant level.
Read more in the Operations report from page 66.
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Digital media migration and new technology
Material matter (definition and context)
The performance of Novus Holdings’ core print business is directly affected by volume reductions in print
publications, which includes retail print contracts. The declining readership for print media further results in
lost revenue. This puts pressure on magazine and newspaper publishers’ business models, which could result in
the closure of publications.
Macro trends
Up-to-date media consumption of time-sensitive material on electronic platforms is increasingly preferred to
paper-based consumption. Digital and television advertising has overtaken traditional paper-based advertising:
print currently holds 20,4% of the local market share of advertising spend, with this share diminishing by 2,3%
year-on-year. Print-based advertising drives up pagination, with fewer advertisements leading to lower print
publication volumes.
Publishers are opting for digital print methods to enable the printing of “on demand” books and small batches of
high-quality material within short turnaround times. This includes printing a “book of one”. This trend has seen the
resurgence of print publications in the education and book markets.
Response and ambitions for 2018
Novus Holdings will manage the decline in publication printing by matching equipment and productive capacity
to market demand, focusing on efficiencies, and maximising market-share opportunities. The Group will pursue an
overall growth profile through strategic partnerships in growth sectors that support its diversification businesses,
particularly in labels and packaging.
Novus Print Solutions is fully operational following a disruptive year. The Group is now positioned to service
the growing demand for digital print technology, and will focus on the financial turnaround of this business in the
coming year.
Read more in the Leadership report from page 48.
Key accounts/contracts with major clients
Material matter (definition and context)
Novus Holdings has major contracts with significant clients that constitute a large portion of its revenue. These
include, among others, the printing agreement with Media24, as well as the DBE workbook tender. Consequently,
a concentration risk exists as a result of over-dependence on a few clients.
Macro trends
Clients are continuously looking to draw more value from their print spend, or alternatively, to decrease their print
spend. This impacts client satisfaction, which could result in the changing of suppliers.
The labels market is price sensitive and fiercely competitive. It is also largely fragmented, thereby providing
opportunities for growth through acquisitions and consolidation. The tissue market is dominated by major players
who are investing in additional capacity and equipment upgrades. This potentially puts pressure on selling prices
and margins.
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Key accounts/contracts with major clients (continued)
Response and ambitions for 2018
Novus Holdings’ key strength is its ability to deliver on long-run print publication work with limited competitors in
the volume market. This strength assisted the Group to successfully secure the DBE tender.
The success of Novus Holdings as a business-to-business company is based on the Group’s ability to maintain
strong client relationships, supported by exceptional client service, to ensure the Group remains a trusted
business partner. Proactive engagement with major clients on their input costs ensures that cost-efficient solutions
can be implemented timeously.
One of Novus Holdings’ significant contracts is with Media24, which came under scrutiny after the passing of
Lambert Retief. Following several SENS announcements in this regard, it was confirmed in April 2017 that Media24
has not terminated, and has subsequently waived, without derogating from any of its other termination rights,
any right that it may have had to terminate the existing printing agreements as a consequence of Lambert Retief
ceasing to be a party to the Restated Management Agreement. Therefore, these remain in place on the terms as
disclosed in Novus Holdings’ prelisting statement dated 4 March 2015. The Media24 printing agreements may be
terminated by Media24 on six months’ written notice upon termination of the Restated Management Agreement,
which agreement will terminate upon Media24’s divestiture of its shareholding to less than 50%. If Media24
terminates its printing agreement with Novus Holdings, the Group will strive to conclude a new agreement on
similar terms.
The packaging gravure press of the labels business enabled the Group to tender successfully for significant
contracts in the carbonated soft drinks and alcoholic beverages industries. With the commissioning of a second
tissue mill and quality enhancing equipment for the production of jumbo reel tissue wadding, Novus Holdings is
positioned as a growing supplier of these products.
The Group is actively looking for alternative markets in sub-Saharan Africa to fill capacity and maintain economies
of scale, thereby reducing its reliance on a few key accounts in South Africa.
Read more in the Leadership report from page 48.
Find out more about how Novus Holdings creates value for its stakeholders from page 40 of this report.
Capacity use and efficiency
Material matter (definition and context)
Management must actively manage production efficiencies to extract utmost value from machine time and labour
hours. Current capacity can cater for peaks in production. This must be scaled back outside of busy periods to
avoid incurring unnecessary costs. This requires efficient management of a fixed cost base. A permanent decline in
print volumes could also lead to idle time. An inability to manage fixed costs during idle periods would then result
in a less-than-ideal return on shareholder funds.
Macro trends
The print market has witnessed consolidation through closures and mergers due to falling volumes. This has resulted
in excess capacity in the market, which creates pricing pressure. This trend is anticipated to continue in the future.
Response and ambitions for 2018
Enterprise resource planning (ERP) systems have been implemented in the Cape Town plants to assist with
improved efficiency drives. These systems will be rolled out in the Gauteng and KwaZulu-Natal plants in the
upcoming year. To reduce costs in tandem with volume pressures, the Group optimised its operations
across the Group by reducing unutilised production capacity and related equipment.
The Group continues to implement incentive-based remuneration by setting efficiency targets in plants.
Matching production capacity to market demand remains a priority.
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Security of supply of raw material (particularly paper)
Material matter (definition and context)
Novus Holdings imports the vast majority of its print paper requirements, including that which is required for
labels. Specific procedures must therefore be put in place to ensure a constant, uninterrupted supply. Where
local suppliers are involved, it is equally important to ensure longevity of supply. The Group must ensure an
uninterrupted supply of waste paper to Correll Tissue.
A failure of key infrastructure, including power supply outages or water shortages, could disrupt significant parts
of the business and result in lost revenue.
Read more about how Novus Holdings monitors and manages its water consumption in the Operations
report, from page 66.
Macro trends
Global cost pressures continue to affect paper mills, and rising pulp prices affect input costs for paper, labels and
tissue products.
International paper suppliers announced further capacity reductions during the year in light of declining print
volumes. However, demand for paper is increasingly shifting from mature to emerging markets, with demand
matching supply. This could lead to short-term capacity constraints.
Declining print volumes impact the availability of waste paper. The Group must therefore secure raw material
for its tissue operations from alternative suppliers, at the best price.
Novus Holdings relies predominantly on electricity for its energy requirements. However, rising electricity costs
and the threat of fluctuations in supply pose a risk to the Group’s operations. Water consumption is at its highest
at the Correll Tissue plant. The current drought being experienced across parts of South Africa, predominantly
the Western Cape, and the subsequent water restrictions could impact on tissue production.
Response and ambitions for 2018
Novus Holdings has long-standing supplier agreements. Through its annual paper tender process, the Group
secures tonnages at the start of the financial year. This reduces the Group’s dependency on ad hoc ordering and
significantly reduces the risk of running out of stock. The Group screens suppliers to ensure compliance with
quality (ISO) and sustainability practices.
To ensure a consistent supply of the required quality and volume of waste to the Group’s tissue operation,
Novus Holdings contracted a waste collecting company to collect and sort waste from its various printing plants.
The Group has disaster recovery and business continuity plans in place. These are reviewed annually.
To mitigate risks associated with an inconsistent electricity supply, the Group has equipped all printing facilities
with generator capacity, which supplies electricity to the site for the duration of an outage. The Group has also
implemented a range of saving initiatives to measure and decrease consumption of water across its production
processes.
Read more about how Novus Holdings manages its environmental resources in the Operations report, from
page 66, and in the Group’s business model, from page 33.
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Exchange rate and cost management
Material matter (definition and context)
Paper accounts for 50% of Novus Holdings’ expenses. Paper is predominantly imported and denominated in
foreign currency. Exchange rate volatility must therefore be managed carefully to reduce the financial impact
of currency shifts. This financial impact includes increased input costs of imported raw materials, which cannot
easily be passed on to consumers (particularly in a scenario of extreme currency devaluation). This leads to
margin squeeze.
Macro trends
Over the past financial year, South Africa experienced sharp currency fluctuations that led to inflationary
pressures. This substantially impacts input costs.
Response and ambitions for 2018
The volatile exchange rate negatively impacted the print publication business in 2017. Effective forward exchange
contracts and policies are applied throughout the year to provide the Group and its clients with a level of
protection from major foreign currency fluctuations. It is expected that profitability of the Group’s diversification
businesses should mitigate potential variances.
Read more in the Financial review from page 54.
Employee health and safety
Material matter (definition and context)
Novus Holdings’ employees operate in a manufacturing environment that can be potentially dangerous due to
the machinery and production inputs used. Accidents can result in lost production time. Contravention of health
and safety laws can result in closures or fines. Serious injury or death caused by non-compliance with relevant
legislation may lead to criminal liability and penalties.
Macro trends
While there have been no significant changes in health and safety legislation during the year, this is monitored
continuously to ensure ongoing compliance.
Response and ambitions for 2018
The Group measures its year-on-year health and safety performance against internal targets, which is monitored
at the highest level by the risk committee. External independent audits are also performed annually. Employee
health and safety training programmes are in place.
Novus Holdings has never been found guilty of contravening legislation and intends to retain this status.
Read more about how Novus Holdings manages risks associated with employee health and safety legislation
in the Risk report, from page 90.
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Labour legislation
Material matter (definition and context)
Novus Holdings recognises the importance of abiding by relevant labour legislation, particularly as it relates to
the protection of vulnerable employees. Failure to abide by relevant legislation could erode the Group’s employeremployee relationships and increase the likelihood of unionised strike action. Interruption in any area of the
business could lead to loss of income, as well possible physical damage to assets.
Macro trends
Specific risks associated with recent legislation include equal pay for work of equal value, temporary employment
services, as well as the proposed legislation for minimum wage in South Africa.
Response and ambitions for 2018
The Group implemented an employment equity plan that is monitored to ensure adherence. Remuneration
is continuously analysed to ensure that there is no discrimination on prohibited grounds. Novus Holdings also
ensures regular communication with labour unions.
Novus Holdings has adopted a minimum wage policy for application across the Group.
Read more in the Remuneration report on page 98.
Read more about how Novus Holdings manages risks associated with labour legislation in the Risk report,
from page 90.
Governance/investor confidence
Material matter (definition and context)
To encourage and attract long-term investment, Novus Holdings must demonstrate its position as a credible,
ethical and transparent company. Non-compliance with good corporate governance best practice may result in
fines, penalties or imprisonment of directors and officers, or closure of the business. Non-compliance will also
damage the Group’s reputation among stakeholders, thereby threatening long-term sustainability.
Macro trends
There is global pressure from investors for greater institutional transparency and accountability. In South Africa,
there is an increased focus on performance and board and executive remuneration, and local regulation drives
good corporate governance practice. For example, King IV™, which combines international and local governance
developments, is enforced by the JSE Listings Requirements.
Response and ambitions for 2018
Novus Holdings has implemented effective internal control processes and regularly reviews its corporate
governance policies and procedures to ensure that these remain relevant to the Group and are adhered to
continuously. Novus Holdings also engages with legal and expert advisors to identify and address potential
regulatory risks and ensure that it complies with all relevant legislation.
During the year, the Group contracted a third party to conduct an independent evaluation of the Novus Holdings’
board’s performance, as is recommended by good corporate governance practice. This evaluation revealed that
the board is well-respected, is functioning well and is effectively discharging its oversight responsibilities. Novus
Holdings aims to align the interest of management with that of the shareholders through its remuneration policy.
Read more in the Corporate Governance report from page 78, and the Remuneration report from
page 98.
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B-BBEE and transformation
Material matter (definition and context)
Novus Holdings is a proudly South African company and is committed to complying with the relevant B-BBEE
legislation. Failure to comply will undermine transformation efforts within the Group, and could result in a loss
of clients due to minimum B-BBEE level demands not being met. This could further prevent the Group from
tendering for significant Governmental printing contracts.
Macro trends
New B-BBEE thresholds took effect in May 2015 requiring all listed entities to report compliance against an
individual scorecard. Previously, the Media24 B-BBEE scorecard (Level 4) applied to the Group and its subsidiaries.
This requires new focus from the Group on all elements of the scorecard in order to retain Level 4.
Response and ambitions for 2018
Novus Holdings is targeting a Level 4 contributor rating to ensure a B-BBEE Procurement Recognition Level of
100% for its clients. The Group’s level status was not available at the time of going to print. Once finalised, the
Group’s contributor status will be published via SENS and on Novus Holdings’ website.
The Group developed a transformation and equity strategy in 2016 and has subsequently appointed a head of
transformation and equity to monitor performance against the B-BBEE scorecard.
Looking ahead, Novus Holdings is committed to retaining the best B-BBEE scorecard achievable to ensure that the
Group can maximise its commercial prospects in South Africa in a positive and sustainable way.
Read more in the Leadership report, from page 48, and the Social and Ethics Committee report, from
page 87.
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NOVUS HOLDINGS’
BUSINESS MODEL
Novus Holdings’ business model sets out
the key stakeholder relationships, capital
inputs and business activities required
by the Group to implement its growth
strategy and deliver value over the short,
medium and long term.

Novus Holdings creates value by converting raw
materials and applying print and manufacturing
techniques to an increasingly diversified range of
paper-based utility products. These products primarily
facilitate knowledge and information sharing between
stakeholder groups in tangible formats.

The Group’s diversification into tissue and flexible
packaging offers new and competitive products to
market segments where there is a growing demand.
Geographic expansion offers clients in new markets
across sub-Saharan Africa a choice of products and
services not available in their territories. Novus
Holdings’ application of technology, specialist skills and
efficient processes enables the Group to handle large
volumes at high quality levels within short turnaround
times. These competencies ensure the delivery of
products that generate a sustainable return for
Novus Holdings’ providers of financial capital.
While providers of financial capital are the Group’s
primary stakeholder group, strategic partnerships with
other relevant stakeholder groups materially influence
Novus Holdings’ ability to create long-term, sustainable
value. These stakeholder groups provide input into the
Group’s business model, aligned with the six capitals
of value creation.

Stakeholder group

Description

Capital of value creation

Communities

People living in the areas in which the Group
operates, providing a potential base from which
human resources can be developed and employed.
Providers of skills and expertise that enable the
Group’s business activities.

− Social and relationship capital
− Human capital

Employees
Governments
(local and subSaharan African)
Industry bodies
Investors and
analysts

Important enabler of Governmental projects
related to books and democracy initiatives.
Enforce national law and legislation, which must
be carefully adhered to by the Group.
Influence change and decision-making in a
competitive and challenging industry environment.

Publishers and
media houses

Primary providers of financial capital, facilitating
informed decision-making among existing and
potential shareholders.
Important conveyors of targeted content for
various audiences.

Retail and
commercial clients
Suppliers
(local and
international)

Critical to creating demand which impacts financial
performance and the success of the Group.
Providers of paper and print-related raw material
and services that enable the Group to conduct its
business activities.

−
−
−
−

Human capital
Intellectual capital
Financial capital
Social and relationship capital

− Social and relationship capital
− Intellectual capital
− Financial capital

−
−
−
−

Social and relationship capital
Financial capital
Intellectual capital
Financial capital

−
−
−
−

Social and relationship capital
Financial capital
Manufactured capital
Natural capital

Read more about how Novus Holdings creates value for its stakeholders from page 40.
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Stakeholder relations
Stakeholder engagement and feedback is decentralised
and managed on a business and divisional basis, with
board support, where appropriate. Executives are

closely involved in all key relationships. Extensive media
monitoring is conducted to manage any reputational
risk to the Group.

THE SIX CAPITALS
In addition to the Group’s stakeholder relationships
(discussed on the previous page), the six capitals
provide the necessary inputs into Novus Holdings’
business model. Through its operations (which include
its production activities, comprehensive offering and

custom finishes), Novus Holdings increases, decreases
and transforms the six capitals. The six capitals are
considered essential in creating and maintaining
sustainable business outcomes, as well as optimising
value creation for stakeholders.

FINANCIAL CAPITAL
The pool of funds available to invest and reinvest in the Group, the revenue generated, the interest income
and a combination of long and short-term loans from capital providers. Financial capital enables the Group
to invest in diversified businesses and produce alternative revenue streams, which will facilitate long-term
financial sustainability.

INTELLECTUAL CAPITAL
The intangibles, such as state-of-the-art technology and industry expertise, which support Novus Holdings’ product
and service offering. Intellectual capital enables Novus Holdings to produce the highest-quality products for its
clients, on time and as specified. These competencies enable the Group’s competitive advantage.

MANUFACTURED CAPITAL
Novus Holdings’ competitive advantage relies on its ability to produce high-volume, high-quality and complex
orders with short turnaround times. A range of specialised plants, warehouses and general infrastructure
throughout South Africa enable Novus Holdings to deliver on stakeholder expectations. A national footprint,
with effective supporting logistics, enables the Group to procure, import, manufacture and deliver paper-based
products, both locally and internationally.
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HUMAN CAPITAL
The implementation of the Group’s growth strategy requires a stable, experienced and entrepreneurial
management team, as well as effective and appropriate allocation of available human resources. The skills and
experience vested in employees further enable the Group to implement its strategy, deliver products and in so
doing create value for stakeholders.

SOCIAL AND RELATIONSHIP CAPITAL
Novus Holdings’ relationships with its various stakeholders are critical to its short and long-term sustainability.
These relationships include a number of key contracts and retail accounts, as well as partnerships with local
operators, that facilitate the distribution of the Group’s products and services. Social and relationship capital
further extends to the relationships that exist between the Group and its employees, as well as the contributions
Novus Holdings makes to the long-term sustainability of the communities in which it operates.

NATURAL CAPITAL
Novus Holdings relies on a secure supply of raw materials for the production of its goods. This includes paper,
pulp, ink, water and energy. The Group also recognises that its operations produce by-products and waste that
can impact the environment. These include paper waste products, plates and copper used in printing, as well
as toluene from ink. These inputs and outputs must be carefully managed to ensure the future availability of
critical input materials, as well as the sustainability of the broader environment impacted by Novus Holdings’
print production processes.
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NOVUS HOLDINGS’ BUSINESS MODEL

THE SIX CAPITALS

FINANCIAL

Activities that transform the Group’s six capital inputs
Its 10 specialised printing plants and one tissue plant in key metropolitan areas
across the country, together with leading technology and a widespread delivery
footprint support Novus Holdings’ comprehensive commercial operations
and enable the Group to meet client demands in South Africa and the rest of
sub-Saharan Africa. Digital integration of the pre-press departments provides
seamless transfer between plants, which reduces distribution costs, shortens
turnaround times and minimises the Group’s carbon footprint.
Print: gravure, coldset, heatset, sheet-fed and digital
Labels: self-adhesive, wrap-around and wet-glue labels
Tissue: tissue paper manufacturing
Africa: all of the above products and election-related and education projects

INTELLECTUAL

Read more about the Group’s production activities in the Operations
report from page 66.

Production
activities

MANUFACTURED

Comprehensive
offering and
custom finishing

HUMAN
Activities that transform the Group’s six capital inputs
Clients benefit from a comprehensive offering and range of custom finishing
services nationally.

SOCIAL AND RELATIONSHIP

NATURAL

SUSTAINABLE
SOURCING

Read more about the specific application
of the six capitals from page 34.
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Comprehensive bindery and distribution: Through its extensive binderies in
South Africa, the Group provides nationwide capacity for high-speed square
back binding and saddle stitching
Inserting and collating: Versatile mailing and inserting equipment places
brochures and supplements in magazines. Magazines or brochures can also
be bagged in clear or printed plastic
Security assured: Secure packaging of confidential material such as
examination papers and ballots
Print: Post-press ability to apply specialised binding, cutting and finishes,
including hand insertion
Labels: Rewinder and camera inspection units automatically verifies the
quality as part of the quality assurance process
Tissue: Two tissue mills provides the ability to produce various grades and
grammages of jumbo tissue rolls to tissue converters

Print … centralised procurement of high-value raw materials through
a network of sustainable and credible local and international suppliers.
Labels … highest quality self-adhesive labels and flexible materials
sourced from Europe and Asia to fulfil client requirements.
Tissue … print division waste combined with additional requirement
sourced from waste merchants and virgin pulp suppliers.

LEADING TECHNOLOGY
Raw materials undergo production
at world-class facilities with
specialised equipment and skills to
meet client demand in South Africa
and the rest of sub-Saharan Africa.
Proactive maintenance sustains
technological value.
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Outputs

Products, services, by-products or waste
−

 range of paper-based and flexible packaging and utility
A
products (Read more about our products from page 11).

−

 range of by-products and waste products that are
A
repurposed through a circular economy of value creation
(Read more from page 38).

Outcomes

The consequences that the Group’s business activities and outputs have on the six capitals
Financial capital: Increased financial capital, as evidenced by
a 3,3% increase in turnover. This increase is due to the Group’s
ability to diversify its product offering and produce high volumes
on tight deadlines using sophisticated technology. Payments
toward shareholder dividends, salaries, tax and suppliers
decrease cash (see the value-added statement on page 60),
but increase social and relationship capital by maintaining
relationships critical to the Group’s success. Additional impacts
on financial capital include investments in diversification (which
enable the Group’s growth strategy), as well as repairs and
maintenance on manufactured capital.
Intellectual capital: Increased intellectual capital through the
Novus Academy, through the nature of operations and products
and through new skills and expertise brought into the Group as
a result of diversification initiatives. This protects the Group’s
reputation as a 17-year-old business and a leader in the printing
and manufacturing industry.
Manufactured capital: Manufactured capital is both increased
through the expansion of operations (acquisition of new plants,
new equipment and entry into new markets), as well as decreased
through the consolidation of plants and capacity reduction to
strip costs out of the core business. These activities can reduce
financial capital. Financial capital is also reduced through
the maintenance of manufactured capital. However, proactive

DELIVERY FOOTPRINT
Combined model of in/outsourced delivery to single or
multiple client destinations in South Africa and the rest
of sub-Saharan Africa.

maintenance plans ensure assets are protected and maintained.
Optimisation and efficiency initiatives reduce waste and result
in cost savings.
Human capital: Increased human capital through business
leadership, succession planning, B-BBEE initiatives and employee
training. While continued investment in employee training
initiatives reduces financial capital, the outcome is a skilled
workforce and an improved understanding of the industry,
which enhances organisational effectiveness.
Social and relationship capital: Increased social and relationship
capital through an expanding network of clients, suppliers,
business partners and service providers, as well as through
facilitating the availability of information through print and
media products. Relationships are maintained through frequent
engagement, as well as through upholding excellent standards
of client service.
Natural capital: Decreased availability of natural capital through
the use of raw materials (including paper and ink) and resources
(including water and energy). To mitigate this, the Group
purchases environmentally sustainable paper stock options
and implements a range of sustainable production and
manufacturing initiatives.
Read more about how the Group creates value for its
stakeholders from page 40.

Novus Holdings’ vision is to become the leading commercial
printing and manufacturing operation in Africa, while maintaining
the highest ethical standards in its practices and creating longterm value for stakeholders.
The Group will achieve this by:
–
–
–
–

Read more about how Novus Holdings delivers value to clients and
stakeholders on page 40.

–
–

Building lasting relationships with business partners.
Exceeding the needs of clients in terms of quality and service.
Offering cost-effective product solutions that match market
demands.
Providing a safe and productive working environment which
inspires the workforce to thrive and grow.
Supporting communities and driving sustainable socio-economic
development.
Preserving natural resources and ensuring environmentally
responsible practices.
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Our responsible paper sourcing
practices comply with the globally
recognised FSC® (Forest Stewardship
Council®) CoC (Chain of Custody)*
certification and PEFCTM (programme
for Endorsement of Forest
Certification)** for its core house
paper stocks, which come from wellmanaged forests that adhere to strict
environment standards.

Novus Holdings (then Paarl Media Group) was the first
African printing organisation to receive Forest Stewardship
Council® (FSC®) – FSC-C022948 Chain of Custody (CoC)
certification. Novus Holdings also holds PEFCTM (Programme
for Endorsement of Forest CertificationTM) certification
at Paarl Media Cape, Paarl Media KZN and as well as
Novus Print Solutions.

*	Not available at Paarl Labels and Correll Tissue.
**	Only available at Paarl Media Cape, Paarl Media KZN
and Novus Print Solutions.

Managing natural capital to create
sustainable value

Novus Holdings acknowledges the
importance of preserving natural
resources. The Group runs
high-quality processes with
minimal environmental impact.

Novus Holdings acknowledges the negative
perceptions around the print and paper industry and
its impact on the environment. The Group further
recognises the impact of print production processes
on natural resources. To address these concerns, as
well as to manage its use of natural capital, Novus
Holdings has invested more than R100 million in
environmentally responsible practices since 2005.
This investment ensures that its operations have
the smallest possible environmental impact, while
creating sustainable value for the business as well
as for the Group’s various strategic partners.
Read more about Novus Holdings’
environmental stewardship from page 72.
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FSC® and PEFCTM are independent
verifications, which ensures that the
products printed can be traced back to
their point of origin from responsible,
well-managed forestry, controlled and
recycled resources. Clients can choose
from a range of international and local
environmentally responsible paper stock.

Toluene is a thinning agent used in gravure
inks to ensure low viscosity. Up to 95% of
the toluene is recovered and sold back
to ink manufacturers for re-use.

Centralised Regenerative Thermal Oxidisers
(RTOs) are installed on all web presses to
eliminate emissions, in accordance with
stringent international standards. The result
is that air released during production is
free of odour, visual smoke and polluting
substances. Energy is recovered from the
oxidation process to be re-used in the drying
section, significantly reducing gas energy
consumption.

STRATEGIC OVERVIEW

Waste products from tissue production are
pulped and used again in production.

Paarl Media Cape and KZN use
the energy efficient HÖCKER
system as a paper waste and dust
solution. Compacting production
by-product to a fraction of
their original volume reduces
the use of manufactured
and financial capital
in the form of storage
and disposal costs.

Water is treated and
reused to reduce
consumption.

Waste paper and paper
by-products from print
operations can be used
in tissue production.

Invasive vegetation provides
sustainable biomass for a biomass
boiler. This reduces the
Tissue segments reliance
on electricity.
The coldset printing process allows
ink to dry naturally through absorption.
The process is simpler, more energy efficient
and environmentally friendly with no
polluting emissions, while paper and plates
are all recycled.

Copper strips and plates are sold to waste
metal collectors for repurposing and
redistribution. Base cylinders are coated with
a separating solution to prevent the skin from
sticking to the base copper. After printing,
the skin is stripped off and shredded, and
then sold to a waste metal collector. Copper
recovered from the excess that builds up
in the copper sulphate solution used in the
plating process, is also recycled.

Products distributed to clients contribute to
the distribution of intellectual and manufactured
capital. In return, the Group receives revenue
and enhances its social and relationship capital.

Invasive vegetation provides sustainable
biomass for a biomass boiler that
generates sufficient steam to enable the
recovery of solvent (toluene).
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NOVUS HOLDINGS’ BUSINESS MODEL: CREATING VALUE FOR STAKEHOLDERS

Through its business activities, Novus Holdings is committed to creating mutually
beneficial partnerships with stakeholders that build trust and confidence in the Group.

Communities
Measurable value creation
Corporate social investment spend (R’m)

Novus Holdings is committed to making a sustainable
difference in the communities in which it operates.
The Group believes that education is the key to
upliftment, and therefore supports initiatives that
provide learners with the right tools to empower
themselves – and eventually teach others.
Empowering beneficiaries to be independent is
crucial to their ongoing success and longevity.
The Future Foundations initiative was set up by
Novus Holdings as the umbrella under which the
company’s corporate social investment (CSI) projects
are covered. It is committed to empowering lives and
transforming communities.

2017

2016

3,2

0,6

Future Foundations support takes a range of forms:
−
−
−
−
−
−
−
−
−

mentorship
guidance on business management
basic start-up packs and equipment
management courses for non-governmental
organisation’s leaders
renovations assistance at facilities
financial aid
scholarship grants
apprenticeship programmes
corporate bursaries
Read more about Future Foundations and its
various projects at www.futurefoundations.co.za
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CASE STUDY
GARDENING FOR GOOD

In March 2017, Novus Holdings’ Future Foundations
initiative extended its support to the iGardi Project,
which teaches underprivileged communities how to
grow and maintain their own food gardens. Fruit and
vegetables are planted in unique food garden boxes
with built-in reservoirs, resulting in low-maintenance
and more drought-resistant gardens that use up to
70% less water.
The iGardi Project further supports education by
providing schoolchildren in particular with access to
a more balanced and nutritious diet that facilitates
better learning at schools. This is in line with the
philosophy of the Future Foundations initiative,
which promotes education as a key mechanism
for upliftment.
In addition, communities are taught how to rotate
crops to get the most out of the soil and how to grow
seedlings until they are ready to be planted into the
boxes. The handover to communities takes place
over the course of a year to ensure that they can
successfully manage and maintain the food boxes
once the project is complete. This further supports
the Future Foundations’ approach of empowering
communities to become self-sufficient by ‘‘giving a
hand up, not a hand out’’.

The Future Foundations initiative donated R360 000
to the iGardi Project which is assisting the following
schools across the Western Cape, South Africa, all of
which are located within the communities in which
Novus Holdings operates:
−

−

−

Marconi Beam Primary School in Joe Slovo
caters to 1 600 students. However, the school’s
current feeding scheme is only able to provide
for 450 pupils each day. With 12 new food boxes,
nearly 200 more children will receive food. The
plants will be watered from a newly installed
rainwater tank, donated by Novus Holdings.
The tank reduces the school’s reliance on
municipal water.
The DuNoon Recreational Hub is part of a
three-year programme that aims to reach
a total of 2 227 pupils. Zusakhe Early Childhood
Development Centre is the primary beneficiary in
phase one, with 162 pupils aged two to six years
old benefiting from food boxes.
William Lloyd Primary School in Paarl caters to
946 students from predominantly disadvantaged
backgrounds. Through the iGardi Project, 12 food
boxes will be installed to feed more than
200 children at the school.

INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2017 | NOVUS HOLDINGS

43

Employees
Measurable value creation

2017

Number of direct employees (Print and “Other”/all full-time)
Black employees (%)
Female employees (%)
Employee benefits and remuneration paid (R’m)
Skills development spend (R’m)*
Average number of days without a lost-time injury across Group facilities

2016

2 018

2 003

80,77

77,83

22,25

20,72

644,2

630,5

18,1

18,0

37

61

*	Inclusive of all training and Skills Development Fund costs, stipends, Novus Academy overheads, Novus Academy salaries and venues

Novus Holdings’ employees are the Group’s most
valuable asset as they contribute towards to the
successful implementation of the Group’s growth
strategy and safeguard its competitive advantage.
Employees who feel valued strive for excellence in
their profession. Novus Holdings creates value for its
employees through job creation, remuneration and
the improvement of skills.
Novus Holdings identified several material matters that
are directly linked to its employees and are critical in
the successful implementation of its growth strategy.
These include skills availability and retention (including
succession planning), employee health and safety,
labour legislation, and B-BBEE and transformation.
Read more in the material matters section from
page 26.
Through the Novus Academy, employees can access a
range of technical, life skills, management, leadership,
information technology (IT) and systems courses and
programmes. The learning and development of each

employee is managed and tracked through a learning
management system that enables quick reporting
and follow-ups on personal development and career
planning. Personal development plays a key role in
increasing job satisfaction and performance.
The Group launched a Business Update Roadshow in
September 2016. These roadshows provide a platform
to discuss financial and technical performance as well
as the strategic direction of the Group. Beyond this,
the roadshows encourage a culture of engagement
and foster a sense of cohesiveness across
geographically divided entities.
Novus Holdings also conducted an employee
engagement survey across the business to identify
ways in which levels of employee commitment can
be improved.
Read more about how Novus Holdings creates
value for its employees in the Operations report
from page 70.

Government

Company’s tax paid (R’m)
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2017

2016

188,5

178,4
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As a proudly South African organisation, Novus
Holdings is committed to skills development and job
creation. The Group also facilitates learning through
the production and delivery of educational material.
This supports the Government’s intent to enhance
the quality of and access to education in South Africa,
which the Group recognises as being of critical benefit
to society.
Novus Holdings’ most significant interaction with
the South African Government is through the DBE.
The Group has serviced several tenders for the printing
of educational workbooks for the DBE over the past
few years. Novus Holdings was once again awarded this
tender in 2017.
The Group further supports the South African
Government by playing a constructive role in the
development of industry policy and regulation, which
is strictly adhered to by the Group. Taxes paid by Novus
Holdings provide income to the Governments of the

countries where it operates, further enabling execution
on social agendas. Total tax paid increased by 5,7% to
R188,5 million in 2017.
The significant success of the DBE tender has positively
influenced engagement with Governments in the rest
of Africa.
Interaction with Governments in Africa also focused
on democracy initiatives, which included elections and
census-related printing products. Electoral commissions
must attain credible acceptance of electoral results by
the electorate and other key stakeholders. This requires
an accepted and credible elections management
system that covers all key electoral areas. Novus
Holdings’ election chain of custody offers an integrated
yet modular solution that covers all election project
components. This solution is endorsed by Deloitte
and guarantees the integrity of ballots for a fair election.
This supports Governments to achieve credible execution
of a critical democratic process.

Industry bodies
Novus Holdings operates in a competitive and
challenging environment. As a market leader, the
Group has a responsibility to help influence positive
change and decision-making by building on existing
relationships with relevant industry bodies.

This includes demonstrating responsible and
sustainable business practices and actively collaborating
with industry bodies to improve the sustainability of the
print industry.

Novus Holdings participates in the following industry bodies:
–

–

–

–

The Group is a registered member of the Printing Industries Federation of South Africa (PIFSA), which is
recognised as the official mouthpiece of the printing and packaging industry in the country. The Group plays
an active role in various printing initiatives undertaken by PIFSA.
Conrad Rademeyer, managing director of Paarl Coldset and Correll Tissue, was appointed president of the
Manroland Users Group (MRUG) in May 2016. MRUG was established in 2003 and shares information on
topics such as maintenance, print quality and training with members of the printing industry worldwide.
The Novus Academy is acknowledged by the Quality Council for Trades and Occupations and endorsed
by both the Fibre Processing and Manufacturing Sector Education and Training Authority (FP&M SETA)
as well as the City and Guilds of London Institute. As a result of the above, employees are provided with
a world-class service offering that contributes to critical upskilling and skills development in an industry
facing skills shortages.
The Group collaborates with the Two Sides Initiative – a not-for-profit organisation focused on dispelling
environmental misconceptions about the print and paper industry.

INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2017 | NOVUS HOLDINGS

45

Investors and analysts
Measurable value creation

2017

2016

Headline earnings per share (cents)
Dividends paid per share (cents)

110,8
56

139,9
70

Novus Holdings has a duty to help investors make
informed decisions about the Group as an investment
opportunity. The Group is also committed to creating
value for shareholders by generating financial returns
on investments and capital growth.
Novus Holdings ensures regular engagement and
consistent communication with investors, analysts
and potential shareholders. This includes on-site visits
with analysts to facilitate a better understanding of
the size and scale of the Group’s operations. Investor
sentiment studies help Novus Holdings to identify the
needs of the investor community, thereby enabling

the Group to tailor presentations and communications
going forward. Some of the main interests in this area
include new business divisions and regions, access to
management and capital allocation. Further investor
presentations will be held with biannual results
announcements.
The Group is cognisant of the need to demonstrate
ethical and effective leadership to safeguard investor
confidence in the business. This has been flagged as
a material matter that could significantly impact the
Group’s ability to execute its growth strategy.

Read more about Novus Holdings’ shareholder analysis on page 15.
Read more about the Group’s response to safeguarding governance and investor confidence from page 77.
Other material matters of interest to shareholders include ‘Capital availability for strategic acquisitions and
diversification’, as well as ‘Exchange rate and cost management’. Read more from page 24.

Publishers and media houses
The Group received a number of local and international awards that recognise inter alia technical innovation and
quality. Read more on page 6.
This particular stakeholder group includes publishers and publishing houses, as well as advertising and marketing
agencies. These stakeholders contract Novus Holdings for the printing of books, magazines, newspapers, retail
inserts and catalogues.
The Group creates value for this stakeholder group by providing a medium for intellectual capital and by conveying
targeted content for various audiences. The ongoing implementation of faster, more advanced technology ensures
highly efficient, fully automated production processes that deliver quick, high-quality printing of almost any format.
Streamlined operations optimise cost structures for more efficient pricing.
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Retail and commercial clients
The Group has printing contracts and strong sustainable
partnerships with the majority of retailers in South
Africa and aims to become a trusted partner to its
clients by improving consumer awareness and appeal,
which leads to sales.
However, value creation for retail and commercial
clients demands that the Group provide value beyond
the price of a product or service. As a market leader
with significant industry expertise, this means providing
context, options and solutions that are backed up by
personalised and exceptional client service. This is
facilitated by competent management, ongoing skills
development and a growing sales force to service
clients directly and efficiently.

in clients benefiting from an increased service offering
and new skills and competencies within the business.
The Group’s enterprise-wide risk management
framework ensures that significant risks to client value
are managed on a strategic and operational level
per division.
Many of Novus Holdings’ clients are sensitive to the
environmental impact of the print and manufacturing
sector. Novus Holdings’ dedication to the preservation
of natural resources, while still operating under
tight deadlines and maintaining a high standard of
production, has resulted in many clients becoming
reliant on the Group’s product and service offering.
Read more about environmental stewardship
on page 38.

Diversification initiatives enable the Group to exploit
new product and market opportunities, which results

Suppliers
Measurable value creation
Paid to suppliers (R’m)
Investment in enterprise and supplier development (R’m)
Local and international supplier relationships are
critically important to the continued success of Novus
Holdings. Novus Holdings’ suppliers comprise local
and international raw material and print equipment
providers. Contracts with equipment suppliers include
long-term repair and maintenance agreements, and
suppliers are selected according to the reliability of
supply, range of products, quality, responsible sourcing
practices and pricing.
The Group creates value for suppliers by providing
a market for paper and print-related raw materials
and services.

2017

2016

2 915,6
17,3

2 692,3
6,9

The Group is also focused on local supplier
development. For example, Novus Holdings tendered
as a consortium with Lebone Litho – an 100%
black-owned organisation – to facilitate the printing,
binding and distribution of educational workbooks
for the DBE tender. The Group continues to seek
opportunities to broaden its supplier database and
fulfil its supply chain needs through partnerships with
local suppliers. This enhances the Group’s social licence
to operate, strengthens the local supply chain and
stimulates job creation thereby contributing towards
economic and operational stability.

INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2017 | NOVUS HOLDINGS

47

48

LEADERSHIP REPORT

LEADERSHIP
REPORT
In 2017 the Group established a stable
platform for the next growth phase, which
is expected to deliver real returns from the
investments of the past few years.

INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2017 | NOVUS HOLDINGS

49

Leadership
report
CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER’S REPORT
Novus Holdings remains in a stronger position than
its competitors due to its size, long-standing relationships
and good capital structure – all elements that create
stability and sustainability.

2017: YEAR IN REVIEW
–

−

−

−

−
−

A challenging year in which we sought to
stabilise the business and establish a platform
for future growth
The core print business continued to face
declines, exacerbated by ongoing tough trading
conditions that affected consumer spending
behaviour and, currency volatility that adversely
affected results
The bedding down of Novus Print Solutions
proved more disruptive than anticipated, which
negatively impacted financial results
The tissue expansion project is progressing from
an installation and operational perspective but
has not reached its performance target yet,
while labels turned profitable
Strong focus on forming and implementing an
Africa strategy beyond traditional printed products
An impairment charge of R138,6 million
significantly impacted the Group’s financial results.

This year proved to be a challenging year for Novus
Holdings. While we achieved operational success
with our diversification projects, benefits were
overshadowed by continued volume declines of
magazines and newspapers – which constitute roughly
40% of Group revenue – as well as pricing pressure
in the publication print market.
We felt the effect of publishers and certain
commercial clients reducing volumes to curb rising
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input costs. Pricing pressure was compounded by
competitors introducing in additional capacity to
compete for key accounts. In addition, the volatile
exchange rate made it difficult to positively match
pricing points with the cost of raw materials,
thereby placing further strain on print margins. This
particularly impacted the heatset division, which
imports the majority of its paper requirements.
In response, we remained focused on maximising cash
flow returns from our core printing business through
the consolidation of our existing print assets and by
matching operational capacity to market demand. This
ensures that we remain competitive within the print
industry. It further safeguards our ability to tender for
significant print contracts – an ability we successfully
demonstrated by being re-awarded the
DBE workbook tender. This tender enables us to
continue our valued relationship with the DBE for a
three-year period, ending in 2020, when the tender
will once again come up for renewal for a further
two-year period.
We diversified our print offering and rationalised
our geographic footprint through the establishment
of Novus Print Solutions. While this move proved
unexpectedly disruptive to the business, the project
phase is now complete and we can leverage this asset
in the coming year. For example, the integration of
digital print capacity into our publication print offering
enables us to access local and international book
markets where there is demand for smaller batches of
high-quality material within short turnaround times.

LEADERSHIP REPORT

Headline earnings per share

110,8 cents
2016: 139,9 cents

Operating margin (excluding

impairments and profit/(loss) on disposal
of assets

12,3%
2016: 15,6%

While 2017 was a tough year in many ways, it was also a
year of strategically repositioning the business to face the
challenges of the print industry and to leverage returns
from our recent investments into tissue and labels as
growth assets. We recognise that cost savings resulting
from productivity and efficiency programmes, along with
maximising our market share opportunity, will not fully
mitigate the impact of declining print volumes. Rather,
the Group is on a focused drive to pursue additional
revenue streams from our current diversification projects
and will continue to seek new opportunities in the form
of acquisitions. This will ultimately lead to a group reprofiled for sustainable growth.

SHAPING OUR FUTURE – NOVUS HOLDINGS’
STRATEGY IN ACTION
Novus Holdings is built on a strong foundation of
institutional knowledge and industry expertise that has
established our reputation over many years. Our print

Implementation phase – bed
down our diversification
projects, seek further
opportunities and establish a
stable base from which to grow.

SHORT TERM

and manufacturing capability, and the application
of advanced technology and efficient, fully-automated
production processes have been integral to our
ability to stay ahead of our competitors. These qualities
have enabled us to attract blue chip clients who value
long-term relationships and the quality of our services
and product. We will continue to leverage these
strengths in order to optimise our future.
We remain committed to leveraging our core print
asset and managing its contribution to Group revenue
relevant to market demand. However, the Group’s
diversification strategy, which constitutes expansion
into labels and tissue as well as growth into Africa,
enables us to exploit new products and market
opportunities. This is critical for the Group to achieve
a sustainable, overall Group growth profile in the
medium to long term.

Transitional phase – close
deals and bed down
acquisitions to drive
organic growth within the
business.

MEDIUM TERM

Sustained growth phase –
achieve an overall Group
growth profile.

LONG TERM
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We are focused on growing a dedicated sales team and have
increased our level of market investment into Africa.

While inherent project issues caused delays and hindered
the bedding down of our diversification projects, we
have successfully completed the implementation phase.
The labels division is now well-positioned with efficient
processes and outstanding quality levels achieved,
resulting in a trading profit for 2017. The packaging
gravure press, which was installed in 2016, provides
a unique selling point for the Group through its highspeed and quality product offering. On the back of this
technology, the labels division was accredited to supply
large players in the carbonated soft drinks and alcoholic
beverages industries. During the year, we participated
in and were awarded significant tenders in both of
these categories. Taking into account that the labels
sector is fiercely competitive and price sensitive, this is
a strong positive for the Group.
Similarly, we completed the project implementation
phase for tissue, which was initially anticipated to
finish in August 2015. This negatively impacted our
financial results, and contributed to the decision to
investigate the closing and outsourcing of the process
of converting tissue into household and commercial
products. The tissue operation is now on track to
consistently produce and supply quality product to the
market. The operation is also bolstered by a second
tissue mill, which was commissioned during the year.
Our African focus was on developing the skills and
expertise to market and sell labels and tissue products
across the border. We are pursuing opportunities in
print separately, which will come from education and
democracy programmes. While no significant African
print projects were secured during the year, the Group
executed a voter registration tender for the UNDP in
Liberia which involved the development and supply
of 1 650 camera kits and solar power packs, training
and support. This is part of our efforts to diversify
from traditional printing as it gives us better access to
ballot printing work. In particular, our election chain of
custody offers an integrated yet independent election
management system in all key electoral areas.
Through the operational success achieved with our
diversification projects, we established a stable base
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from which to pursue growth. In the medium term,
this will mean actively concluding multiple, smaller
acquisitions, in the packaging sector. To ensure a good
strategic fit with the Group, these acquisitions must be
positioned within a growth market and must allow for
the synergising of the new business with our existing
operations or with other new acquisitions.
Broadly defined, this means looking for geographic
synergies and extended market reach. This will enable
us to establish co-locations and streamline raw material
procurement, the use of production equipment, and
our sales channels as well as distribution networks.
The Group will also benefit from improved economies
of scale.
Through this strategy, we have entered into negotiations
with three acquisition targets related to the packaging
sector. These businesses are being assessed and have
the potential for strong synergies with our labels
operation. Further details will be revealed once
negotiations are concluded. If successful, we will focus
on on-boarding new and existing management teams in
order to grow our leadership skills and expertise within
the packaging sector.
Growth into Africa will depend on our ability to foster
significant and well-connected partnerships. We are
therefore focused on growing a dedicated sales team
and have increased our level of market investment into
Africa. Any acquisitions that are made must align with
this purpose of selling South African manufactured
product into other African territories.

PERFORMANCE
Disappointingly, the Group’s financial performance
is down on the previous year. Operating margin
decreased from 15,6% in 2016, to 12,3%. Headline
earnings dropped 20,8%, to 110,8 cents per share.
In our print segment, declining volumes impacted
revenue. The closure of Paarl Media Paarl and the
relocation of its sheet-fed printing assets to the Paarl
Media Cape site in Montague Gardens, as well as the
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amalgamation of Digital Print Solutions to form Novus
Print Solutions, proved disruptive and contributed to
print volume declines. Overall, print gross profit margin
declined 4,6% mostly due to the negative impact
of foreign exchange fluctuations and an inability to
recover this from clients.
On the diversification side, labels settled down well
operationally and has seen a positive volume
increase from key clients. Initially anticipated to finish
in August 2015, implementation of the tissue project
was ongoing in 2016 and into 2017, and required
the full financial year to become operational. This
significantly impacted our financial results. The “Other“
category was buoyed by revenue derived from the
Liberian voter registration tender.
For both Print and “Other”, we experienced the
impact of impairments, as well as higher repairs and
maintenance costs than in the previous year.

TRANSFORMATION
We are committed to attaining the best B-BBEE
scorecard achievable to ensure that we can maximise
our commercial prospects in South Africa in a positive
and responsible manner. As the JSE Listing Requirements
require all listed entities to have their own B-BBEE
scorecard, we developed a transformation and equity
strategy in August 2016 to support our ambition of
achieving Level 4 accreditation on our own account.
In addition to our commitment to B-BBEE, we want
to extend our transformation efforts beyond mere
compliance. While equity and gender transformation
remain a priority focus, this must be accompanied
by diversity of thought in the daily operations of
our business. New appointments to the board and
management team will invite fresh perspectives and
expertise that can be disseminated from the top down.
Our diversification businesses provide the opportunity
to attract leadership skills and knowledge that will
contribute to the upskilling and multi-skilling of our
employees. Employment engagement initiatives
will create space for open dialogue that supports an
innovative and forward-thinking business.

A SUSTAINABLE NOVUS HOLDINGS
At Novus Holdings, we are committed to the
implementation of environmentally stable business
practices that minimise our ecological impact. We
abide by a strict environmental policy and raise
awareness among our employees of environmental
best practice through ongoing communication and
information campaigns.
Ensuring the health and safety of our employees,
as well as career fulfilment through learning and
development opportunities, is further embedded in our
approach to safeguarding a sustainable Novus Holdings.
Read more in the Operations report from
page 66.

GOVERNANCE AT NOVUS HOLDINGS
The Novus Holdings’ board must demonstrate ethical
and effective leadership. To benchmark our performance
against corporate governance best practice, an
independent evaluation of board effectiveness was
conducted during the year.
While the evaluation revealed that the board is
respected, functioning well and effectively discharging its
oversight responsibilities, opportunities were identified
to improve overall board performance. This includes a
keener focus on gender and skills diversity. In response
to the evaluation, the Group compiled a gender diversity
policy (as mandated by the JSE Listing Requirements)
which sets out objectives with commensurate outcomes
for working conditions, recruitment, the nomination and
appointment of directors and ways in which to monitor
progress. The nominations committee also plays a
critical role in ensuring that the board profile reflects the
required balance of skill, experience, independence and
diversity to support our growth ambitions. We believe
that recent board appointments will positively influence
board composition.
The board embraces the new principles of King IV™, and
has begun making preparations to report accordingly.
The Group’s remuneration reports have been
restructured in line with the new requirements outlined
in King IV™. Full alignment is planned for 2018.
During the year, we ran numerous ethics awareness
campaigns with our employees, across all areas of the
business. Our whistle-blowing facility remains in place,
and we encourage all employees to report unethical
behaviour through our independent tip-off service.
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CHANGES IN LEADERSHIP

APPRECIATION

Novus Holdings has seen changes in different parts of
the business since listing on the JSE and as a result
of its diversification initiatives. This includes operational
changes, as well as changes in the executive and
management teams and the board. We believe that
this was part of a transition phase. We have established
stability in the executive team and have aligned
management with the responsibilities that go handin-hand with our strategic objectives.

Despite the many challenges and obstacles experienced
during the year, we take cognisance of the hard work
and dedication that our management teams and
employees have shown and hereby express our
sincere gratitude.
We extend a very special word of tribute to our
chairman, Lambert Retief, who sadly passed away
in January 2017.

The most significant changes in the past financial year
have been to the board.
Keith Vroon was appointed as chief executive
officer (CEO) of the Group effective 29 July 2016,
having performed the role of acting CEO since
16 February 2016. Following Edward van Niekerk’s
resignation as chief financial officer (CFO) and executive
director of Novus Holdings effective 31 August 2016,
Edrich Fivaz was appointed as the CFO of the Group
effective 1 September 2016.
Fred Robertson stepped down from the position of
lead independent non-executive director effective
3 April 2017 to focus on other business interests. In his
place, previous independent non-executive director,
Jan Potgieter, was appointed as lead independent
non-executive director. Abduraghman (Manie) Mayman
resigned as non-executive director following his
retirement as CFO at Media24. In his place, we
welcome Cindy Hess, who joined Media24 as CFO
in November 2016. Cindy previously held the position
of CFO at Pioneer Foods.
We express our gratitude to Fred, Manie and Edward
for their guidance over the years and wish them luck
with their future endeavours.
Following the sad passing of Lambert Retief, who had
served as chairman and non-executive director of
the board since 2005, Neil Birch was appointed as an
independent non-executive director and chairman of
the board effective 3 April 2017. Neil, who holds a BSc
(Hons) Degree in Mechanical/Industrial Engineering
from the University of Witwatersrand, entered the
printing and packaging industry in 1986 and was
appointed as the Group managing director of Lithotech
in 1989. He went on to become the chief executive
officer at Bidvest Paperplus from 2006 until 2016. The
board is confident that Neil will add significant value as
the newly appointed chairman through his contribution
of his extensive business and management experience.
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REMEMBERING
LAMBERT RETIEF
(1952 – 2017)

Lambert Retief, chairman and non-executive
director, sadly passed away on 25 January 2017 at
the age of 64. Lambert was appointed as the first
CEO of what was previously known as Paarl Media
Group in 2000. In 2005, he was appointed
as chairman of the Group.
Lambert was an esteemed figure in the printing
industry, and his expertise and knowledge spanned
38 years. He held numerous executive positions,
including president of the Print Industry Federation
of Southern Africa and chairperson of the Provincial
Press Union. He was a director of Naspers, Media24,
Quantum Food Holdings, Zeder Investments,
Pioneer Food Group and Huguenot Investments.
Lambert also played a significant role in the
establishment of the Paarl Media Bursary Fund
Trust, which provides financial support to
promising learners.
Lambert demonstrated visionary leadership, and
was instrumental in the evolution of Novus Holdings
and how we do business today. We are all truly
indebted to the dedication, wisdom and guidance
Lambert shared with us over the years, and we
pay tribute to his invaluable contribution to Novus
Holdings and to society.
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Despite the many challenges and obstacles experienced during the year, we take
cognisance of the hard work and dedication that our management teams and
employees have shown and hereby express our sincere gratitude.

DIVIDEND
The board approved a dividend of 56 cents per share
for the 2017 financial year.
The Group’s dividend policy states that the board intends
to declare a dividend on at least an annual basis and to
adopt a dividend cover of approximately two times HEPS.
The board believes this approach is compatible with the
Company’s growth opportunities and ambitions.
The board is cognisant of pressure to increase the
dividend as a result of lower business confidence
in the core business’ growth prospects as well as a
disappointing financial performance. However, we have
retained a strong cash position and are confident in
our ability to generate value through acquisitions and
organic growth. We believe these opportunities will
create stability and sustainability in the business and
bring better cash flow and dividends in the future.

OUTLOOK
Novus Holdings anticipates continued pricing and volume
pressures in the Print segment, and will actively manage
costs through optimised capacity and consolidation.
By stabilising and growing the newer divisions, the
Group expects to gradually overcome declining print
revenue streams. In the labels business, the focus will
be on adding volume and creating scale for an already
established and efficient platform. Similarly, Novus
Holdings will focus on adding volume and efficiency to its
tissue business.

The Group expects improved returns in 2018 resulting
from the investments made over the past few years. This
includes operational profitability in the “Other” segment
and Novus Print Solutions, as well as further acquisitions.
The latter will take the form of strategic and synergistic
business combinations to enhance competitiveness.
Pending the approval of the Competition Tribunal, the
Competition Commission has ruled that Media24 must
divest itself of the majority of its shareholding in Novus
Holdings, thus retaining only a non-controlling minority
stake of 19%. Since we have always exercised operational
independence from Media24, this development will not
impact our operations.
Our ability to realise opportunities going forward is
supported by having the right people: a management
team and specialists with the appropriate experience –
as evidenced, for example, by the success of the
DBE tender. It is further strengthened by our strong
commitment to transformation.
While the Group remains realistic about the challenges
it faces, Novus Holdings is confident in its long-term
strategy to grow while it continues to focus on driving
value for its stakeholders.
Neil Birch
Chairman
Keith Vroon
Chief executive officer
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Financial
review
Novus Holdings will continue to focus on reducing
costs and seek to maximise market share opportunities
from its core business in order to maximise cash flow
generation.

KEY FINANCIAL INDICATORS

−

56

2014

2015

2016

R579m

27,6%

R3 987m

R685m

32,3%

R3 918m

−

27,9%

R625m

−

28,8%

R4 043m

−

PRINT

R657m

−

Operating margin excluding impairments
and profit/(loss) on disposal of assets of 12,3%,
down from 15,5% in 2016
Net return on total assets of 7,0%
(2016: 12,4%)
Operating return on net assets of 17,8%
(2016: 22,5%)
Generated free cash flow of R251,1 million,
down from R327,9 million in 2016 due to lower
EBITDA which were mitigated by improved
management of working capital and lower
capital expenditure than the previous year
Strong financial position that enables a dividend
cover ratio to two times of headline earnings
(2016: two times)
Gross profit margin of 25,6% (2016: 30,2%)

R3 898m

−

2017

Revenue
Operating proﬁt excluding impairments
and proﬁt/(loss) on disposal of assets
Gross proﬁt (%)

LEADERSHIP REPORT

The Group’s offering
ideally positions Novus
Holdings to provide its
client base with the widest
range of printing and
manufacturing services.

Category

Share of Group
revenue 2017
%

Share of Group
revenue 2016
%

Volume growth/
(decline)
%

19,4
29,0
22,6
20,6
–

20,6
29,0
20,7
21,9
1,7

(11,2)
(6,7)
1,3
(9,9)
–

Magazines
Retail inserts and catalogues
Books and directories
Newspapers
Security printing

OVERVIEW
PRINT
Print volumes remained under pressure, particularly
magazine and newspaper volumes. These product
categories witnessed volume declines of 11,3% and
9,9% respectively. As these two categories contribute
to just over 40% of the turnover for the Print division,
results were negatively affected by this decline. The
retail inserts and catalogue category also witnessed
volume declines during the year of 6,7%, while the
book and directory volumes were positive at 1,3%
volume growth. Additional educational work outside
of the DBE workbook project boosted volumes in the
second half of 2017. Looking ahead, the Group foresees
that volume declines in Print will continue. Therefore,
the awarding of the DBE tender is significant in providing
Novus Holdings with volume stability for books and

directories. The decline in retail products is expected to
stabilise once consumer spend patterns improve.
Total revenue derived from print work outside of
South Africa was R48,6 million (2016: R122,0 million).
The closure of Paarl Media Paarl and the relocation of
its sheet-fed printing assets to Paarl Media Cape and
Paarl Media KZN, as well as the amalgamation of Digital
Print Solutions to form Novus Print Solutions, proved
unexpectedly disruptive to the business. However,
Novus Print Solutions is now fully operational and will
contribute to volume growth for books, which is its
intended business model. The Group is in the process
of disposing of the property in Paarl which is planned
to be realised in 2018. The building was classified as a
non-current asset held for sale at year-end.
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The gross profit percentage for Print declined from
32,3% to 27,6% as it was negatively impacted by foreign
exchange fluctuations and the inability to fully recover
costs, specifically paper-related costs, from clients.

“OTHER”
31,2%

18,9%

(2,3%)

1,3%

2014

2015

2016

R326m

(R46m)

R256m

(R34m)

R218m

−

R10m

−

Outsourcing costs due to the Novus Print Solutions
amalgamation.
Repairs and maintenance costs, exacerbated by
foreign exchange fluctuations.
Additional production-related staff costs,
predominantly resulting from temporary peaks in
production of workbooks and other products.

R70m

−

R11m

Gross profit percentage for Print was further
impacted by:

2017

Revenue
Operating proﬁt excluding impairments
and proﬁt/(loss) on disposal of assets
Gross proﬁt (%)

“OTHER”

Category
Labels
Tissue products
“Other” revenues
The labels division has seen substantial volume growth
due to the packaging gravure press being operational
for the full year, as well as the Group’s subsequent
entry into wraparound labels markets and its growth
in the wet glue labels markets through significant
client tenders. Tissue volumes have declined by 7%
due to ongoing production interruptions on tissue
mill one (TM1) to enable project work and tie-ins with
the recently commissioned second tissue mill (TM2).
The impact on volumes is therefore project related and
does not reflect variances in the current demand, which
remains buoyant. Impact on volumes should settle in the
short term.
Total revenue derived from non-print work outside of
South Africa was R101,7 million (2016: R28,1 million).
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Share of Group
revenue 2017
%

Share of Group
revenue 2016
%

Volume growth/
(decline)
%

3,1
3,6
1,0

2,7
3,4
–

65,9
(7,0)
–

The voter registration tender for Liberia is the most
significant for 2017.
The “Other” segment contributed to the lower gross
margin. Material consumption improved on the back
of more efficient production processes in the labels
division, which have been successfully bedded down.
The Group is yet to see this benefit for the tissue
division due to higher project spend. Repairs and
maintenance increased in comparison to the previous
year, which has mostly been attributed to the tissue
project. This is expected to improve in the upcoming
financial year as the project is completed.

LEADERSHIP REPORT

−
−

Recovery of previously impaired debtors’ balances
for both Print and “Other”.
Reduced charges on the cash-settled, share-based
compensation scheme as this scheme is phased out.
Lower selling costs (associated with marketing
and promotions) than the previous year due to
print project work in Africa not being repeated in
the 2017 financial year.

The Group is cognisant that in the past operating
expenses have remained relatively stable, as was
the case in 2014 and 2015, for instance, when these
expenses reached 12,0% and 12,5% respectively.
Novus Holdings is committed to taking out costs in the
core business, with rationalisation occurring in both
heatset, coldset and tissue during the year.
Read more about how Novus Holdings manages
it capacity use and efficiency in the Material
matters section of this report from page 24.
However, transformation, diversification and growing the
distribution of the Group’s products into Africa remain
strategic priorities. The Group will therefore incur costs
as a result of due diligence and consulting work, among
others, as new market opportunities are pursued.

HIGH CASH FLOW GENERATION
R’m
87%

77%

97%

72%

78%

529
410

−

651
469

The main items contributing to the decrease include:

635
617

Operating expenses as a percentage of revenue is
13,4% (2016: 14,6%).

668
517

OPERATING EXPENSES AND
OPERATING MARGIN

Inventory days improved slightly to 39 days
(2016: 41 days). The Group remains committed to keep
inventory at optimal levels, without exposing itself to
undue risk of shortages. Debtors’ days improved from
51 days in 2016 to 45 days. The Group also managed to
successfully remit its funds from its Mozambican debtor
during the year. Creditors’ days decreased from 42 days
in 2016 to 29 days. This decrease resulted mostly from
project commitments at the end of 2016 which did not
re-occur, as well as the effect of a conscious effort to
reduce stockholding at printing plants.

596
522

FINANCIAL INDICATORS

2013

2014

2015

2016

2017

EBIT (excluding impairments and proﬁt/(loss)
on disposal of assets)
Cash generation from operations less capex
Cash conversion ratio

CASH FLOWS
Free cash flow of R236,3 million (2016: R327,9 million)
was achieved.
Cash generated from operations of R661,8 million
are down from R720,1 million following lower
operating results. However, the Group has seen
an improvement in working capital spend, which is
down from R101,4 million in 2016 to R68,9 million in
the current year.

Read more about the Group’s capital
expenditure from page 58.
The Group’s cash conversion ratio has improved from
72% in the previous year to 78%. This demonstrates the
Group’s continued ability to generate cash.
Read more about Novus Holdings’ financial
analysis in the annual financial statements
from page 121.
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Print

DEBT PROFILE
The Group’s debt to equity ratio has remained stable at
2,9% with effective debt at zero after deducting cash.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE
The cash expenditure on property, plant, and equipment
for 2017 was forecast at between R230 million and
R250 million at the end of the 2016 financial year.
Final capital expenditure net of proceeds for 2017
amounted to R237 million (2016: R215 million). The
Group therefore remained within its projected capital
expenditure spend.
Looking ahead, it is estimated that approximately
R45 million will be required to complete the
current project and refurbish components of TM1.
Refurbishment of TM1 will focus on introducing new
technology and equipment that will produce lower
grammage tissue at better quality than the current
product offering. This provides the Group with an
opportunity to unlock grammage yield gains coupled
with better quality products.

LONG-TERM DEBT-EQUITY RATIO
R’m

Capital expenditure for the Print segment amounted
to R126 million. Expansion capital expenditure of
R62 million in this division resulted mostly from the
digital press project equipment as well as building
alterations to accommodate the Novus Print Solutions
operations on site at Montague Gardens. A further
amount of R8 million was incurred on intangibles capital
expenditure. Maintenance capital expenditure for the
division amounted to R64 million for the year, which is in
line with the Group’s expectation.

“Other”
Capital expenditure for the “Other” segment amounted
to R118 million, with the majority related to the
expansion of the tissue project.
In the labels division, some capital expenditure was
incurred on finishing equipment to further expand the
and labels offering.
Non-current assets held for sale amount to R63 million
in property, which has come up for sale following the
move of Paarl Media Paarl to Paarl Media Cape. It is
anticipated that this transaction will be concluded
within the first half of the 2018 financial year.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE – PRINT SEGMENT
R’m

175

34,1%

Long-term debt (R’m)
Debt-equity ratio (%)

60

60

36
2014

2015

Maintenance
Expansion

2016

64

2017

48

2016

80

2015

78

152

2014

2,8%
81

235

2013

2,9%
80

610

5,9%

70

10,7%

2017
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IMPAIRMENTS

DIVIDENDS

An impairment charge of R138,6 million had a
significant impact on the Group’s financial results.
This impairment charge is split between the Print
and “Other” segments.
In Print, predominantly in the coldset division, an
impairment charge of R109 million was recognised on
unutilised printing capacity and related equipment
that was no longer required. While this impairment
charge impacted Group results, Novus Holdings is
satisfied that the level of impairment is balanced
with the costs that have been removed from the core
business in order to increase capacity utilisation. The
Group currently foresees minimal profit benefit from
equipment sales.
The Group has previously invested in both tissue milling
and converting equipment in its tissue operation.
The investment to significantly expand capacity and
improve quality firmly positions the tissue business as
a growing supplier of jumbo reel tissue wadding, which
is showing greater prospects for the Group than the
converting facility. As a result, the Group has taken a
conservative approach and proactively impaired the
converting equipment to the value of R26,4 million.

Looking forward, the board will regularly review the
dividend policy and consider the prevailing debts, if any,
owing to third parties at the time, the requirements
reflected in the Company’s business plans, funds
required for expansion and other growth opportunities.

OUTLOOK STATEMENT
Novus Holdings will continue to focus on reducing
costs and seek to maximise market share opportunities
from its core business in order to maximise cash flow
generation – a process that will be bolstered by the
operational and financial turnaround of Novus Print
Solutions. Expansion and diversification will continue
through expanded volumes and product options for
labels, the successful refurbishment of TM1 and the
optimal operation of TM2 to increase turnover and fill
capacity, as well as successful execution of the Group’s
extended African strategy. The acquisition of businesses
in growth sectors, within defined investment
parameters, remains a key focus.

118
0

2015

6

4
2014

The board approved a dividend of 56 cents per share to
be paid on 4 September 2017 (2016: 70 cents).

17

4

52

137

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE – “OTHER” SEGMENT
R’m

The Novus Holdings’ dividend approach entails the
declaration of a dividend on at least an annual basis
with a dividend of approximately two times based on
HEPS. The dividend declared for 2017 is consistent
with this approach, and Novus Holdings believes the
approach is compatible with the company’s growth
opportunities and ambitions.

2016

2017

Maintenance
Expansion
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VALUE-ADDED STATEMENT
For the year ended 31 March
Revenue
Cost of generating revenue
Value added
Finance income
Wealth created

4 312 464
(2 915 646)
1 396 818
13 433
1 410 251

%

Group
2016
R’000

%

100,0

4 174 517
(2 692 327)
1 482 190
20 688
1 502 878

100,0

Wealth distribution:
Employees
Salaries, wages and benefits

644 208

45,68

630 543

41,96

Providers of capital
Dividends paid to shareholders
Finance costs

231 996
223 682
8 314

16,45
15,86
0,59

220 053
205 357
14 696

14,64
13,66
0,98

Governments
Total tax paid

188 513

13,37

178 381

11,87

Reinvested in the Group
Depreciation and amortisation
Impairments
Retained earnings

345 534
207 567
138 642
(675)

24,50
14,72
9,83
(0,05)

473 901
197 080
2 323
274 498

31,53
13,11
0,16
18,26

1 502 878

100,0

Wealth distributed
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Group
2017
R’000

1 410 251

100,0

LEADERSHIP REPORT

Financial ratio definitions
Cash conversion ratio

Cash generated from operations less capital expenditure spent on property,
plant and equipment and intangible assets, divided by operating profit,
excluding impairments and profit/(loss) on disposal of assets.

Creditor days

Trade and other payables plus related-party payables divided by cost of sales
(inclusive of VAT) multiplied by 365 days.

Debt to equity ratio

Total borrowings divided by total equity.

Debtor days

Trade and other receivables plus related-party receivables divided by revenue
(inclusive of VAT) multiplied by 365 days.

Free cash flow

Cash generated from operations less capital expenditure spent on property, plant
and equipment and intangibles (net of proceeds from sale), less taxation paid.

Interest cover

Operating profit divided by interest expense (related-party interest, loans
and overdrafts, interest rate swaps).

Liquidity ratio

Current assets divided by current liabilities.

Net asset value per share

Attributable equity divided by issued shares excluding treasury shares.

Net working capital

Inventory, trade and other receivables, related-party receivables less trade
and other payables, short-term cash-settled share-based payment liability
and related-party payables.

Operating assets

Property, plant and equipment, goodwill and intangible assets.

Net return on equity

Net income after taxation divided by average total equity.

Operating return
on net assets

Operating profit excluding impairments and profit/(loss) on disposal of assets
divided by average operating assets and average net working capital.

Net return on total asset

Net income after taxation divided by average total assets.

Solvency ratio

Total assets divided by total liabilities.

Stock days

Inventory divided by cost of sales (exclusive of VAT) multiplied by 365 days.
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL REVIEW
R’000

2017

2016

2015

2014

4 312 464
3,3%
1 105 404
25,6%
393 736

4 174 517
(2,0%)
1 259 701
30,2%
648 760

4 261 484
7,4%
1 169 237
27,4%
561 498

3 968 755
7,7%
1 143 608
28,8%
649 023

3 684 166
(0,5%)
1 149 608
31,2%
587 844

528 825
9,1%

650 720
15,5%

634 697
13,2%

667 527
16,4%

596 448
16,0%

12,3%
256 827
6,0%

15,6%
448 268
10,7%

14,9%
364 804
8,6%

16,8%
421 859
10,6%

16,2%
369 084
10,0%

8,2%
8
256 819

10,8%
2 504
445 764

9,8%
29 900
334 904

11,0%
27 776
350 366

10,2%
18 718
350 366

2 144 924
155 419
6 050
50 597
949 188
229 968
63 404
3 599 551

2 275 236
138 711
1 508
12 562
991 004
278 220
–
3 697 241

2 161 777
132 052
1 995
3 043
833 796
389 044
–
3 521 707

2 165 597
86 701
3 430
–
806 504
98 612
–
3 160 844

2 075 422
55 830
5 104
–
717 038
199 501
15 106
3 068 001

2 882 839
(374)
242 429
68 306
60 436
20 090
323 081
2 744
3 599 551

2 822 624
–
270 521
70 282
19 473
61 014
441 885
11 442
3 697 241

2 536 235
30 480
267 015
61 324
80 636
71 149
367 665
107 203
3 521 707

2 085 069
121 536
287 935
53 542
62 895
172 382
317 675
59 810
3 160 844

1 691 956
93 788
286 730
55 249
437 889
171 660
314 251
16 478
3 068 001

80 526
(146 698)
648 303

80 487
(186 291)
584 055

151 785
(130 056)
481 168

235 277
196 475
504 034

609 549
426 526
456 833

2013

PROFIT PERFORMANCE
Revenue
Growth
Gross profit
Margin
Operating profit
Operating profit excluding impairments and profit/(loss)
on disposal of assets
Margin
Margin excluding impairments and profit/(loss) on disposal
of assets
Profit for the period after tax
Margin
Margin excluding impairments and profit/(loss) on disposal
of assets
Non-controlling interests
Attributable income
FINANCIAL POSITION
Assets
Property, plant, equipment and intangibles
Goodwill
Other non-current assets
Deferred taxation assets
Current assets excluding cash
Cash
Non-current assets held for sale

Equity and liabilities
Ordinary shareholder interest
Non-controlling interests
Deferred taxation liabilities
Other non-current liabilities
Long-term debt (including shareholder loans)
Short-term debt
Current liabilities
Bank overdrafts

SUMMARY FINANCIAL POSITION –
DEBT AND WORKING CAPITAL
Debt (term loans, finance leases, shareholder loans)
Effective debt/(cash) {debt less cash}
Net working capital

64

LEADERSHIP REPORT

R’000
CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Cash generated from operations
Purchase of property, plant, equipment and intangibles
Proceeds on sale of non-current assets, Governmental
grants, insurance
Taxation paid
Free cash flow
Acquisition/(disposals) of subsidiaries, associates and
investments
Dividends received
Net loan payments and net finance costs
Dividends paid
Net cash flow
Opening cash
Closing cash
PERFORMANCE PER SHARE (CENTS)
EPS – basic
EPS – basic diluted
HEPS – basic
HEPS – basic diluted
Net asset value

2017

2016

2015

2014

2013

661 829
(252 082)

720 128
(251 304)

802 486
(185 396)

777 283
(260 588)

680 296
(158 539)

15 098
(188 513)
236 332

37 417
(178 381)
327 860

7 029
(173 239)
450 880

24 925
(171 706)
369 914

39 285
(152 234)
408 808

6 536
–
(58 740)
(223 682)
(39 554)
266 778
227 224

(68 030)
–
(69 536)
(205 357)
(15 063)
281 841
266 778

(103 813)
–
(104 028)
–
243 039
38 802
281 841

(91 709)
3
(422 429)
–
(144 221)
183 023
38 802

(91 758)
–
(345 638)
–
(28 588)
211 611
183 023

80,37
80,37
110,81
110,81
902,17

139,50
139,50
139,94
139,94
883,32

110,92
110,92
127,57
127,57
793,70

131,36
131,36
135,36
135,36
695,02

116,79
116,79
118,53
118,53
563,99

3,59
5,02
2,8%
9,0%
7,0%
17,8%
44,95
28,95
38,96
33,60

2,24
4,23
2,9%
16,6%
12,4%
22,5%
50,61
42,35
40,73
35,88

2,24
3,69
5,9%
15,3%
10,9%
22,9%
37,75
33,18
38,45
21,38

1,65
3,31
10,7%
21,1%
13,5%
25,0%
37,75
30,44
43,09
17,16

1,14
2,39
34,1%
22,8%
12,2%
23,7%
38,86
32,05
37,94
9,61

Note: for the 2013 and 2014 financial years, 300 million shares
have been used in the calculation for comparability to 2015.
Media24 was issued capitalisation shares in 2015 giving 300
million total shares. Media24 was the sole shareholder during
2013 and 2014.

RATIOS
Liquidity
Solvency
Debt to equity
Net return on equity
Net return on total assets
Operating return on net assets
Debtor days
Creditor days
Stock days
Interest cover
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OPERATIONS REPORT

OPERATIONS
REPORT
An extensive network of specialised
printing and manufacturing plants support
Novus Holdings’ ambition to become a
market leader in the print, packaging and
labels industry.
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Operations
report
The success of Novus Holdings as a business-to-business
company is based on the Group’s ability to maintain
strong client relationships, supported by exceptional
client service, to ensure the Group remains a trusted
business partner.

CONTRIBUTION TO REVENUE

PRINT
−
−
−

publication gravure
heatset web offset
sheet-fed

−
−
−

digital cut-sheet
digital inkjet
coldset

92%
PRINT

(2016: 94%)

8%
“OTHER”

“OTHER”

(2016: 6%)

−
−

labels
flexible packaging

−
−

tissue
election services

OPERATIONS REPORT: PRINT
PRINT PROFILES
Gravure printing
Gravure printing involves a method of printing using engraved copper cylinders to transfer ink onto paper.
This provides a crisp, full-spectrum colour and registration method, which is ideally suited for very high-volume
production of publications and commercial products including weekly, fortnightly and monthly magazines,
catalogues and retail inserts. High-quality presses allow for flexibility across an extensive range of formats and
pagination. Excellent finishes can be applied, even on low-grammage materials. Final products can be delivered
directly off the press, complete with any trimming, inline gluing or stitching requirements.
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The Group is actively
looking for alternative
markets in sub-Saharan
Africa to fill capacity
and maintain economies
of scale.

Heatset printing
Heatset printing is the process by which ink is dried by running the printed paper through an oven immediately
after ink is applied by the printing units. This printing method is used for medium to high-volume magazines,
retail inserts, catalogues and brochures. A combination of presses delivers quick, make-ready and flexible formats
and paper ranges. The presses are configured to offer a variety of inline finishing and folding options as well as
automatic palletisers to speed up the delivery of material. Heatset also prints alcohol-free – a process that is more
environmentally friendly.

Coldset printing
Coldset printing offers fast, economical printing on uncoated paper. The Novus Holdings’ network of plants is
equipped with coldset printing towers and caters for both large and smaller print runs in broadsheet, tabloid and
quarter-fold formats for high pagination as well as thinner products. Inline stitching, gluing and trimming delivers
finished product off the press. The process is best suited to absorbent papers and can accommodate high-quality,
heavier grammage. Applications include newspapers, educational material, ballots and commercial publications.
The process incorporates inline finishing and folding, collating and inserting capabilities.

Novus Print Solutions
By combining digital print with traditional litho products, Novus Print Solutions offers solutions to today’s global
print and communication trends, whether it is for a glossy magazine, trade paperback or personalised tabloid. The
printing plant, which is situated in Cape Town, combines inkjet-digital and litho sheet-fed output to provide local
and international clients with products geared towards a “speed to market” approach. Both short and medium
print runs to the publishing, book and commercial markets are catered for.

Read more about key technology applied by this segment on the website.
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PERFORMANCE

Number of employees
Number of lost-time injuries
Revenue – net of intersegment revenue (R’000)
Operating profit – excluding impairments and profit/(loss) on disposal
of assets (R’000)
Total assets – net of intersegment assets (R’000)

2017

2016

1 705
16
R3 986 504

1 681
13
R3 918 108

R575 300
R2 965 002

R684 898
R3 176 514

The print segment remains at the core of Novus Holdings and contributed 92% (2016: 94%) to Group revenue and
109% (2016: 105%) to Group operating profit excluding impairments and profit/(loss) on disposal of assets.
Key focus areas
Key focus areas identified in 2016

Progress made in 2017

Key focus areas for 2018

−

Protect core activity cash flows
and profitability.

−

DBE tender successfully reawarded.

−

−

Achieving the above through
enhanced production
efficiencies, effective
procurement practices and
continuous focus to match
capacity with demand.

−

Costs were removed from the
business by the mothballing
of equipment as a result of
volume declines.

Focus on maximising sales
opportunities and relationships
both in South Africa and
outside of its borders.

−

Restoring and increasing
market share in the book
sector, and achieving
improved profitability in NPS.

−

Group restructure creating
focused silos for print by
merging heatset and coldset
divisions.

−

Achieving continued benefits
from efficiency drives,
while anticipating market
movements and adjusting
capacity accordingly.

−

−

Review of operating efficiencies
and market demand resulted
in the closure of Paarl Media
Commercial.
Consolidate and deliver on
the current digital project
and identify new products
and markets to advance
profitability.

−

−

NPS achieved operational
success after a disruptive
year that negatively impacted
financial results.
Ongoing operational and
procurement efficiencies
achieved.

OPERATIONS REPORT: “OTHER”
“OTHER” PROFILES
Paarl Labels
Paarl Labels enables Novus Holdings to present clients from a range of industries with a portfolio of flexible,
reliable label printing solutions. Off-line finishing includes a range of foiling, laminating, varnishing, die-cutting and
embossing options suited to requirements that range from wine-label printing to the production of adhesive items
for the food industry. The operation has the capability to introduce security holograms, “back printing” and other
unique features. The Group is committed to development and innovation in the labels sector to ensure that clients
are able to choose from the latest printing techniques.
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Correll Tissue
Correll Tissue was acquired in June 2014 as the primary tissue paper manufacturing plant of Novus Holdings.
The acquisition allows Novus Holdings to expand its manufacturing operations by harnessing the potential of
waste paper that is produced by the printing operations, to make tissue paper.

Read more about the key technology applied by this division on the website.

PERFORMANCE

Number of employees
Number of lost-time injuries
Revenue – net of intersegment revenue (R’000)
Operating loss – excluding impairments and profit/(loss) on disposal
of assets (R’000)
Total assets – net of intersegment assets (R’000)

2017

2016

313
5
R325 960

322
7
R256 409

(R46 475)
R634 549

(R34 178)
R520 727

Key focus areas
Key focus areas identified in 2016

Progress made in 2017

Key focus areas for 2018

−

−

The Group acquired significant
clients in the wraparound and
wet glue labels markets.

−

Increasing labels volume by
landing additional product lines
through existing customers.

−

The tissue project has
advanced significantly with the
commissioning of TM2.

−

−

Through reviewing the
profitability of the converting
facility, the proposed
discontinuance of the in-house
converting division was raised.

Expanding the labels product
range to include self-adhesive
food-related products (low
migration ink solutions) and
in-mould labelling products.

−

The next tissue project
to be embarked on is the
refurbishment of TM1, which
is expected to yield a superior
product to the market, more
efficiently.

−

Concluding multiple
acqusitions that offer both
volume and scale benefits.

−

Concluding successful projects
in sub-Saharan Africa for
elections services and sales of
tissue and packaging products.

−

Group restructure creating
focused silos for tissue and
packaging (incl. labels).

−

Acquire FMCG clients and
extend the labels offering to
wraparound beverage labels
and canned goods labels, while
investigating other flexible
packaging opportunities.
Over the next three years,
improve the operating profit
margin through increased
volume, product mix
optimisation and efficient
production and procurement
practices.
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MATERIAL OPERATIONAL
MATTERS
The matters that are most material to Novus Holdings’
ability to create value related to its operations are
the following:
−
−
−

Employee health and safety
Labour legislation
Skills availability and retention

EMPLOYEE HEALTH AND SAFETY
Novus Holdings is committed to providing all
employees with a safe working environment by
achieving the highest standards of Safety, Health,
Environment, Risk and Quality (SHERQ) performance
throughout the Group. This approach is embedded in
the Group’s SHERQ policy and “Goal is Zero” campaign.
This campaign targets zero injuries or health-related
incidents, zero process or risk-related incidents, zero
environmental incidents and zero distribution incidents
across operations.
Novus Holdings’ health and safety policy is driven
by visible and responsible leadership, as well as by
encouraging all employees to take ownership of their
own safety and the safety of their co-workers. A total
of 10,6% of Novus Holdings’ employees are currently
engaged in the field of SHERQ. This includes a collective
total of 194 Safety, Health and Environmental (SH&E)
representatives and 14 safety officers and Coordinators
operating at plant level. These representatives and

Novus Safety Statistics
Lost time case rate
Number of LTIs over 12 months (lost-time incidents)
Lost time incident frequency rate (LTIFR)
Number of LTIs per month
Average days lost (12 months) LTSR (lost-time severity rate)
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safety officers represent the direct employees through
a formal joint management-worker health and safety
committee. In addition, there are one national SHERQ
Manager and one Group SHERQ Manager who
oversee occupational health and safety programmes
at Group level.
In addition to its SHERQ policy, the Group has
implemented an Integrated SHERQ management
system across operations and ensures compliance
with all relevant legal requirements.
−

−

All heatset and coldset facilities obtained an
ISO 9001, ISO 14001 and OHSAS 18001
certification.
Paarl Labels maintained their ISO 22001 and
ISO 9001 and are working towards OHSAS 18001
and ISO 14 001 certification.

The Group emphasises the reporting of on-site
incidents to ensure preventative measures are
implemented across operations. Regular health
and safety reviews are also performed by internal and
third-party external consultants. These findings are
reported to the board’s risk committee.
There have been no fatalities in the past seven years.
Despite a marginal increase in the number of LTIs
year-on-year, there are currently three of the
11 facilities on a zero lost-time rate, with two facilities
achieving a record of more than 1 000 days worked
without a lost-time injury.

2017
Average

2016
Average

1,06
25,00
5,31
4,00
5,28

0,80
17,25
3,98
1,75
7,13

OPERATIONS REPORT

To minimise business-related and operational risks, the
Group abides by a strict risk control policy. This policy
outlines the various actions plans followed by Novus
Holdings to protect its employees from the unique risks
associated with the different business divisions.

Novus Holdings’ employees belong to one of the
following four recognised unions:

The Group’s has identified the following as its most
significant health and safety risks:

−

−
−

−

CHEMICALS
Novus Holdings’ operations require the use of various
chemicals that may pose a risk to employees and the
environment. The Group continuously investigates
safer alternatives, and employees exposed to chemicals
are tested for possible deviations regularly through a
medical surveillance programme. All employees are
trained in the safe use and disposal of chemicals.

NOISE
Employees working in certain areas of Novus Holdings’
operations are exposed to high noise levels. The Group
continuously explores ways to reduce this risk, including
the adoption of new technologies and enclosing highexposure areas. Employees who are exposed form part
of the Group’s medical surveillance programme. Hearing
protection is made available to all those entering highrisk areas, including employees and visitors.

LABOUR LEGISLATION
Through the implementation of the Group’s
transformation and equity as well as gender diversity
policy, employees benefit from a working environment
that upholds the principles of transformation and equal
opportunity. Furthermore, the Group provides a safe,
healthy and productive working environment through
the effective implementation and monitoring of
its SHERQ policy.

South Africa Typographical Union (SATU)
Chemical, Energy, Paper, Printing, Wood and Allied
Workers Union (CEPPWAWU)
Media Workers Association of South Africa
(MWASA)
South African Chemical Workers Union
(SACWU)

To enable consultation with employees and maintain
motivation, as well as to grant employees time to
engage with union representatives, the Group provides
employees with notices prior to any significant
operational changes.

SKILLS AVAILABILITY AND RETENTION
The print and manufacturing industry has become
increasingly specialised over the past decade. This
increases the demand for highly skilled professionals
who are capable of delivering excellent-quality products
and services at international standards. The Novus
Academy, a division of Novus Holdings, is internationally
and nationally accredited to develop printing and
related business skills for the print and manufacturing
industry in Africa. The Novus Academy is also
responsible for developing the relevant knowledge and
skills among Novus Holdings’ employees to support the
Group’s clients and partners across the continent.
Read more about how the Novus Academy
creates value for the Group’s employees from
page 26.
Following the acquisition of the Correll Tissue
manufacturing plant, the curricula of the Novus Academy
were updated to include theoretical as well as practical
training material for tissue production, which includes
pulping, manufacturing and converting. These revised
curricula are critical for upskilling current employees.
A total of 2 158 people participated in 4 696 training
opportunities (2016: 3 094 training opportunities).

Continuous engagement with unions mitigates
operational risk and promotes a stable working
environment for employees. Currently, 40% of
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Measurable value creation

2017
R’m

2016
R’m

Employee benefits and remuneration paid (this is based on the leviable payroll to
calculate skills development levy payable to the South African Revenue Service.

527,7

508,1

Skills development spend (based on actual spend and on the job course costs
excluding The Novus Academy overheads and salaries, training infrastructure
and skills development facilitator (SDF) role in each entity).

12,2

11,5

The Group’s training investment spend during the 2017 financial year (this includes
The Novus Academy overheads and salaries, training infrastructure, stipends of
learners as well as the SDF role in each entity).

18,1

17,9

People with Disabilities Special Projects
In October 2016, Novus Holdings and Siyaya Training
Institute jointly embarked on a special project for
people with disabilities. This endeavour forms part the
Novus Holdings’ contribution to upliftment as well as
compliance with the B-BBEE Regulations.
The aim of this programme is to provide opportunities
for unemployed disabled candidates to study further
and enhance their employment prospects. There are
38 learners participating in three different learnerships
which end in September 2017. Once the learners
graduate, Novus Holdings will provide strategic
assistance to the Siyaya Training Institute to support the
graduates in finding suitable job opportunities.

Printing and Packaging Bridging Programme
The Printing and Packaging Bridging Programme is
specifically designed for learners who are unable to
enter into further education, either due to their lack of
grade 12 or resulting from low marks in grade 12. This
programme then provides opportunities for candidates
who previously did not qualify to apply for Novus
Holdings’ apprenticeship programmes or any other
learnership.
2017 has seen the third intake of Printing and Packaging
Bridging Programme learners. The Novus Academy was
able to place 15 of the 18 learners who commenced
in 2016, five were accepted and indentured as
apprentices and 10 were placed as general assistants,
while three learners found job opportunities elsewhere.
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SUSTAINABLE SUPPLY
AND OPERATIONS
Novus Holdings is determined to remain a leader of
environmental stewardship and is committed to the
implementation of environmentally sound business
practices. This includes proactive management of
production efficiencies, energy and water consumption,
emissions as well as waste reduction, all of which the
Group recognises as its areas of greatest potential
environmental impact.
Through its environmental policy, the Group commits to
the following:
−
−

−

−

−
−

Meet or exceed all environmental regulations that
relate to the Group.
Integrate environmental considerations into
planning and decision-making by implementing
effective environmental management systems.
Promote resource sustainability by encouraging
the recycling and reusing of goods, implementing
energy-efficient practices and reducing waste.
Minimise emissions through the selective
acquisition of new, efficient equipment and the
implementation of emission-reducing technology.
Encourage improved environmental performance
among suppliers.
Raise environmental awareness among employees.

OPERATIONS REPORT

CASE STUDY

PAARL COLDSET WASTE RE-USE PROJECT

Each month, Paarl Coldset Cape Town generates
approximately 1 200 kilogrammes of plastic waste
and between 60 and 70 tonnes of paper waste.
Traditionally, a significant portion of this waste was
sold or recycled. However, in February 2016, Paarl
Coldset Cape Town launched a challenge to identify
solutions whereby waste generated would be re-used
rather than sold.
Named the Paarl Coldset Waste Re-use Project, this
challenge was proposed to BTech students from the
Cape Peninsula University of Technology (CPUT).
The project invited students from the BTech Project
Management programme to apply their conceptual
and contextual knowledge to real print industry
challenges, while creating the possibility of a
secondary, profitable business with limited capital
expenditure. This approach was also in line
with CPUT’s goal of promoting partnerships
with local industries.

Competition winners included:
−

−
−

First place: Sustainable Stationery, which
suggested manufacturing a variety of stationery
from the waste
Second place: Powertainer, which encouraged
using paper and carton to generate electricity
Third place: Bokamosa, which envisaged the
manufacture of sanitary towels for schoolgirls

Overall, the Paarl Coldset Waste Re-use Project
created synergy between Novus Holdings and a local
academic institution. This is important in introducing
students to and generating employment interest in
the print industry. This project further supports the
Group’s environmental policy, which strives for
more environmentally stable business practices
throughout its divisions. This includes aiming for
zero waste generation.
In total, 300 students took part in the Paarl Coldset
Waste Re-use Project, with a total cash prize of
R48 000.
For more on the Group’s Environmental Policy,
go to http://novus.holdings/environment/
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ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT
AND PERFORMANCE

−
−

Paper consumption
Total volume consumption of paper and pulp decreased
by 7%, from 184 000 tonnes in 2016 to 171 000 tonnes
in 2017. This decline is largely due to decreased demand
for printed products.
When sourcing paper for operations, the local
procurement of paper supply is preferred. However,
due to an unsustainably low demand for magazinegrade paper in the South African market, only
newsprint and uncoated paper is produced locally.
This necessitates increased sourcing from Europe.
Nevertheless, the Group ensures procurement from
accredited suppliers only, regardless of whether
sourced locally or internationally.
In South Africa, the Group actively looks to partner with
suppliers with a strong B-BBEE status. Both locally and
internationally, Novus Holdings ensures all suppliers are
accredited with and abide by the following:
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−
−

−

Chain of custody certification (FSC® and/or PEFCTM)
Environmental management systems (ISO:14001
and the EU Eco-Management and Audit
Scheme [EMAS])
Quality management systems (ISO:9001)
Health and safety systems (OHSAS: 18001
[Occupational Health and Safety
Assessment Series])
Sustainable forestry practices
Read more about how Novus Holdings manages
its use of natural capital on page 38.

OPERATIONS REPORT

Environmental printing practices
Printing processes

Environmental printing practices

Heatset web offset

−

Sheet-fed

Coldset

Publication gravure

Regenerative thermal oxidisers have been installed on all web presses to eliminate
emissions.
– Odour, visual smoke and polluting substances are eliminated through the use of
Megtec’s Dual-Dry TNV regenerative thermal oxidiser (RTO). The energy recovered
from the oxidisation process is reutilised in the drying process, which significantly
reduces gas energy consumption.
– Alcohol-free printing has been implemented on most web offset presses to reduce
environmental, health and safety concerns.
− All waste paper and printing plates used in heatset web offset are recycled.
− The presses used in sheet-fed printing produce zero emissions and use eco-friendly
inks. Technological enhancements to the presses have reduced paper waste and
noise, as well as the use of chemicals.
– Paarl Media uses mineral oil and volatile organic compound VOC-free inks.
– All waste paper and printing plates used in sheet-fed are recycled.
− Offset printing processes enable ink to dry through natural absorption, which is
energy efficient and environmentally friendly.
– All waste paper and printing plates used in coldset printing are recycled.
− Gravure copper skins from engraved cylinders are sold to a recycling agent.
– Up to 95% of toluene is recovered and sold back to ink manufacturers for reuse.
– An upgraded paper waste and dust system has been installed at Paarl Media
Cape and Paarl Media KwaZulu-Natal. This enables dust and waste extraction as a
compacted by-product, reducing storage and disposal costs.
– A biomass boiler, which is powered by sustainable biomass, generates enough
steam to power Paarl Media Cape’s gravure printing presses. This reduces
electricity consumption and supports a carbon neutral footprint.

Water consumption
In line with the Group’s commitment to environmental best practice, Novus Holdings has implemented a range of
water saving initiatives across its operations:
− Buldwin Pure Filtration Systems have been installed on the two biggest presses at Paarl Media Cape.
This is now a close-loop system, and all water is reused. This has resulted in a water saving of approximately
7 000 litres per month.
− Low chemistry plates have been introduced into the printing process. These plates require fewer chemicals
and, subsequently, less water is required to rinse the plates.
− Paarl Media Cape has implemented a project to reuse condensate water from the steam in the solvent
recovery plant. This water is treated and reused in the cooling tower system. It is estimated that this project
could result in a water saving of 1 200 kilolitres per month.
In addition to the above, a water treatment facility was commissioned for Correll Tissue and is expected to be
operational by the end of June 2017. It is estimated that this facility will provide a water saving of 4 800 kilolitres
per month. Novus Holdings has also commissioned water surveys at Paarl Coldset, Cape Town, to evaluate water
utilisation and the possible reuse of water in its processes.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE
The Group’s reputation for superior products
and personalised services relies on the
integrity and ethics of its business practices,
operations and partnerships.
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Corporate
governance
The principles of integrity, excellence
and transparency are central to the
Group’s responsible growth.

Novus Holdings strives to achieve the highest
standards of corporate governance in all its
operations and relationships with key stakeholders,
while allowing purpose and discipline to guide the
Group’s performance.

Having a strong ethical base is of critical importance
to Novus Holdings. For this reason, the Group’s
governance structures are aligned with the JSE Listings
Requirements, King III and Companies Act, 71 of 2008.
The Group is also committed to the full implementation
of the newly launched King IVTM in 2018.

GOVERNANCE MILESTONES FOR 2017
−

−

−
−
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The nominations committee was established,
which allowed all new board appointments to
follow the required review and vetting process.
The membership of all committees was reviewed
and revised by the nominations committee
following the new board appointments.
The company-wide campaign to drive awareness
of ethical behaviour continued.
The audit and risk committee was separated
into two committees to ensure that – given the
statutory duties and responsibilities assigned to an
audit committee as per the Companies Act and the
JSE Listings Requirements – there was an increased
focus on risk management. Accordingly, the
composition and mandates of both committees
were reviewed.

−
−

The separation of the risk committee allowed for
dedicated focus on specific areas of perceived risk.
The audit committee reviewed the independence
and objectivity of the internal and external
auditors.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

As a responsible corporate
citizen, Novus Holdings
strives for excellence
and transparency in all
operations and partnerships,
with purpose and discipline
guiding performance.
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Board
of directors
The level of expertise and competence of
the current board supports the Group’s
ability to create sustainable value.

ABDURAGHMAN (MANIE) MAYMAN (62)

FRED ROBERTSON (62)

BCom (Hons) (Financial Management),
BCompt, BCompt (Hons), CA(SA)

Independent non-executive director

Non-executive director

Appointed to the board on 23 February 2015
and resigned from the board on 3 April 2017

Appointed to the board on 24 March 2014
and retired from the board on 3 April 2017

*Appointed as lead independent non-executive
director and interim chairman on 12 July 2016

JAN POTGIETER (48)

GUGULETHU DINGAAN (41)

BCompt (Hons), CTA, CA(SA),

BCom (Acc), HDipAcc, CA(SA)

Management Development Program (Michigan),
Strategic Planning and Management in Retailing
(Monash University)

Independent non-executive director
Appointed to the board on 23 February 2015

Independent non-executive director
Appointed to the board on 23 February 2015

SANDILE ZUNGU (50)
BSc (Mech Eng), MBA

ESMARÉ WEIDEMAN (55)
BCom, BJourn (Hons)
Non-executive director
Appointed to the board on 1 May 2011
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Independent non-executive director
Appointed to the board on 23 February 2015

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

CHRISTOFFEL BOTHA (56)

EDRICH FIVAZ (36)

BCom, LLB, CA(SA)

BAcc (Hons), CA(SA)

Independent non-executive director

Chief financial officer, executive director

Appointed to the board on 24 February 2016

Appointed to the board on 1 September 2016

BERNARD OLIVIER (63)

KEITH VROON (52)

BCom (Acc), CTA, CA(SA), Senior Management
Programme (USB)

BCom (Hons), CA(SA), HDip Tax

Independent non-executive director

Appointed to the board on 1 October 2008

Chief executive officer, executive director

Appointed to the board on 23 February 2015

CINDY HESS (41)
BCom (Acc), PGDA, CA(SA)
Non-executive director

NEIL BIRCH (56)
BSc (Hons) (Eng)
Independent Non-executive director
Appointed to the board on 3 April 2017

Appointed to the board 23 March 2017
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CURRICULA VITAE

Christoffel Botha (56)

Neil Birch (56)
Neil was appointed as an independent non-executive
director and chairman of the board effective
3 April 2017. Neil holds a BSc(Hons) degree in
Mechanical/Industrial Engineering from the University
of Witwatersrand and entered the printing and
packaging industry in 1986. He was also appointed as
the group managing director of Lithotech in 1989 and
went on to become the chief executive officer at Bidvest
Paperplus from 2006 until 2016.

Christoff has a background in corporate finance,
strategic investment management and private
equity investment. In 2000, he co-founded Treacle
Private Equity, a private equity firm. He has served
on a number of boards spanning a number of
industries. These include Datacentrix Limited,
IST Holdings Limited, Comair Limited, KreditInform
(Pty) Limited, Malbak Motor Holdings (Pty) Limited,
Tek Corporation Limited, Teraco (Pty) Limited and
Robertson & Caine (Pty) Limited.

Jan Potgieter (48)

Bernard Olivier (63)

Jan is a chartered accountant, chief executive officer
of Italtile and non-executive director of Fortress
Income-Fund. He has extensive senior-level experience
in the retail and supply chain sectors through his role
as financial director and chief executive officer of
Massdiscounters (a division of Massmart Holdings). He
has also served as a business manager at Clover SA and
spent seven years at SABMiller in senior financial roles.

Esmaré Weideman (55)
Esmaré has more than 25 years’ experience as a
journalist, political writer, news editor and editor at
some of the country’s most prestigious publications.
She was editor-in-chief of Media24’s flagship weekly
magazines, Huisgenoot, YOU and DRUM, before being
appointed Media24 chief executive officer in 2011.

Gugulethu Dingaan (41)
Gugulethu is an investment executive at WIPHOLD
responsible for growing and managing its investment
portfolio. She has a background in corporate finance with
specific focus on mergers and acquisitions, transaction
structuring and valuations. She is a director of Adcorp,
Distell and SA Corporate Real Estate Fund Managers.

Sandile Zungu (50)
Sandile is a non-executive director of, among others,
Grindrod Limited, EOH and Innovation Group. He
serves on the Presidential BEE Advisory Council and
represented South Africa on the BRICS Business Council.
Sandile was a member of the World Economic Forum in
his capacity as Young Global Leader. A few of the notable
positions he has previously held include chairman
of Barnard Jacobs Mellet Holdings and Denel, and
executive director of New Africa Investments.
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Bernard is a chartered accountant. He was an
assurance partner at the Johannesburg office of
PricewaterhouseCoopers (PwC), for more than 29 years.
He also fulfilled numerous roles in the management,
regulatory affairs and governance of PwC. Bernard was
on the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors’
inspection committee, and was PwC South Africa’s
registered liaison partner with the US Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board.

Cindy Hess (41)
Cindy joined Media24 as chief financial officer (CFO)
in November 2016 after holding the same position at
Pioneer Foods. Prior to this, Cindy served as financial
director at Sea Harvest for seven years and also held
senior financial positions at Woolworths and Transnet.

Keith Vroon (52)
Keith Vroon is the chief executive officer of
Novus Holdings. As a chartered accountant, Keith
began his career with the Paarl Media Group in 2004
as chief financial officer and was appointed as the
Group’s chief operating officer in 2012. He has
contributed to the significant evolution of Novus
Holdings over the years and is instrumental in driving
the business strategy of the Group.

Edrich Fivaz (36)
Edrich Fivaz is the chief financial officer of Novus Holdings.
He joined the company as Group financial accountant in
2007 and was promoted to financial manager at Paarl Print
in 2008. Edrich took on the role of business development
manager for the Group thereafter in 2009. In 2013, he
was appointed as Group head of mergers and acquisitions,
while also overseeing corporate finance. Edrich has played
an integral role in the diversification strategy of Novus
Holdings and, in March 2015, facilitated the successful
listing of the Group on the JSE.
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Abduraghman (Manie) Mayman (62)*

Fred Robertson (62)*

Manie was appointed as Media24 chief financial
officer in January 2014, having worked for the company
in several capacities previously. He is a chartered
accountant and holds a number of qualifications,
including a Certificate in Retail Marketing of Petroleum
Products from the College of Petroleum and Energy
Studies at Oxford. He worked for the BP Group for
nearly 22 years, the last four years as regional chief
financial officer Africa for BP’s Refining and Marketing
Operations in sub-Saharan Africa. He was the Oasis
Group chief financial officer before returning to
Media24 in October 2011.

Fred is the executive chairman and co-founder
of Brimstone Investment Corporation Limited. He is a
leading figure in the South African business community,
having gained experience through his directorships of
Remgro Limited, Aon Re Africa Proprietary Limited,
Old Mutual Emerging Markets Limited, Swiss Re
South Africa, and ASX-listed Mareterram Limited.
His non-executive chairmanships include Lion of
Africa Insurance Company Limited, Lion of Africa Life
Assurance Company Limited, Sea Harvest Limited and
House of Monatic.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

expertise to the board to ensure that a multi-faceted
approach and sound judgement are applied.

The board provides leadership and strategic direction to
the Group. While the board delegates the responsibility
of running the business to the CEO, the board
ultimately remains responsible for the sustainable
management of Novus Holdings, the implementation
of its strategy and its key policies. The board is also
responsible for approving Novus Holdings’ financial
objectives and targets.
One of the focal points of the board is to act as a
custodian of the corporate governance systems of
Novus Holdings.

COMPOSITION AND SIZE
In accordance with Novus Holdings’ board charter,
the Group has a unitary board structure that includes
a lead independent director. The board consisted of
11 members at year-end, which comprised two
executive directors and nine non-executive directors.
Six of the non-executive directors are also independent.
The board is structured to ensure that no individual
director has unrestricted powers of decision-making.
Appointments to the board follow a formal and
transparent procedure and are subject to shareholder
approval. The board also has the power to appoint
additional directors.
For further reference, read the board evaluation
on page 85.

Non-executive directors
With their diverse backgrounds, each of the nonexecutive directors brings a unique set of skills and

* Resigned effective 3 April 2017.

Executive directors
The company’s executive directors are involved in the
day-to-day business activities of the Group and are
responsible for ensuring that the decisions of the board
are implemented in accordance with the mandates
given by the board.

Independence of directors
The independent non-executive directors are fully
independent of management and are free to make
their own decisions. They enjoy no benefits from the
company other than their fees. They are free from any
business or other relationship which could be seen to
interfere materially with the individual’s capacity to act
in an independent manner.
The company’s non-executive directors are appointed
to provide an independent perspective with the
relevant industry experience, and to complement
the skills and experience of the executive directors in
assessing strategy, performance, risk, key performance
areas and conduct.

CHANGES TO THE BOARD
Keith Vroon was appointed as CEO of the Group
effective 29 July 2016, having performed the role
of acting CEO since 16 February 2016. Following
Edward van Niekerk’s resignation as CFO and executive
director of Novus Holdings effective 31 August 2016,
Edrich Fivaz was appointed as the CFO of the Group
effective 1 September 2016.
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CHANGES THAT CAME INTO EFFECT AFTER
YEAR-END
Fred Robertson assumed the role of interim chairman,
following the medical leave of absence since July 2016
and subsequent passing away on 25 January 2017 of
chairman and non-executive director, Lambert Retief.
Fred continued in this role until the appointment of
Neil Birch as new chairman.
Effective 3 April 2017, Neil Birch was appointed as
an independent, non-executive director and chairman
of the board and Fred Robertson stepped down
as lead independent non-executive director and
interim chairman.

Overview
In accordance with the JSE Listings Requirements, the
Group applied all the principles and recommendations
outlined in King III.
Find the full King III checklist on the Group’s
website at www.novus.holdings.

Company secretary

Neil Birch, who holds a BSc (Hons) Degree in
Mechanical/Industrial Engineering from the University
of Witwatersrand, entered the printing and packaging
industry in 1986 and was appointed as the Group
managing director of Lithotech in 1989. He then went
on to become the CEO at Bidvest Paperplus from 2006
to 2016. The board is confident that Neil Birch will add
significant value as the newly appointed chairman with
his extensive business and management experience.

The company secretary is responsible for providing the
board with guidance on discharging its responsibilities
in terms of legislation and regulatory requirements.
Directors have unlimited access to the advice and
services of the company secretary, who attends
all board and committee meetings. The company
secretary ensures that, in accordance with pertinent
laws, the proceedings and affairs of the board, the
company itself and, where appropriate, shareholders
are properly administered. The company secretary
is also the company’s delegated information officer.
The company secretary ensures adherence to closed
periods for trading in Novus Holdings’ shares.

Also effective 3 April 2017, current independent
non-executive director, Jan Potgieter, was appointed
as lead independent, non-executive director.
Abduraghman Mayman resigned as non-executive
director following his retirement as CFO at Media24
and was replaced by, Cindy Hess who was appointed
as non-executive director.

Following the resignation of Liesl Petersen in her
capacity as company secretary, Kilgetty Statutory
Services (Proprietary) Limited was appointed as
company secretary by Novus Holdings effective
1 August 2016. Novus Holdings is in the process of
recruiting a suitable in-house candidate to fill the
vacancy of company secretary.

ORIENTATION OF DIRECTORS
The company secretary co-ordinates the induction
programme for all newly appointed directors, which
includes a comprehensive overview of the company
and its history and all relevant reports, plans, charters
and policies. The orientation of directors is carried
out according to the Group’s orientation policy for
new members.
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STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE

In terms of the JSE Listings Requirements, the board
is required to consider and satisfy itself, on an annual
basis, as to the competence, qualifications and
experience of the company secretary. The board
conducted a formal evaluation of the company
secretary during the year and is satisfied that Kilgetty
Statutory Services have the necessary competence,
qualifications and experience to carry out the required
responsibilities of a secretary of a public company. The
board is furthermore satisfied that an arm’s-length
relationship exists between the company secretary and
the board. The directors are satisfied that the company
secretary provides a central source of guidance and
advice to the board as well as the company on matters
of good governance. The company secretary also acts
as secretary for the committees of the board.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

BOARD EVALUATION
The board charter makes provision for the evaluation to assess the effectiveness and performance of the board and
its committees on an annual basis. In 2017, the Novus Holdings Board Effectiveness Evaluation was under taken by
an independent external service provider. It was revealed that the board is well -respected and well balanced, and
has the relevant knowledge related to the Group’s business and its industry. The board assessment indicated that the
board is functioning well and discharging its oversight responsibility.

BOARD COMMITTEES
The Board delegates some of its functional responsibilities to its committees by means of clearly defined mandates.
These committees are:
−
−
−
−
−
−
1

Audit1
Risk
Remuneration
Social and ethics
Nominations
Investments
As of 8 June 2016, the audit and risk committee was split into two committees.

The committees report to the board on their respective directives and deliverables in accordance with each
committee’s board-approved charter on a continual basis. The committee charters, along with an annual work plan
relevant for each of the committees, are reviewed annually.

BOARD AND COMMITTEE MEETING ATTENDANCE
The board has a minimum of four scheduled meetings per financial year. Ad hoc meetings are held to consider
special business, if required.
Board
(scheduled)
4

RemunerAudit
ation
Risk
committee7 committee7 committee
2
3
2

1*

1

Social
and ethics
committee
2

Nominations
committee
1

Investment
committee8
1

2
2

1
1

1

2*

1*

1

Board of Directors
LP Retief1
N Birch
KA Vroon2
E Fivaz3
E van Niekerk4
E Weideman
A Mayman#
CJ Hess5
GP Dingaan
F Robertson6, #
SDM Zungu
BJ Olivier
JN Potgieter
CG Botha

4
2
1
3
4
1
3
3*
2
4
4
4

1
1
1
2

1*

3

*

2

2

2
2*
2

1

1
1

Medical leave of absence as of 12 July 2016 and sadly passed away on 25 January 2017.
Appointed as chief executive officer on 29 July 2016.
3
Appointed as CFO and executive director on 1 September 2016.
4
Resigned as CFO and executive director on 31 August 2016.
5
Appointed as non-executive director on 23 March 2017.
6
Appointed as interim independent non-executive chairman on 12 July 2016.
7
As of 8 June 2016, the audit and risk committee was split into two committees.
8
	Lambert Retief was chairman of this committee. The meeting was held while he was on medical leave of absence. Since Neil Birch was
appointed to the board, he was appointed chairman of the committee.
*
Chairman of committee.
#
Resigned effective 3 April 2017..
1
2
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Audit committee
*As of 8 June 2016, the audit and risk committee was
split into two committees an audit committee and a
risk committee.
The audit committee acts in compliance with
section 94(7) of the Companies Act. The non-statutory
functions of this committee are to assist the board with
discharging its duties related to the safeguarding of the
assets of Novus Holdings, the operation of adequate
systems, the formulation of internal controls and
control processes and the review and preparation of
accurate financial reporting and statements that are
in compliance with all applicable legal requirements,
corporate governance and accounting standards. The
audit committee also addresses statutory and regulatory
issues, including the nomination for appointment,
removal and replacement of the external auditors.
The audit committee is satisfied with Edrich Fivaz’
current expertise, experience and performance
as Novus Holdings’ CFO since his appointment in
September 2016. The committee furthermore reviewed
and reported to the board on the expertise, resources
and experience of the company’s finance function.
This committee comprises of three independent
non-executive directors. The chairman of the
committee is BJ Olivier and its members are CG Botha
and GP Dingaan. This committee remains unchanged
going into the new year.
For further information, refer to the Audit
Committee Report in the annual financial
statements.

Risk committee
The risk committee assists the board in ensuring that
there is an effective risk management process in place that
identifies and monitors the management of the key risks
facing Novus Holdings in an integrated and timely manner.
This includes ensuring that emerging risks are identified
and managed, assessing whether all new business
opportunities have been appropriately considered from
a risk perspective, reviewing the adequacy of the Group’s
insurance portfolios and reviewing the impact that
significant litigation could have on the Group.
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This committee comprise of three non-executive
directors and two executive directors. The chairperson
of this committee is GP Dingaan and its members are
CG Botha and CJ Hess in their capacity as non-executive
directors, and KA Vroon and E Fivaz in their capacity
as executive directors. In 2017, the committee included
A Mayman and was replaced by CJ Hess effective
3 April 2017 upon his resignation.
The risk and audit committee split into two committees
in June 2016. This allowed for a more dedicated focus
on specific areas of perceived risk, which includes
information technology, health and safety; insurance
and compliance.
For further information, refer to the Risk Report
on page 90.

Remuneration committee
The remuneration committee ensures that there is a
Group-wide adoption of remuneration policies, which
are aligned with the Group’s strategy and performance
in the long-and short-term. The remuneration
committee is also responsible for ensuring that
the remuneration strategy is market -related and
competitive, determining specific remuneration
packages for senior executives of the Group and
ensuring that remuneration for executives, which
includes their short-and long-term incentives, is based
on their performance. The remuneration committee
also ensures that the disclosure of the directors’
remuneration is accurate, complete and transparent.
The remuneration committee comprises of four
independent non-executive directors. The chairman
of this committee is BJ Olivier and its members are
CG Botha, NW Birch, and SDM Zungu. Moving into
2018, CG Botha replaces JN Potgieter and NW Birch has
replaced the late LP Retief.
For further information, refer to the
Remuneration Report on page 98.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Social and ethics committee

Investment committee

The social and ethics committee ensures that the
Group meets is obligations in terms of section 72 and
regulation 43 of the Companies Act. It monitors the
Group’s activities, with regards to matters of social and
economic development, good corporate citizenship,
the environment, health and public safety, consumer
relationships, employment, and codes of best practice.

The focus of the investment committee is aligned with
the Group’s strategy to expand and diversify its business.

In 2017, the social and ethics committee comprised
of three independent non-executive directors being
F Robertson, A Mayman and E Weideman. Going
forward, CJ Hess replaces A Mayman following his
retirement. A third member will be added to this
committee and, at that point, a chair will be voted in.
Key focus areas for 2017 included:
−
–
–

Monitoring improvements and progress with
B-BBEE closely through management scorecards.
Ensuring the follow-through of the ethics
awareness campaign.
Approving and introducing the gender diversity
policy and specified targets.

Nominations committee
The nominations committee was formed on 8 June 2016,
since the remuneration committee had ceased to fulfil
this role in the governance of the Group. The focus of
the nominations committee is to evaluate the board
and the committees in terms of their effectiveness.
This committee has also been mandated to review
the composition and size of the board in context of
Novus Holdings’ strategy.
There are currently three independent non-executives
on this committee. Going forward, NW Birch will serve
on this committee taking over from LP Retief, BJ Olivier
will continue on the committee and JN Potgieter will take
over from F Robertson.

The investment committee is mandated with seeking
new opportunities for the Group. This committee
is focused on ensuring that such investments and
acquisitions are strategically aligned with the business
of selling manufactured products into South Africa and
other African territories.
In 2017, this committee comprised of F Robertson,
CG Botha, LP Retief and A Mayman. A new committee
has been formed and comprises of NW Birch
(committee chairman), CG Botha and SDM Zungu,
including and CJ Hess who replaces A Mayman. An
additional member will also be added to this committee
on filling the vacant seat on the board.
The investment committee does not have a formal
meeting schedule and meets as often as is required
or desirable, having regard to the matters that fall
within its mandate.
Legal and compliance
The board must ensure that the Group complies with
all laws and adopted, non-binding rules, codes and
standards in a way that supports ethical and responsible
corporate citizenship. In August 2016, the board
adopted the Legal Compliance Policy, which embodies
Novus Holdings’ commitment to conduct its business in
accordance with applicable laws, rules, codes, standards
and regulations. The board recognises the need for a
dedicated individual in this area. In November 2016, a
Group Executive: Legal and Compliance was appointed to
oversee the implementation and execution of effective
compliance management within the Group.

The nominations committee was responsible for
identifying and nominating, for the approval of the board,
candidates to fill the board vacancies that arose in 2017.
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CASE STUDY

DEDICATED FUNCTIONS AND TASK TEAMS

The Novus Holdings senior management team is responsible for the day-to-day running of the business. This
team comprises members of Group and divisional senior management and meets weekly to assess operational
performance and strategy.
There are a number of task teams comprising senior management members that have been formed and assigned
the responsibility in order of establishing best practice across the business. The two task teams referenced for the
purpose of this report are the ethics task team and the procurement task team.
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Ethics task team

–	This team was established in 2015 as a result
of an ethics and fraud awareness survey, which
highlighted that there was only a basic awareness
of such matters among members of staff.
–	The ethics task team set out a strategy to achieve
the following:
•	Encourage all employees to champion ethics
awareness.
•	Create an open environment/transparency in
the workplace.
• Increase staff education efforts.
•	Ensure members of staff understand all
policies and procedures in place.
•	Review internal systems and processes and
identify areas of weakness in to address.
– This team is focused on:
•	Monitoring the current programme to uncover
fraud, corruption and unethical behaviour,
namely Whistle-blower.
•	Continuing Novus Holdings use of OpenLine
reporting facility. This is a confidential
reporting service for employees, business
partners and other stakeholders of the
company that is independently managed by
Deloitte Tip-offs Anonymous. Each report
made is relayed to executive management
and investigated with feedback to Deloitte,
to be provided to the whistle-blower, if
required.
•	Encouraging employees to participate by
driving regular communication on internal
controls and systems, increasing internal
education efforts, and conducting annual
ethical awareness surveys.
•	Ensuring the ethics awareness campaign is
regular and relevant.
•	Ensuring that the Novus Holdings’ Code of
Business Ethics and Conduct handbook is
regularly communicated to staff.

Procurement task team

–	The procurement task team was established in
2017 with the aim to:
•	Evaluate existing procurement controls and
practices within the business and identify areas
that require improvement.
•	Ensure all procurement activities are conducted
in the best interests of the Group and aligned
with best practice governance guidelines
(including the principles set out in the Novus
Holdings Code of Business Ethics and Conduct).
•	Drive preferential procurement practices within
the Group in support of Broad-based Black
Economic Empowerment (B-BBEE) compliance.
–	The team set out a strategy to achieve
the following:
•	Implement measures to improve identified
weak areas.
•	Establish practices to reduce procurement
risks.
•	Develop and affect the implementation
of a sound procurement policy.
		 •	A phased approach was adopted with
the roll-out of the policy and employees
were encouraged to provide feedback,
thereby ensuring that a comprehensive and
practical policy was achieved.
•	Increase employee education about the
importance of procurement controls and
processes.
–	The newly established Procurement Policy has
assisted the business thus far by:
•	Promoting effective and efficient procurement
processes.
•	Providing guiding principles to ensure that the
Group’s procurement objectives are achieved.
–	A targeted communications campaign was
launched in May 2017 with the aim to:
•	Create awareness of the new procurement
policy.
		 •	This includes regular correspondence
to targeted employees in the finance
departments unpacking important sections
within the policy.
		 •	The creation of an e-learning module
for employees.
•	Encourage employees to uphold effective
procurement practices within the Group to
increase and protect the profitability of the
business.
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RISK REPORT
The Novus Holdings board is responsible for the
governance of risk and mandates the risk committee
to monitor risk management, which includes the
assessment of risk management processes and plans.
A risk register of significant risks facing the Group is
maintained, and actions to manage these risks within
the board-approved ranges of tolerance are monitored.
The Novus Holdings enterprise-wide risk management
framework is designed to ensure that significant risks
and related incidents are identified, documented,
managed, monitored and reported in a consistent
and structured manner across the Group. This
framework is modelled on the committee of the
Sponsoring Organisations of the Treadway Commission
Framework for Enterprise-wide Risk Management
(COSO ERM), as well as the internationally accepted
COBIT framework for the governance of information
technology. The risk management process is subject
to continual improvement.
As a leader in print and manufacturing, operating in
a competitive and dynamic market, the Group is
exposed to a wide range of risks. Identifying risks and
drafting plans to manage these risks on both a strategic
and an operational level form part of each division’s
business plan.
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Read more about Novus Holdings’ strategic
risks in the Operating environment and Material
matters section from page 24.
During the past year, Novus Holdings undertook various
risk control assessments at all of its facilities, which
were used to improve the risk management processes
at each site.
An integral part of the risk-control process is the
commitment, guidance and leadership provided by
the senior management at site level, including regular
auditing by the Novus Holdings Group SHERQ manager.
External risk audits are conducted annually.
The risk control audits included an on-site survey
of each operation and a detailed document review,
covering the following disciplines:
−
−
−
−
−
−

Management/risk control organisation
Fire defence
Engineering practices
Security
Emergency planning
Motor fleet (including forklifts)

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The following table summarises the top risks that the Group faced during the past financial year, with
mitigating actions:
Risk description

Actions to mitigate

Declining print orders (operational)
−

−

 rint orders are shrinking and pagination
P
is declining in the traditional market for
magazines and newspapers, which could have
a negative effect on cost efficiencies.
The loss of a significant client (such as the DBE
workbook tender) would have a significant
impact on financial results.

−

−

There is an ongoing emphasis on unlocking synergies
across the Group, focusing on standardisation as far as
possible.
There is continuous focus on efficiency, agility and ensuring
the Group matches capacity to demand.

Missed technological advances (strategic)
−
−
−

T he Group operates in fiercely competitive
and maturing markets.
Technological advances will have a significant
impact on the sustainability of Novus Holdings.
There is a risk that Novus Holdings may miss
technological opportunities.

−
−

−

−

Continued focus on client retention, value-for-money
offerings and satisfaction.
Focus on third-party business and diversification of
business offering in product range and geography e.g.
Novus Holdings extending into other African markets,
rationalising printing plants and strengthening its position
in KZN.
To mitigate the risk of maturing book markets in
South Africa, the Group is expanding its involvement in
the African school book market.
Investing in machinery for tissue manufacturing and
additional equipment to expand in labels, flexibles and
digital printing markets.

Market developments influencing media consumption (strategic)
−

T he Group is sensitive to geopolitical and
market developments, especially regarding
local political, economic and other events,
which may influence the consumption
of media.

−
−

Novus Holdings continuously monitors the global and
South African situation, as well as relevant indicators.
Novus Holdings work closely with clients, which assists
the Group to adapt to changing business models in light
of shifting media consumption trends.

Increased competition (strategic)
−

−

T here are new competitors in the market
and: anti-competitive behaviour from
existing competitors.
In South Africa, Novus Holdings operates
in a highly competitive market. This can
make acquisitions challenging, as market
conditions can create unreasonable
expectations among sellers.

−

−
−

Novus Holdings continuously explore ways to enhance
the quality of its offering and further exploration of its
target market.
The Group monitor events in local and international
markets, including shifts in market share.
The Group continuously investigates diversification
opportunities.
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Risk description

Actions to mitigate

Regulatory pressure (strategic and regulatory)
−

 ovus Holdings has seen an increase in
N
regulatory pressure. This is largely due to
a rise in Competition Commission matters
related to the Group’s merger (and the
unbundling condition), as well as the Group’s
size within the South African printing industry

−

−

The Group engages with legal specialists in defence of the
Competition Commission cases and complies with the
relevant legislation and rulings of the Commission.
Alternative growth opportunities are pursued.

Infrastructure failure (operational)
−

−

Infrastructure failure could disrupt significant
parts of the business, which could result in a
loss of revenue.
This risk includes the possible failure of key
infrastructure components, such as the
following:
•
•
•
•

a sudden, unforeseen event affecting
access to main centres.
Eskom power supply outages.
water shortages and insufficient water
pressure.
A failure of IT infrastructure at the main
centres (as a result of an accident or
cybercrime/-security incident.

−
−
−
−

Complete backup processes are in place.
Disaster recovery is complete.
Business continuity plans documented for the Group
which are revised annually.
Specific response to cybersecurity as follows:
•

•
−
−

Process to address people (security awareness
and training), process (security assessment and
remediation plan) and technology (email security and
next generation firewall).
Annual review of policies and procedures.

Generators area installed at all plants, except Correll Tissue.  
Installation of water tanks and pumps to increase
pressure.

Unionised strike action (operational)
−

 nionised strike action among employees
U
−
could result in an interruption of operations, −
which could in turn lead to a loss of income as −
well as possible physical damage to assets.
−
−

The Group communicates regularly with labour unions.
Good conditions of employment are maintained.
Terms and conditions of employment have been
standardised.
Short-term insurance is in place in the form of SASRIA1
and riot wrap-around2.
The Group implemented a minimum wage policy.

Health and safety non-compliance (operational and compliance)
−

S erious injury or death while on duty caused
by an incident at one of the Group’s facilities
as a result of non-compliance with
the Occupational Health and Safety Act
(SA OH&S Act) may lead to criminal liability,
fines and penalties for the company,
its directors and/or its officers.

−
−

−
−
−

1
2
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The Group performs regular health and safety reviews.
The consequences of non-compliance to the
SA OH&S Act are communicated to management
and remedial action is taken where appropriate.
Ongoing training of relevant employees.
Short-term insurance includes financial compensation to
employees in the case of death or serious injury on duty.
The fire prevention and containment strategy includes:
early warning detection systems and alarms, sprinkler
systems, additional water tanks, pressure pumps, hydrant
systems and fire doors.

SASRIA: South African Special Risks Insurance Association – insure assets damaged as a result of employee-related unrest.
Riot wrap around – insures loss of income as a result of employee-related unrest.
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Risk description

Actions to mitigate

Talent and skills shortages (operational)
−
−

The availability of top talent is a concern.
T he Group could be unable to attract and
retain top-quality employees.

−
−

Talent management strategies are in place.
The Novus Academy offers technical and non-technical
training to employees.
− Succession planning is in place.
Read more about Novus Holdings’ remuneration policy on the
company’s website www.novus.holdings

Environmental harm caused by operations (operational)
−

 aterials used during the course of
M
operations may harm the environment.
These include:
•
•
•
•
•

e lectricity
water
paper
fluids
harmful gasses

−

The Group’s CO2 emissions are measured and published
in the integrated report.
− Paper across the Group is recycled.
− Waste is disposed of in a responsible manner.
− Levels of toluene recovery are monitored at
gravure printing plants (Paarl Media Cape).
− Suitable paper waste is used by Correll Tissue.
Read more about how Novus Holdings manages its use of its
natural capital in the Operations report, from page 66.

Volatile exchange rate and impact on costs (operational and financial)
−

−

T he Group has substantial input costs in
foreign currency, specifically with respect
to the procurement of paper and printing
equipment.
The movements in currency against the
rand are unpredictable and could result in
significant losses.

−

−
−

The Group has a policy in place that governs the
management of foreign currency risk through forward
exchange contracts. This policy aims to limit the financial
impact and uncertainty that results from unpredicted
currency movements.
At present the Group covers future paper imports on
a stepped basis.
Capital expenditure and other expenses are covered
when the orders are placed, based on the payment
schedule.

Supplier insolvencies and impact on maintenance (operational)
−

 aintenance service and expertise from
M
suppliers of printing machinery and other
crucial equipment could be under threat due
to recent insolvencies.

−
−
−

Where continuous service and maintenance is uncertain,
expertise must be transferred in-house.
Maintenance agreements are in place with major
equipment manufacturers.
Sufficient spare parts kept as stock to ensure ready
availability.

B-BBEE non-compliance and inadequate B-BBEE level (strategic and compliance)
−

−
−

 ovus Holdings is a South African company
N
−
and is required to comply with all relevant
B-BBEE legislation.
New B-BBEE thresholds took effect in
May 2015.
As Novus Holdings had previously participated
in and shared the Media24 scorecard, this now
requires renewed focus from the Group on all
elements of the scorecard.

All business units have specific B-BBEE targets in their
current business plans. Employment equity, skills
development, social investment, procurement spend and
enterprise development are tracked.
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Risk description

Actions to mitigate

Legal non-compliance (compliance and financial)
−

−
−

 ovus Holdings’ could potentially fail to
N
comply with legislation concerning:
• Taxation (income, VAT, PAYE)
• SA OH&S Act of 1973
• Companies Act
• Labour Relations Act
• National Credit Act
• Protection of Personal Information
Bill (POPI)
• Competition Act
• Consumer Protection Act
• JSE Listings Requirements, The Financial
Markets Act and related legislation.
The competition commission could conduct
investigations.
Non-compliance with legislation could result in:
•
•
•
•
•

−
−
−
−

Specific compliance procedures are in place, either
electronically in the application or by monitoring.
Appointment of in-house counsel.
Directors and officer liability insurance is in place.
Policy adopted in relation to trading in securities that sets
out under which conditions representatives may deal in
securities and the requirements that apply.

f ines
interest
penalties
jail sentencing
directors and/or officers liability

Credit risk (financial)
−
−
−

 redit that is disproportionate to the risk
C
of non-payment may be extended to clients.
Export transactions have a higher risk of
non-payment due to the costliness and
complexity of recovering foreign debt.
Export transactions may result in delayed
payment due to liquidity issues in the country
of export.

−

−
−

Credit applications are subject to a vetting process and
must be signed off by the relevant financial manager or
financial director.
Debtors’ age analyses are monitored monthly and
corrective action is taken where necessary.
Payment from clients in African countries (excluding
South Africa) must be secured by an irrevocable letter
of credit (tender policy for Government and Africa print
work). The exception to this is where the credit application
and vetting process shows an acceptable level of risk.

Non-compliance with IFRS (financial)
−

−

 ccounting matters may arise due to
A
changes in International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) and International Standards
on Auditing (ISA).
These changes may require significant
changes to the annual financial statements
disclosure and accounting recognition in the
Group’s records. Changes could include:
•
•
•
•
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IFRS 15 – Revenue from contracts with
clients
Leasing project
IFRS 9 – Classification and measurement
of financial instruments
The treatment of share-based payments

−

−
−

A central finance team regularly attends industry and
accounting training to remain up to date. The Group
holds ongoing discussions with a qualified third-party
regarding the potential impact of any changes on
Novus Holdings.
Regular update and review of the goodwill impairment
calculation across all entities.
A specific exercise is performed every year by
management to determine the appropriateness of the
useful economic lives, residual values and realisable
values to items of plant and machinery within the Group.
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IT GOVERNANCE REPORT
OVERVIEW
Information Technology (IT) is essential to managing the
transactions, information and knowledge inherent in
the operations of Novus Holdings, and is fundamental
to supporting, sustaining and expanding the business.
The Novus Holdings’ board is responsible for the
governance of IT as is required by King III.
The company, with the assistance of management,
ensures that all IT processes that are in place are
aligned to the performance and sustainability
objectives of the board, with the IT governance policy
forming part of the IT governance framework.
Novus Holdings operates according to a set of principal
systems that are centralised for the Group and
supported by a core team. Plant-specific as well as
desktop support is done on-site.

PROGRESS IN 2017
Ongoing detailed reviews of and adjustments to
Novus Holdings’ IT processes and architecture
provide sustained improvements in IT audit controls
and compliance. These comprehensive reviews and
modifications have further resulted in a dramatic
reduction in IT incidents, thereby ensuring virtually
uninterrupted business continuity.
The increase in formalised IT Service Management
concentration, particularly on data accuracy and
service management processes, facilitated improved
reporting and trend analyses of all IT-related incidents
and changes. Testing procedures as well as change
controls were firmed up across the entire business.
This has allowed the IT department to identify and
reduce preventable system outages, particularly those
pertaining to critical and high-business-impact systems,
thereby allowing the team to focus on improving the
overall stability and performance of the environment.
Substantial gains in the stability and performance of
core applications including the business intelligence
platforms and the drop in emergency changes are clear
indicators validating the Group’s approach.

In 2017, Deloitte as the Group’s internal auditing
firm conducted an audit on EFI’s Monarch™
application, an industry-leading print and packaging
enterprise resource planning (ERP) system which was
implemented at the Group’s Paarl Media Cape division
on 1 February 2016. This was the first audit conducted
on selected key IT controls addressing key risks
regarding data recoverability, logical access, user access
and change management. Effectiveness testing covered
the period from 1 April 2016 to 31 December 2016
and revealed that internal controls were adequate and
operating effectively for a newly introduced application.
Monarch™ was further implemented in the Novus
Print Solutions division in August 2016 and the Group
will continue to roll out the application as the core ERP
system throughout all applicable divisions in 2018 as
per the project plan.
During the past year, the support phase of EFI’s Radius,
which offers an industry-specific solution that fits with
the Group’s label management requirements, was
completed.
Focus was also placed on business intelligence
optimisation, new hardware acquisition (in order to
increase reliability and stability), as well as capacity
expansion.

PLANS FOR 2018
In the next financial year, the Group plans to strengthen
its focus on business intelligence and data warehousing.
Reviews and modifications of Novus Holdings’ IT
processes and architecture will continue to be
implemented on a regular basis. Investments will also
be made to enhance relevant training material.
Novus Holdings will strengthen security software
and compliance measures across the Group, thereby
ensuring regular cybersecurity assessments are made
to address potential as well as existing vulnerabilities.
These processes will continue to be overseen by the
IT Risk and Compliance Manager.
As the board embraces the new principles
of King IV™, the Group is making preparations to align
its IT governance practices accordingly.
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IT RISKS
The following are the most significant risks and
associated mitigation actions related to IT:
–

–
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Business continuity and analysis – testing
procedures are further optimised with continuous
improvements being made to backup energygeneration facilities across the Group as new
architecture is developed to ensure no interruptions
are made to core and priority systems.
Security – the protection of information,
particularly information on portable devices is
managed through a data network and supported
by user training. This includes firewall reviews, as
well as restructuring in line with new threats and to
secure ongoing stability.

–

–

Software failure – programmes are tested rigorously
prior to sign-off and implementation, and are
supported by ongoing software maintenance.
Key resources – a succession plan for key resources,
as well as the continuous and active transfer of
skills both internally and from service providers,
has been implemented.

REPORTING AND CONTROLS
The IT function of Novus Holdings forms part
of the chief information officer’s responsibilities.
The board receives monthly as well as quarterly reports
on IT projects, and approves all significant investments
in and expenditure of IT systems. IT governance is
monitored by the risk committee, with a report back
function to the board. The Group has conducted
successful internal audit assessments on an annual
basis since 2011.
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CASE STUDY

COMBATING CYBERTHREATS IN THE WORKPLACE

IT is integral to Novus Holdings’ business operations as
it facilitates both internal and external communication.
However, cyberattacks and threats to IT are increasing
in frequency and intensity.

−

A successful cyberattack could result in significant
financial loss for the Group due to the theft of sensitive
corporate or financial information or company
intelligence. Cyberattacks could further damage
the Group’s business reputation and erode client or
employee trust, particularly if personal details are
compromised.

Some of the security topics covered included:

In order to create awareness around cybersecurity
and its associated risks, Group IT launched an internal
communications campaign entitled “Getting to know
IT” in October 2016, which in coincided with Cyber
Security Awareness Month.

−

−
−
−
−
−
−

Address a range of IT-related topics and unpack
IT-related terminology in order to facilitate a
greater understanding of IT among employees.
Enforce the Group’s IT acceptable usage policy.

Password protection
USB security
Phishing (for which simulations were implemented)
Spam
Whaling
Email spoofing

Regular campaign communication is shared with
employees and implementation will continue in 2018.

The campaign aims to:
−

−

Educate employees through highlighting the
importance of responsible IT practices and
procedures.
Share helpful user guidelines, including the
correct usage of IT.
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REMUNERATION REPORT
PART 1: LETTER FROM THE CHAIRMAN OF
THE REMUNERATION COMMITTEE TO
THE SHAREHOLDERS
It is with great pleasure that I present Novus Holdings’
King IVTM remuneration report for the year ended
31 March 2017. We have taken significant steps to
align this report to the King IV TM Report on Corporate
Governance (King IVTM) as well as the Johannesburg
Stock Exchange (JSE) Listings Requirements.
This report sets out the remuneration philosophy,
policy, principles and salient features, which are
mainly applicable to the chief executive officer (CEO),
executive directors and executives (collectively
referred to as the members of executive management),
non-executive directors and senior management.
In line with King IVTM, the overarching theme
of the remuneration policy is to give effect to
the remuneration committee’s direction on fair,
responsible and transparent remuneration. Where
appropriate we have also addressed, at a high level,
remuneration arrangements for employees below
executive management level. As in previous years, the
remuneration policy continues to be guided by Novus
Holdings’ business strategy of diversification to reduce
the reliance on the core business of printing.
More details on the progress made in realising
the business strategy can be found in our Group
growth strategy and business model report on
page 33 of this report.

Context
It has been a turbulent year for the South African
economy, and several events have affected local
businesses, not the least of which was the slow
pace of economic growth. On a national level, the
manufacturing sector was also affected by unfavourable
macroeconomic conditions, which led to it being
identified as the second largest negative contributor to
growth in South Africa’s gross domestic product (GDP)
by Statistics South Africa recently. Novus Holdings also
reflected some positive financial results, such as the
fact that our revenue from diversification initiatives
increased by 39,9% to R359 million. As indicated in our
Leadership report, the Group will focus on extending its
leadership position in the printing industry, while actively
pursuing acquisition and diversification opportunities.
More detail on our annual performance is set out
in the Leadership report on page 48 of this report.
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This year, we bade farewell to our board chairman
Lambert Retief who passed away on 25 January 2017.
Lambert was a pioneer of the company, and Novus
Holdings will be forever grateful for his contribution to
the success of the business.

Forward-looking changes to the
remuneration policy
The activities of the remuneration committee, including
the significant decisions made in the 2017 financial
year, are summarised below.
–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–
–

–

–

We began conducting a comprehensive job grading
exercise in the 2017 financial year, with assistance
from PwC.
The Share Appreciation Rights (SAR) scheme and
Restricted Share Plan (RSP) were tabled before
shareholders and approved at the Annual General
Meeting held on 23 September 2016. The first
allocation of awards in terms of these two plans
will be made in the 2018 financial year.
The Group also consolidated its executive and
senior management structure from the
Paterson E-band and above.
The remuneration committee discussed and
streamlined the metrics that form part of the
balanced scorecards for executive directors,
and reviewed the basis of calculating their
remuneration based thereon.
The short-term incentive (STI) allocations and
payments for the 2017 financial year were
finalised, including the second-tier bonuses for
sales executives.
Increases in the guaranteed packages for
members of executive management were
considered and approved.
Shareholder feedback on the remuneration policy
for the 2017 financial year was considered, and
responses to queries raised by the shareholders
were prepared.
The remuneration committee introduced an
internal minimum wage across the Group.
The remuneration report for the 2017 financial
year was reviewed and approved, including the
adoption of many material elements of King IVTM
as they relate to remuneration reporting.
The remuneration policy, philosophy, strategy
and policies for the Novus Holdings Group were
reviewed to ensure that they are in line with
King IVTM and market best practice.
The outcomes of the 2016/2017 remuneration
policy were reviewed to ensure that the set
objectives of the policy had been achieved.
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–

–

–

–

–

–

The aggregate pay mix for the executive directors
was reviewed to ensure that it meets the Group’s
needs and strategic objectives.
The remuneration committee ensured that
all benefits, including retirement benefits and
other financial arrangements, were justified and
correctly valued.
The Group’s incentive schemes, and the vesting
schedules, were reviewed to ensure that they
continue to contribute to shareholder value and that
they were administered in terms of the plan rules.
The early vesting of SAR awards for employees who
terminated their employment in the 2017 financial
year was considered.
An appropriate increase for non-executive director
fees was considered and approved for the 2018
financial year (to be tabled before shareholders for
approval at the 2017 Annual General Meeting).
The terms of executive directors’ service
agreements were reviewed against market practice
and the needs of the business.

Element of the
remuneration policy
Total guaranteed pay
(TGP)

–

–

The chairman of the remuneration committee
attended the 2016 Annual General Meeting to
answer any queries regarding the remuneration
policy or its implementation in the 2016
financial year.
The remuneration committee considered the
current industry and general best practice trends
in remuneration, with input from its independent
advisors where appropriate.
The succession plan for the CEO and chief financial
officer (CFO) respectively was reviewed in line with
best practice and the long-term business strategy
of Novus Holdings.

The remuneration committee has made several
changes to the remuneration policy which will apply
from the 2018 financial year onwards, and will
constitute the areas of focus for Novus Holdings
in the 2018 financial year.

Forward-looking change

Rationale

The remuneration committee
will consider the introduction
of a minimum wage.

This is part of the company’s approach to fair and
responsible remuneration. The proposed minimum
wage for different categories of employees
is articulated under the “fair and responsible
remuneration” section below.
The company serves to meet the market median.Outliers
(i.e. employees whose guaranteed packages exceed the
pay scale for their particular grade) will in future receive
two-thirds of their normal annual increase until their
remuneration is phased into the appropriate salary
band. A phased approach will be adopted for employees
who are below the pay scale for their grade.
Employees at Paterson D3 band and above, as well
as selected line management and specialists (at the
discretion of the CEO), may participate in the ACI pool,
subject to their meeting any applicable performance
conditions. In order to qualify, the Group must achieve
its target, and the individual must achieve a minimum
of 50% and 70% performance measured against the
metrics on his or her balanced scorecards for on-target
and outperformance respectively.
Female employees who are on maternity leave for
part of the financial year will participate fully in the
ACI scheme.
Ad hoc production bonuses will be limited to a 13th
cheque. Whenever the discretionary bonus exceeds
this amount, the individual will have to participate in
the Group ACI scheme.

Increases for employees
whose remuneration falls
outside of the relevant salary
band.

Short-term incentive
(STI)

–

Annual Cash Incentive (ACI)
participation for qualifying
employees.

ACIs for female employees
on maternity leave.
Discretionary bonuses and
production bonus schemes.
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The following table sets out the future areas of focus for the remuneration committee in the 2018 financial year.
Element of the
remuneration policy

Area of focus

Details

Long-term incentive
(LTI)

Reviewing the current allocation
methodology.

Novus Holdings will consider awarding SARs on the
basis of an appropriate percentage of guaranteed
package on a rolling annual basis, in light of the
potential volatility of large once-off awards. RSPs
will be awarded on a case-by-case basis to key talent
below executive committee (ExCo).
Novus Holdings may consider best market practice
from time to time on LTI allocations (taking into
account its current trading cycle) as well as other
mechanisms to address key critical retention
requirements.
Novus Holdings will consider whether it would be
appropriate to introduce a BSP and a co-investment
plan. The parameters of and participation in these
plans will be examined in more detail in the 2018
financial year, in consultation with the shareholders.

Retention of key employees.

Introduction of bonus share plan
(BSP) and co-investment plan.

The remuneration committee is confident that the
remuneration policy will achieve its objective of
furthering the company’s long-term business strategy
of decreasing its reliance on the printing business
and diversifying its operations.
During the year, the remuneration committee received
advice and guidance from PwC on the LTI plan in terms
of best practice and corporate governance standards,
and is satisfied that PwC is a sufficiently independent
and objective remuneration advisor. Novus Holdings
also uses PwC’s REMchannel® to grade members
of executive management, senior management,
management and specialists, and thereafter determine
and benchmark their remuneration accordingly.
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Shareholder engagement
We engaged with shareholders regarding the
remuneration policy and the policy received a
favourable vote of 92,37% at the 2016 Annual General
Meeting (with 7,63% of shareholders voting against the
policy, and 2,50% abstaining).
As in previous years, Novus Holdings engaged
extensively with its shareholders regarding the
remuneration policy. The results of the shareholder
engagement are set out below. As Novus Holdings did
not have 25% or more of its shareholders voting against
the remuneration policy, we have not disclosed the
names of the investors or how we engaged with them
in 2017.
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Shareholder concern

Response from the remuneration committee

Awards under the Novus Holdings Share
Trust do not require the satisfaction of
predetermined performance conditions prior
to vesting.

The remuneration committee will continue to review market
best practice pertaining to performance conditions and will
continue to engage with all shareholders in this regard.

The total number of shares which can be
utilised under the LTI schemes is beyond the
recommended limit.

The shareholder-approved dilution limit is 10% of issued
share capital, which accords with general market practice in
South Africa. The Share Trust has only been issued with 7%
of the share capital for utilisation of LTI allocations, however
sufficient headroom is available and Novus is committed
to a prudent approach in relation to dilution. See the
implementation report on page 110 for granular detail in this
regard.

Remuneration of the chairman of the board
is outside of the expected/market-related
remuneration.

The remuneration committee has taken steps to address this
by benchmarking the remuneration of the newly appointed
chairman against the market by looking at companies of a
similar size in a similar sector. This has led to a decrease of 34%
in the proposed chairman’s fee for the 2017/2018 year.

Voting
As in previous years, we will put our remuneration
policy (as set out in part 2) to a non-binding
shareholder vote at the Annual General Meeting that
will be held on 18 August 2017. In line with King IV™,
we will also put our implementation report (as set out
in part three) to a separate non-binding vote at the
Annual General Meeting. More detail around the voting
procedures is set out in part 2 of this report, as well as
in our remuneration policy document. We have taken
significant steps towards aligning our remuneration
report to King IVTM as an early adopter, including (but

not limited to) formally adopting a three-part report,
and including a section in part 2 that sets out our
arrangements towards achieving fair and responsible
remuneration across the Group. We ask that you show
your support by voting in favour of both resolutions,
and we also encourage you to proactively engage with
us on our remuneration policy and how we can further
drive the pursuit of shareholder value.
Bernard Olivier
Chairman of the remuneration committee
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PART 2: REMUNERATION POLICY

Governance and the remuneration committee

Remuneration philosophy

The remuneration committee is a subcommittee of
the board and operates under terms of reference,
which the board reviews annually. It was established
to ensure that our remuneration practices support
Novus Holdings’ strategic aims and in doing so attract
and retain executives and employees at all levels
successfully, while complying with all relevant legal and
regulatory requirements. The remuneration committee
also evaluates and remunerates the CEO and oversees
the evaluation and remuneration of members of
executive management, non-executive directors and
senior management which is ultimately approved by
the board and shareholders.

The remuneration policies are designed to achieve the
alignment between Novus Holdings’ business strategy
and the behaviour of the CEO and other members of
executive management, non-executive directors and
senior management and to ensure that the right skills
are attracted and retained. Furthermore, it aims to
ensure short-term success and long-term sustainability,
while maintaining and reinforcing entrepreneurship and
team spirit –
key points of Novus Holdings’ corporate culture.
Novus Holdings aims to reward employees in a manner
which is fair, responsible and transparent, is reflective of
both company and individual performance and which
rewards each employee in line with their individual
contribution to the company’s success.
Novus Holdings’ strategic objectives are set out
in the integrated report. The composition of each
remuneration package reflects and rewards the
achievement of these objectives.
The remuneration policy is available on
the Novus Holdings website at
www.novus.holdings/governance.

Key principles of the remuneration policy
To create a performance culture and align the interests
of management with the interests of stakeholders
through value creation, the reward strategy is geared
to make a sizeable percentage of total pay at risk and
link it to the achievement of targets which are based on
company and individual performance. The policy strives
to achieve a fair and sustainable balance between the
guaranteed package, STIs and LTIs.
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The remuneration committee is responsible
for overseeing and recommending to the board for
approval the Novus Holdings reward philosophy, policy,
remuneration mix and the implementation thereof.
In line with best practice, the majority of the members
of the remuneration committee are independent
non-executive directors.
The remuneration committee actively engages with
independent advisors and stakeholders to ensure
that the remuneration philosophy, policy, strategy
and practices are aligned with best practice and the
strategic imperatives of Novus Holdings.
The remuneration structure for employees below
senior management is determined and approved
by the respective Group executives after consultation
with the CEO and the Group executive: human
resources in terms of a mandate that it receives
from the remuneration committee.
The remuneration committee chairman formally
reports to the board on the proceedings of the
remuneration committee and attends the Annual
General Meeting to respond to any shareholder
questions relating to the reward strategy and
remuneration paid during the year.
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Members of the remuneration committee
The members of the remuneration committee for the 2017 financial year were:
Member

Designation

Mr BJ Olivier (chairman)
Mr JN Potgieter
Mr LP Retief1
Mr SDM Zungu

Independent non-executive director
Independent non-executive director
Non-executive director
Independent non-executive director

1

Mr LP Retief passed away on 25 January 2017.

The CEO, the Group executive: human resources,
Ms E Weideman and Mr A Mayman attend
remuneration committee meetings by invitation.
However, they do not participate in the voting process,
nor are they involved when matters relating to their
own remuneration are discussed. PwC has been
engaged as Novus Holdings’ independent advisor
and attends remuneration committee meetings in an
advisory capacity as and when required. The company
secretary acts as the secretary to the remuneration
committee.
The remuneration committee attendance
record for the 2017 financial year is set out on
page 86 of the corporate governance report.

Responsibilities and duties of the
remuneration committee
The responsibilities of the remuneration committee are
summarised as follows:
–

–

–

Annual review of the Group’s reward philosophy,
strategy and policies (including recruitment,
retention and termination policies) for members
of executive management to enable the Group
to attract and retain executives and directors
who will create value for shareholders.
Oversee the establishment of a remuneration
policy that will promote the achievement of
strategic objectives and encourage individual
performance.
Annual review of the basis of calculation of the
remuneration paid to members of executive
management to ensure that it is reasonable
when taking into account the measurement of
performance against predetermined and
agreed criteria.

–

–

–

–

–

–

–
–

–

–
–

Ensure that any remuneration policies fairly and
responsibly reward executives, taking into account
the performance of the Group, the performance
of the executive and prevailing remuneration
trends in the market.
Review the outcomes of the implementation of the
remuneration policy to determine whether the set
objectives are being achieved.
Ensure that the mix of fixed and variable pay,
in cash, shares and other elements, meets the
Group’s needs and strategic objectives.
Satisfy itself as to the accuracy of recorded
performance measures that govern the vesting
of incentives.
Ensure that all benefits, including retirement
benefits and other financial arrangements, are
justified and correctly valued.
Consider the evaluation results of the CEO’s
performance and other members of executive
management, both as directors and as executives,
in determining remuneration.
Select an appropriate comparator group when
comparing remuneration levels.
Regularly review incentive schemes presented by
management to ensure continued contribution to
shareholder value and that these are administered
in terms of the rules.
Consider the appropriateness of early vesting
of share-based schemes on termination of
employment.
Advise on the fees payable to non-executive
directors.
Oversee the preparation and recommend
the remuneration report to be included in the
integrated report to the board.

INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2017 | NOVUS HOLDINGS

105

–

–

–
–

–
–

Ensure that the remuneration policy and
implementation report are put to separate
non-binding advisory votes at the Annual
General Meeting.
Determine the policy for and scope of service
agreements for the executive management
team, termination payments and remuneration
commitments for new appointments.
Review (at least annually) the terms and conditions
of executive directors’ service agreements.
Consider the quorum of the committee and ensure
that the chairman of the committee or, in his/her
absence, an appointed deputy, attends the Annual
General Meeting or similar forums to answer
questions about the remuneration strategy
and policy.
Review of current industry and general best
practice in remuneration.
Review the succession plan for the CEO and
other members of executive management on
an annual basis.

The key activities of the remuneration committee in
the year are set out in the chairman’s letter on
pages 98 to 99 of the integrated report.

BELOW-TARGET PERFORMANCE (R’000)

CFO

CEO
0

The scenario graphs on the right illustrate (on a total
remuneration basis) the potential remuneration
which can be earned by executive directors at below
target, target and stretch company performance.

Fair and responsible remuneration
The remuneration committee is committed to ensuring
that the remuneration paid to members of executive
management is fair and responsible in the context of
overall employee remuneration in the company. To this
end, the remuneration committee has implemented a
number of measures to give effect to fair and responsible
remuneration, which are set out in this report.
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Remuneration mix and package design
The remuneration policy follows the internationally
recognised practice of combining guaranteed
packages with STIs and LTIs to construct a competitive
remuneration package that aligns employee behaviour
with the achievement of Group objectives. The
remuneration mix places a significant portion of the
total remuneration package at risk to yield significant
returns based on performance. That said, remuneration
is also aligned with the company’s internal risk
management policy and does not encourage excessive
risk-taking by members of executive management.
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The remuneration committee has also taken a decision
to make sure that salary increases for members of
executive management are fairly moderate – this is
expanded on in the internal wage gap section below.

Internal wage gap
Novus Holdings is sensitive to the wage disparities
between the highest and lowest earners within
the Group. As part of our arrangements to ensure
that remuneration paid to members of executive
management is fair and responsible, Novus Holdings
calculates and compares its internal Gini coefficient
against that of South Africa’s workforce (see below).
When determining the annual guaranteed package
increases for members of executive management,
Novus Holdings takes into account the average salary
increase levels for middle management and general
employees. Increases that exceed those for middle
management and general employees will only be made
where it is necessary to align the pay packages of
executives with the relevant market benchmarks.

1 December 2016 – 31 March 2017
1 April 2017 – 31 March 2018
Wages payable to learners participating in training
programmes are either governed by legislation or are
contractually agreed upon with the relevant sector
education and training authority, and thus they will not
fall within the ambit of the minimum wages set out
above. These categories of learners are excluded from
the minimum wage policy.

Equal pay for work of equal value
As stated in the letter from the chairman to the
shareholders in part one of this report, management
has oversight of an ongoing comprehensive job-grading
exercise to correctly assess the value of the jobs

Minimum wage
Novus Holdings recognises the fact that, due to the high
levels of unemployment in South Africa, employees
typically experience high dependency ratios,
which forces them to use their wages to support
many dependants. Higher wages for low-wage workers
would therefore benefit both the employed and the
unemployed. In this regard, Novus Holdings ensures
that it complies with legislation governing minimum
wage and equal pay, as may be applicable from
time to time.
–

–
–

The minimum wage payable will be reviewed
annually and approved by the remuneration
committee.
The new minimum wage will then be effective from
1 April of every year.
The minimum wage for the different sectors is set
as follows:

Printing

Packaging
and labels

Tissue and paper
manufacturing

R5 000
R5 000

R3 500
R3 500

R3 500
R3 500

within the company. In turn, this will be used to place
employees in the correct positions on Novus Holdings’
internal pay scale, and to thereafter identify and
progressively address any unjustifiable differences in
remuneration paid to employees at the same level.

Gini coefficient
The remuneration committee requested that PwC
measure its internal Gini coefficient against the national
statistics for Novus Holdings’ industry and the general
market (all industries). This figure has been considered
by the remuneration committee, and it will be used to
measure the progress made in addressing any internal
remuneration inequities that may arise.
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Other reward strategy principles
The guaranteed package, on-target ACIs and LTI award policy for the financial year ended 31 March 2017 are set
out below:

Management level

Market position
for guaranteed
package

CEO
Executives
Senior management

50th percentile
50th percentile
50th percentile

85% of package
65% of package
35% of package

170% of package
130% of package
70% of package

The guaranteed package, together with the maximum
ACI amount, achieves pay levels that are in line with the
market-related pay mix on benchmarked positions.

package on a rolling annual basis, in light of the potential
volatility of large once-off awards. RSPs will be awarded
on a case-by-case basis to key talent below ExCo.

Novus Holdings currently does not have a policy of
making annual LTI awards to executives, but as set out
in the chairman’s letter in part 1 of this report, the
remuneration committee will consider awarding SARs
on the basis of an appropriate percentage of guaranteed

Summary of elements of remuneration policy

Remuneration
component

The table below summarises the different elements
of the remuneration policy, the strategic link behind
each element, and gives a brief description for each
aspect of the policy.

Strategic intent and drivers

Detail

Guaranteed package
(total cost of
employment)

Primarily to remunerate:
– For skills of the individual
– Market positioning
– Cost of living increases

The guaranteed package reflects individual
competence and is reviewed annually, with
performance-based salary adjustments effective
from 1 April each year.

Benefits and
allowances

Benefits:
– Integrated approach to
wellness, driving employee
engagement

Benefits
Benefits include, but are not limited to, membership
of a retirement plan (provident or pension fund) and
health insurance, disability and death cover, to which
contributions are made by both the company and
the employee. The contributions form part of the
guaranteed package.

Allowances:
– Compliance with
legislation
– Contractual agreement
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On-target ACI Outperformance ACI
earning potential
earning potential

Allowances
Allowances are offered in line with statutory
requirements and agreements with employees,
and form part of the guaranteed package.
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Remuneration
component
STIs

LTIs

Strategic intent and drivers

Detail

ACIs are primarily to
remunerate for performance
at the following levels:
– Group
– Division
– Team
– Individual

–

Second-tier incentives

–

 iscretionary and
D
production bonuses

–

Used for:
– Retention
– Long-term performance
– Ownership
– Wealth creation

–

Guaranteed pay
The guaranteed package is comprised of a base
salary, compulsory benefits (i.e. retirement, health
insurance and medical aid – see below) and allowances
(i.e. car and subsistence – see below). A full total
reward benchmarking exercise is conducted by the
remuneration committee (in consultation with its
independent advisors) every three financial years to
realign the remuneration packages of all employees to
the relevant market benchmarks. Interim adjustments
are made (where appropriate) on an annual basis in
line with inflation. Remuneration is also adjusted on an
incremental basis based on:
–
–
–

the results of a formal bi-annual performance
assessment;
the delivery of a formal portfolio of evidence; and
the results of an agreed programme being
monitored by a mentor/coach.

Benefits and allowances

Benefits include, but are not limited to, membership
of a retirement plan (provident and pension fund) and
health insurance, disability and death cover, to which
contributions are made by both the company and the
employee. The contributions towards the benefits form
part of the guaranteed package.

Top-down bonus pool. For divisional executives,
Group and divisional performance are also taken
into account.
EBIT growth and individual performance scores
influence the bonus payments.
Payments are subject to clawback.

–
–

Sales, marketing and business development with
reference to sales targets.
Exceptional performance and the achievement of
performance conditions.
Consists of the SAR and RSP. Awards will be made
from the 2018 financial year onwards.
The granting of options under the Share Option
scheme through the Novus Holdings Share Trust
is a legacy arrangement. Awards made from the
Trust were subject to continued employment
with the Group.

–

Allowances are offered in line with statutory
requirements and co-determined substantive
agreements. These include car allowances for
executives, and reimbursive travel payments.
Allowances form part of the guaranteed package,
whereas any reimbursive payments fall outside of
the guaranteed package.

STIs
The salient features of the ACI scheme are set out
below.

Bonus pool
–
–
–

–

ACI payments are dependent on the achievement
of targeted levels of performance.
The applicable target was based on an amount
exceeding budgeted EBIT.
The company migrated from a scorecard-based
arrangement (bottom-up approach) to a selffunded bonus pool arrangement.
All employees participate in some form of ACI (total
of 66 participants). At Paterson D3 band and above,
as well as selected line management and specialists
(at the discretion of the CEO), employees
participate in the Group ACI. Other employees are
eligible for discretionary/production bonuses.
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–

The incentive pools are comprised of Novus
Holdings (at Group level), Heatset, Coldset, Tissue
and Labels (at divisional level). Where a participant
is required to focus on both overall Group and
divisional performance, a portion of the bonus will
be drawn from the Novus Holdings Group pool and
a portion from the divisional pool(s). The CEO is
responsible for determining the allocations between
the Group and the divisional pool(s), which is based
on the participants’ roles and responsibilities and
the need to encourage the Novus Holdings team
culture.

–

–

The threshold performance level for the ACI was set
at 85% (0% bonus pool) of the target, with linear
vesting from 85% to 100% of target (100% bonus
pool at achieving target) and at 117,8% of target for
outperformance (200% stretch bonus pool).
The objective of the ACI is to drive performance to
exceed target and not just achieve it. On exceeding
the target, 20% of the beyond target figure is added
to the on-target bonus pool. At 117,8% of target, the
bonus pool grows to 200%. The table below sets out
the participants’ share in the beyond target bonus
pool, based on their performance against their
individual evaluation scorecards.

On-target performance
On-target
performance
modifier

Performance score
80% and above
Between 50% and 79%

100%
Actual percentage
achieved on individual
performance scorecard
0%

Below 50%
Outperformance

On-target
performance
modifier

Performance score
100% (outstanding)
90% (exceeds expectations)
80% (meets material expectations)
70% (meets some expectations, with development)
Below 70%
–

There are second-tier sales incentives for
sales executives, which are subject to specific
performance conditions that drive the behaviours
necessary to encourage outperformance.

Performance conditions
The following table sets out the performance
conditions for the ACI, and the link to the integrated
reporting capitals that Novus Holdings uses or affects:

Performance condition

Link to integrated reporting capitals

Budgeted EBIT

Financial capital: meeting our budgeted EBIT ensures that we have an unencumbered
financial position which serves as a solid base to raise capital with which the Group
can, in conjunction with cash reserves, fund diversification.

Please note all final ACI amounts are dependent on the
quantum of the bonus pool available, as Novus operates
a fully flexible bonus pool. Therefore, where a threshold
bonus pool is available, all participants’ final ACI will be
adjusted downwards. For an on-target bonus pool, the
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150%
125%
100%
50%
0%

final ACI will depend upon the relative performance
scores of all ACI participants. For a stretch bonus pool,
participants’ final ACI may be increased pro rata to the
larger bonus pool available (depending on the relative
performance scores of all ACI participants).
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On-target earning potentials – ACI

Risk adjustments

The on-target earning potentials for the ACI scheme for
the 2017 financial year remained the same as for the
2016 financial year, and no amendment to these earning
potentials is envisaged for the 2018 financial year.
These percentages are reviewed annually based on past
performance and expectations for the following year.

Clawback will be implemented on ACI payments
post vesting at the discretion of the remuneration
committee. The events giving rise to clawback include
fraud and employee misconduct. The clawback
period runs for one year after the ACI payment was
made. Should one of the trigger events occur, the
remuneration committee will proceed against
the participants for the pre-tax value of the
ACI payment.

Employment equity and skills development, working
capital, cash flow management and productivity
targets are included in all of the participants’ individual
balanced scorecards.

Discretionary bonuses, production bonuses
and secondary incentives
Other employees who do not participate in the
Group ACI and who perform above and beyond their
responsibilities may be awarded a discretionary bonus.
This ad hoc bonus is not contractually agreed upon.
Executives must nominate potential recipients to the
CEO for approval.
Employees in production positions who do not
participate in the Group ACI and who make a major
contribution to the achievement of production
efficiency receive recognition for their efforts.
Production bonuses are not guaranteed, and executives
responsible for operating divisions must nominate
recipients to the CEO for approval.
Second-tier incentives are comparable to a commission
structure (subject to a maximum level) and are used
to reward sales, marketing and business development
executives for exceptional performance with
reference to sales achieved. They are proposed to the
remuneration committee by the CEO. These bonuses are
considered against the participants’ guaranteed package
and variable remuneration awards received (if any).

LTIs
Novus Holdings reviewed its remuneration structure
and, based on the advice from PwC, recognised there
was a need for a less dilutive LTI plan, which increases
shareholder value, incentivises performance and
retains critical talent. Novus Holdings adopted the SAR
and RSP, which were endorsed by shareholders at the
2016 Annual General Meeting.

The SAR
–

–

Executive directors, executives and senior
management are eligible to participate in the SAR.
In terms of the SAR, employees receive shares
equal to the increase in the value of a certain
number of shares between the award date and
the exercise date. Vesting is also subject to the
continued employment of the participants during
the employment period.
By its very nature, a SAR requires an increase in
share price in order to yield value to its participants.
This provides a sufficiently strong link to share price
growth to constitute a performance hurdle.

The RSP
–
–

Performance conditions to qualify for such
discretionary and production bonuses and secondary
incentives were finalised by the remuneration
committee during the year.
–

Key employees with critical and scarce skills are
eligible to participate in the RSP.
In terms of the RSP, participants are awarded
conditional rights over shares on an annual basis,
the vesting of which is conditional upon the
continued employment of the participants
throughout the employment period determined by
human resources and the remuneration committee.
Executives of the Group will not participate in
the RSP.

Both share plans are administered within the
shareholder-approved dilution limit of 10% of issued
shares. However, to date only 7% of issued shares have
been made available to the Share Trust (of which only
a portion has been utilised for share plan allocations).
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Legacy LTI schemes
Historic LTI schemes are set out below. Currently,
no allocations are being made in terms of these LTI
Name of scheme

Details

Legacy phantom
SAR schemes
(currently being
phased out)

–

–

–

–

–

–
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schemes. Please refer to the section on the previous
page (LTIs) for details on Novus Holdings’ recently
adopted LTI schemes.

As part of the total reward philosophy of the Paarl Media Group (Proprietary)
Limited prior to listing and becoming Novus Holdings Limited, two phantom share
option schemes were established, namely the Paarl Media Holdings (Proprietary)
Limited SAR plan and the Paarl Coldset (Proprietary) Limited SAR plan.
The schemes were intended to advance the interests of the company and its
shareholders by attracting and retaining employees who could contribute to the
success of the company, stimulating the personal involvement of these employees
by encouraging their continued service, and rewarding them for past performance.
To maximise synergy between senior executives, management and shareholders
of Novus Holdings, a new employee share option plan was established to replace
the previous phantom schemes. In order to phase out the phantom schemes,
the remuneration committee has resolved not to make any further grants to
employees under the phantom schemes, and to amend the rights of existing SARs
by fixing their valuations. The value will be fixed until the SARs are exercised by the
participants. No further valuations will be made in terms of clause 13 of the rules
regarding the existing SARs.
In order to protect the value already created in the respective SAR schemes, the
participants voted in favour of valuing the respective SARs as at 31 March 2015
based on the audited results for the financial year ended on that date using
the methodology outlined in the respective SAR plans and to fix that value for the
remainder of the vesting periods.
The vesting periods are unaffected by this change. The value at which the SARs
were fixed will earn interest at 7% p.a. On the vesting date, the gain and the
interest earned will be subject to normal PAYE.
The phantom schemes will be phased out entirely by September 2019.
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Name of scheme

Details

Novus Holdings
Limited Share
Option Scheme

–

–

The Novus Holdings Limited Share Trust was established and registered in
South Africa to provide employees with the means to own shares in the Group.
• The Novus Holdings Limited Share Trust holds shares in Novus Holdings. The
trustees made an initial offer of options to employees for shares in the Group
at a price equal to the pre-listing issue price of R13,25, on the date of the
JSE listing. Going forward, the trust deed allows trustees to offer employees
options for shares in the Group at a price equal to the closing price on the
JSE on the day on which the award is made. The shares are held in trust on
behalf of the employees until certain time periods have lapsed, after which the
employees exercise their options, pay for and take delivery of the shares.
In terms of the rules of the scheme, participants may pay for their option shares at
any time after acceptance of the option, but the scheme shares will, on the basis
that the purchase price has been paid in full, only be released and delivered to
participants as follows:
• after three years from the option date – no more than one-third of the
scheme shares;
• after four years from the option date – no more than two-thirds of the
scheme shares; and
• after five years from the option date – balance of the scheme shares.

The price a member pays at those dates will be the purchase price as determined on
the option date. The purchase price (also known as the “strike price”) is based on the
market value of the shares on the date on which the options are granted. The option,
once accepted, may not be exercised later than the sixth anniversary of the option date,
failing which it shall expire (subject to the discretion of the trustees).
In the event that the option awards are underwater, Novus Holdings does not permit
the repricing or “surrender and regrant” of underwater share options.

Early termination of employment

Dilution limit

Bad leavers

A maximum of 10% of the issued shares are approved
to be allocated to participants in terms of all share
plans. The individual limit is a maximum of 1% of the
shares in issue. The remuneration committee will act
prudently in using the dilution limit.

Employees who terminate employment due
to resignation, dismissal or retirement under
circumstances which would otherwise lead to dismissal
will be treated as bad leavers and will forfeit all
unvested awards under the share incentive schemes.
Good leavers
Pro rata vesting of the SAR and RSP applies where the
employee resigns from the company due to ill health,
retirement, disability, death, retrenchment or any other
circumstance that the remuneration committee may
deem applicable. Pro rata vesting of unvested
LTI instruments will be based on the time employed
from the award date until the early vesting date.

The use of the dilution limit in the 2017 financial year is
set out in part three of this report.

Executive contracts
None of the executive directors are on fixed-term
contracts. The executives are not under any contractual
restraints of trade, although the remuneration committee
may, at its discretion, negotiate a restraint of trade as part
of an outgoing executive’s mutual separation agreement
(where beneficial to the company). The standard notice
period for executives is one month.
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Novus Holdings does not have any agreements in place
that provide for ex gratia or other lump sum payments
to executives on severance, retirement or change
of control. There is also no waiver of performance
conditions for incentive schemes in a change of control,
however, the unvested LTIs and STIs may be paid to
participants pro rata to the period of time served.

New appointments
New appointments are not awarded sign-on bonuses
as a matter of course, although the remuneration
committee reserves the right to do so where
appropriate. Any incentives awarded to new appointees
are made as compensation for the indicative value
of any awards forfeited from their previous employer.
As applicable, the remuneration committee may
subject such awards to vesting periods, performance
conditions and holding periods, taking into account the
conditions of the forfeited award from the appointee’s
previous employer.

Voting and shareholder engagement
From the 2017 financial year onwards, the
remuneration policy and implementation report will
be tabled for two separate non-binding votes at the
Annual General Meeting. Both resolutions will require a
75%+1 shareholder vote in favour. Should 25% or more
of the shareholders exercising their rights vote against
either the remuneration policy or the implementation
report, the remuneration committee will engage
with the shareholders regarding their reasons for
voting against the resolution(s). The methods of
shareholder engagement are set out in Novus Holdings’
remuneration policy.

Non-executive directors
Non-executive directors are appointed for an indefinite
period and are subject to rotation in line with the
company’s memorandum of incorporation. For the
proposed re-election of non-executive directors,
the board takes into account their previous
performance. For the non-executive directors who
serve on the remuneration committee, the board
also takes into account their track record for actively
engaging with shareholders and wider stakeholders
on the remuneration policy.
Non-executive directors are paid a base fee and a
committee fee, however, the chairman of the board
receives an all-inclusive fee. The fee structure is
evaluated on a regular basis based on independent
non-executive fee surveys and taking into account the
profile or size of Novus Holdings and its non-executive
directors’ responsibilities. Proposed increases in fees
are determined by the remuneration committee
(members of the remuneration committee do not
determine their own fee levels – management makes
recommendations to the board regarding their
proposed fee increases). When determining the
increase levels, the remuneration increases across
the Group are taken into account.
Non-executive directors do not receive any payments
linked to company performance (i.e. STIs and LTIs).
Fees are paid in cash. Non-executive directors are
reimbursed for their reasonable travel and subsistence
expenses in line with the reimbursement policy for
employees. They do not have any service contracts
with the Group. Non-executive directors’ fees are
benchmarked against the market for companies of
a similar size in a similar sector, tabled before the
board for approval, and thereafter are proposed to
shareholders for approval.
In line with the Companies Act, 71 of 2008, the
proposed fees are tabled before shareholders for
approval by special resolution at the Annual General
Meeting. The proposed fees are set out in part three of
this report.
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PART 3: IMPLEMENTATION OF
REMUNERATION POLICY FOR THE YEAR
ENDED ON 31 MARCH 2017

Compliance with the remuneration policy
The remuneration committee is satisfied that
Novus Holdings complied with the remuneration policy
in the 2017 financial year, and there were no material
deviations from it.

Company performance versus average growth
in executive remuneration
The table below compares certain company
performance measures against the average executive
guaranteed package increase percentages over the
past three years. Novus Holdings’ financial performance
for the 2017 financial year is contextualised in the
Leadership report on page 48 of the integrated report.
Furthermore, it is critical for the execution of the
forward-looking business strategy that the executive
directors be retained in the long term.

Average increase in executive guaranteed package levels (%)
Growth in headline earnings (%)
Net return on equity (%)

2017
%

2016
%

2015
%

4,95
(20,8)
9,0

6,0
16,1
16,6

10,8
(5,1)
15,3

Internal wage gap

STI outcomes

Novus remains sensitive to the internal wage gap,
in line with the principle of fair and responsible
remuneration.

The table below demonstrates the ACI outcomes in
the 2017 financial year for the executive directors.

The increase in salaries for general staff was 6% – 6,5%,
compared to a fairly modest increase of 4,95% for
members of executive management.

Executive
KA Vroon
E Fivaz
E van Niekerk1
1

FY2017
STI amount
R’000

Actual STI as
percentage of
guaranteed
package
%

On-target
ACI earning
potential as
percentage of
guaranteed
package
%

Rnil
Rnil
Rnil

0
0
0

75
55
20

Depicts pro rata for the 2017 financial year employment.

The total value of ad hoc bonuses in the 2017 financial
year amounted to R583 000 (2016: R2 127 705).
The total value of production bonuses in the 2017 financial
year amounted to R1 879 965 (2016: R2 961 915).

The total value of second-tier sales incentives in
the 2017 financial year amounted to R1 217 747
(2016: R1 685 466).
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Long-term incentive outcomes
The table below sets out the usage of the dilution limit for Novus Holdings’ share schemes in the 2017 financial year.

Number of
issued shares

Percentage of
total issued
share capital

14 559 680
–
4 648 135
19 207 815

4,19%
–
1,34%
5,53%

Opening balance available
LTI awards/allocations made to participants
Forfeited/lapsed (shares reverted back to the Share Trust)
Closing balance available

Details and categories of share awards made to Novus Holdings’ executive directors are continued in the annual
financial statements from page 172.

Executive directors’ remuneration table
The tables below set out the total remuneration earned
by the executive directors. In the 2017 financial year,

Novus Holdings regarded its executive directors as its
prescribed officers as defined in the Companies Act, 71
of 2008, read with the Companies Regulations, 2011.

Year ended 31 March 2017

Executive directors
Mr KA Vroon
Mr E van Niekerk2
Mr E Fivaz3

Remuneration
R’000

Pension fund
R’000

Short-term
incentive
R’000

3 185
2 258
1 550

354
98
127

–
–
–

Total
Value of LTI remuneration
exercised1
in FY2017
R’000
R’000
–
490
222

3 539
2 846
1 899

	Number of SARs and options exercised during the year under review multiplied by the share price on exercise date less the price of the
SAR and options at grant date.
2
	Resigned as CFO on 31 August 2016.
3
	Appointed as CFO on 1 September 2016.
1

Year ended 31 March 2016

Executive directors
Mr STM van der Walt
Mr E van Niekerk
Mr KA Vroon
1
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Remuneration
R’000

Pension fund
R’000

Short-term
incentive
R’000

3 820
1 784
2 579

438
294
312

1 808
405
1 658

Total
Value of LTI remuneration
exercised1
in FY2016
R’000
R’000
20 016
304
1 062

26 082
2 787
5 611

	Number of SARs and options exercised during the year under review multiplied by the share price on exercise date less the price of the
SAR and options at grant date.
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Non-executive directors’ fees
The table below sets out the fees paid to individual
non-executive directors in the 2017 financial year.
The remuneration committee also performed a
benchmark exercise on the appropriate remuneration
for Mr F Robertson who was the acting chairman of
the board.

The remuneration committee has approved the
prospective fee levels for non-executive directors
based on inflation and the outcome of a survey by
independent advisors, which is based on the role
fulfilled and committee responsibilities.

Fees paid in 2017
R

Non-executive director

1 318 820
–
–
450 500
328 600
561 200
749 833
328 600
407 500

Mr LP Retief1
Ms E Weideman
Mr M Mayman
Ms GP Dingaan
Mr SDM Zungu
Mr BJ Olivier
Mr F Robertson
Mr JN Potgieter
Mr CG Botha
1

	Mr LP Retief passed away on 25 January 2017. He was remunerated for the nine months of the remaining period of his contract with
Novus Holdings, after which he was also remunerated in full for the months leading up to his death.

The table below sets out the proposed 2018
non-executive directors’ fee levels per position as
compared to the 2017 fee levels, which were approved
by shareholders at the 2016 Annual General Meeting,

and the percentage increase for each position.
The board proposed a 5% increase for all positions to
apply to the 2018 financial year. See special resolution
on page 224 for proposed non-executive directors’ fees.
Change
2019 vs 2018
(%)

Change
2018 vs 2017
(%)

2019
R

2018
R

2017
R

Chairman of the board*
1 102 500
Member of the board
292 162
Chairman of the audit committee
175 298
Member of the audit committee
87 648
Chairman of the risk committee
116 865
Member of the risk committee
58 432
Chairman of the social
and ethics committee
116 865
Member of the social
and ethics committee
58 432
Chairman of the remuneration
committee
140 238
Member of the remuneration committee
70 119
Chairman of the nominations committee
22 050
Member of the nominations committee
11 025
Chairman of the investment committee
22 050
Member of the investment committee
11 025

1 050 000
278 250
166 950
83 475
111 300
55 650

1 590 000
265 000
159 000
79 500
106 000
53 000

5
5
5
5
5
5

(34)
5
5
5
5
5

111 300

106 000

5

5

55 650

53 000

5

5

133 560
66 780
21 000
10 500
21 000
10 500

127 200
63 600
20 000
10 000
20 000
10 000

5
5
5
5
5
5

5
5
5
5
5
5

Non-executive directors’ fees

* 	After due consideration and benchmarking exercises were performed, it is agreed that the fee for the chairman of the board will be set
as an all-inclusive fee of R1 050 000.
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APPENDIX

APPENDICES
Novus Holdings continues on its journey to
create value for all stakeholders as a leader
in its industry.
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Appendices
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This integrated report contains statements about
Novus Holdings that are or may be forward-looking
statements. All statements, other than statements
of historical fact, are, or may be, forward-looking
statements including, without limitation, those
concerning: strategy; the economic outlook for
the printing, labels, flexible packaging and tissue
manufacturing industries; operating results; growth
prospects and outlook for operations, individually
or in the aggregate; liquidity, capital resources and
expenditure; and the outcome and consequences of
any pending litigation proceedings. These forwardlooking statements are not based on historical facts, but
rather reflect current expectations concerning future
results and events, and may generally be identified
by the use of forward-looking words or phrases such

as “believe”, “aim”, “expect”, “anticipate”, “intend”,
“foresee”, “forecast”, “likely”, “should”, “planned”,
“may”, “estimated” and “potential”, or similar words
and phrases.
Examples of forward-looking statements include
statements regarding a future financial position or
future profits, cash flows, corporate strategy, estimates
of capital expenditures, acquisition strategy, or future
capital expenditure levels, and other economic factors
such as interest and exchange rates.
By their nature, forward-looking statements involve
risks and uncertainties because they relate to events
and depend on circumstances that may or may not
occur in the future. Novus Holdings cautions that
forward-looking statements are not guarantees of
future performance.

COMMONLY REFERENCED ENTITIES
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Correll Tissue

A producer of tissue paper for domestic and industrial uses through the effective use of
waste paper from printing operations, virgin pulp and recycled paper from other sources.
The plant also supplies parent reels to other tissue converters.

Welkom Yizani

Welkom Yizani is the biggest black economic empowerment share scheme in the print media
industry in South Africa. Welkom Yizani was created to facilitate a Media24 B-BBEE deal
that saw more than 91 000 individuals and 1 000 black groups participating in the offer, and
thereby gaining a shareholding in Media24 of 15%. Welkom Yizani is wholly black-owned,
53,3% of who are black females.

APPENDICES

COMMONLY USED TERMS
Coldset

The printing process in which the ink dries naturally through evaporation from and
absorption into paper. This method is used for printing newspapers and retail inserts,
and makes use of paper reels as input.

Digital printing or
continuous digital
inkjet technology
(CDIT)

A method of printing using digital techniques in which the data and images are printed
directly from a computer onto paper. In the case of the continuous digital inkjet printer, a
continuous stream of electrically charged ink drops is fired towards the surface. The desired
image is created by deflecting unwanted drops.

Finishing

Once printed, a final finished product is produced through varnishing or any other decorative
processes, including cutting, folding, trimming, gathering, and/or binding, which are applied
to the product after printing.

Flexographic
printing

Flexography is a method of direct rotary printing that uses resilient relief image plates of
rubber or photopolymer material. This process is used to print self-adhesive labels for the
wine, beer, spirits, cosmetics, petrochemical, and food and beverage markets.

Heatset

The printing process in which the ink is dried by running the printed paper through an oven
immediately after the ink is applied by the printing unit. This method is used for printing highvolume commercial work, magazines and catalogues, and makes use of paper reels as input.

Offset

A process in which a lithographic plate is used to make an inked impression on a rubber
blanket that transfers it to the paper being printed, instead of being made directly on the
paper. Heatset web offset printing provides cost-effective, high-quality production for
commercial quantities.

Packaging
gravure

A method of printing with engraved copper cylinders on powerful gravure presses that
provides crisp, full-spectrum colours with registration that holds true over millions of copies.
Gravure is ideally suited to high-volume production of wet-glue labels and other product
diversification initiatives, including in-mould labels and flexible packaging (for example shrink
sleeves and wraparounds).

Publication
gravure

A method of printing with engraved copper cylinders on powerful gravure presses that
provide crisp, full-spectrum colours with registration that holds true over millions of copies.
Ideally suited to high-volume production of publications and commercial products, including
weekly, fortnightly and monthly magazines, catalogues and brochures.

Publisher

An entity (person or company) that establishes what editorial content is needed and who
the target market is for specific books, periodicals, magazines and computer software, and
processes advertising revenues and placed print work.

Sheet-fed offset

A printing press that feeds sheets of paper, rather than a continuous paper roll or web.
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ANNUAL
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
By balancing the allocation of cash flow to
its core business, growth investments and
shareholder returns, Novus Holdings is well
positioned to attain sustained growth in the
medium to long term.
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STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2017
The annual financial statements of the Group and the company are the responsibility of the directors of
Novus Holdings Limited. In discharging this responsibility, they rely on the management of the Group to prepare
the annual financial statements presented on pages 134 to 212 in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS) and the South African Companies Act No 71 of 2008, as amended. As such, the annual
financial statements include amounts based on judgements and estimates made by management. The information
given is comprehensive and presented in a responsible manner.
The directors accept responsibility for the preparation, integrity and fair presentation of the annual financial
statements and are satisfied that the systems and internal financial controls implemented by management
are effective.
The directors believe that the company and Group have adequate resources to continue operations as a going
concern in the foreseeable future, based on forecasts and available cash resources. The financial statements
support the viability of the Group and the company. The preparation of the financial results was supervised by
the chief financial officer, Edrich Fivaz CA(SA).
The independent auditing firm, PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc., which was given unrestricted access to all financial
records and related data, including minutes of all meetings of shareholders, the board of directors and committees
of the board, has audited the annual financial statements. The directors believe that all representations made to
the independent auditors during their audit were valid and appropriate. PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc.’s audit report
is presented on page 127.
The annual financial statements were approved by the board of directors on 8 June 2017 and are signed on its
behalf by:
NW Birch				KA Vroon
Chairman				Chief executive officer

CERTIFICATE BY THE COMPANY SECRETARY
In terms of section 88(2)(e) of the Companies Act No 71 of 2008, as amended, we, Kilgetty Statutory Services
Proprietary Limited, in our capacity as company secretary of Novus Holdings Limited, confirm that for the year
ended 31 March 2017, the company has lodged with the Companies and Intellectual Property Commission, all such
returns as are required of a public company in terms of the Companies Act and that all such returns and notices
are, to the best of our knowledge, true, correct and up to date.

Kilgetty Statutory Services Proprietary Limited
Company secretary
8 June 2017
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REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE
The audit committee has pleasure in submitting this report, as required by section 94 of the South African
Companies Act No 71 of 2008 (“the Act”).

FUNCTIONS OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE
The audit committee has adopted formal terms of reference, delegated to it by the board of directors, as its audit
committee charter. The audit committee has discharged the functions in terms of its charter and ascribed to it in
terms of the Act as follows:
–– Reviewed the year-end financial statements, culminating in a recommendation to the board to adopt them.
In the course of its review the committee:
• takes appropriate steps to ensure that the financial statements are prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and in the manner required by the Companies Act
of South Africa;
• considers and, when appropriate, makes recommendations on internal financial controls;
• deals with concerns or complaints relating to accounting policies, internal audit, the auditing or content
of annual financial statements, and internal financial controls; and
• reviews legal matters that could have a significant impact on the organisation’s financial statements.
–– Reviewed the external audit reports on the annual financial statements.
–– Approved the internal audit charter and audit plan.
–– Reviewed the internal audit and risk management reports, and, where relevant, recommendations being made
to the board.
–– Evaluated the effectiveness of risk management, controls and the governance processes.
–– Verified the independence of the external auditors, nominated PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. as the auditors
for 2017 and noted the appointment of Mr Viresh Harri as the designated auditor.
–– Approved the audit fees and engagement terms of the external auditors.
–– Determined the nature and extent of allowable non-audit services and preapproved the contract terms for the
provision of non-audit services by the external auditors.

MEMBERS OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE AND ATTENDANCE AT MEETINGS
The audit committee consists of the non-executive directors listed hereunder and meets at least three times per
annum in accordance with the audit committee charter. All members act independently as described in section
269A of the Companies Act. During the year under review three meetings were held.
–– BJ Olivier (Chairman) – BCom (Acc), CTA, CA(SA)
–– GP Dingaan – BCom (Acc), HDipAcc, CA(SA)
–– CG Botha – BCom (Law), LLB, CA(SA)

INTERNAL AUDIT
The audit committee has oversight of the Group’s financial statements and reporting process, including the system
of internal financial control. It is responsible for ensuring that the Group’s internal audit function is independent
and has the necessary resources, standing and authority in the organisation to discharge its duties. The audit
committee oversees cooperation between internal and external auditors, and serves as a link between the board
of directors and these functions. The head of internal audit reports functionally to the chair of the committee and
administratively to the chief financial officer.
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Based on the review of the Group’s system of internal controls and risk management, and considering the
information and explanations given by management and discussions with the external auditor on the results of the
audit, nothing has come to the attention of the committee that caused it to believe that the Group’s system
of internal controls and risk management are not effective, and that the internal financial controls do not form
a sound basis for the preparation of reliable financial statements.

ATTENDANCE
The internal and external auditors, in their capacity as auditors to the Group, attended and reported at all meetings
of the audit committee. Executive directors and relevant senior managers attended meetings by invitation.

CONFIDENTIAL MEETINGS
Audit committee agendas provide for confidential meetings between the committee members and the internal
and external auditors.

INDEPENDENCE OF EXTERNAL AUDITORS
During the year under review the audit committee reviewed a representation by the external auditors and,
after conducting its own review, confirmed the independence of the auditors.

EXPERTISE AND EXPERIENCE OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER AND THE FINANCE FUNCTION
As required by the JSE Listings Requirement 3.84(h), the audit committee has satisfied itself that the chief financial
officer has appropriate expertise and experience. In addition, the committee satisfied itself that the composition,
experience and skills set of the finance function met the Group’s requirements.

DISCHARGE OF RESPONSIBILITIES
The audit committee determined that during the financial year under review it had discharged its legal and other
responsibilities as outlined in terms of its remit, details of which are included in the full corporate governance
report on http://novus.holdings/governance/#Governance. The board concurred with this assessment.
BJ Olivier
Chairman: audit committee
8 June 2017
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS
The board has pleasure in reporting on the activities and financial results for the year under review:

NATURE OF THE BUSINESS
Novus Holdings Limited was incorporated in 2008 under the laws of the Republic of South Africa. Our principal
operations are in print media, printing on packaging and the manufacture of tissue paper. These activities are
conducted primarily in South Africa.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Novus Holdings’ performance for the 2017 financial year is down on the previous year. Overall revenue increased
by 3% in 2017 to R4,312 billion (2016: R4,174 billion), however gross profit margin decreased by 4,6% – mostly
due to the negative impact of foreign exchange fluctuations and an inability to recover this from clients. In our
Print segment, declining volumes impacted revenue. Magazines, newspapers, retail inserts and catalogues showed
volume declines compared to 2016.
The “Other” segment revenues increased by 27,1% from 2016, and currently represents 7,7% (2016: 6,1%) of
Group revenues. The delay in completion of the second tissue mill installation significantly impacted our financial
results in this segment.
In both the Print and “Other” segments, we experienced the impact of impairments. A total charge of R138,6 million
(2016: R2,3 million) was recognised in the financial results for the Group.
The Group delivered a profit after tax of R256,8 million (2016: R448,3 million).
The annual financial statements on pages 134 to 212 set out fully the financial position, results of operations,
changes in equity and cash flows of the Group for the financial year ended 31 March 2017.

SHARE CAPITAL
The authorised share capital at 31 March 2017 was 3 000 000 000 ordinary no par value shares. There were no
changes to the issued share capital during the year and remains at 347 332 454 ordinary no par value shares.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
At 31 March 2017 the Group’s investment in property, plant and equipment amounted to R2,103 billion, compared
with R2,237 billion in the prior year. The Group impaired property, plant and equipment to the value of R138,6 million
(2016: R2,3 million) in the current year. Details are reflected in note 2 of the annual financial statements. Capital
commitments at 31 March 2017 amounted to R46,8 million (2016: R 90,7 million).

DIVIDENDS
The board recommends that a dividend of 56 cents (2016: 70 cents) per listed ordinary share be declared.

GROUP
Novus Holdings Limited is a subsidiary of Media24 Proprietary Limited and is ultimately held by Naspers Limited.
The name, country of incorporation and effective financial percentage interest of the holding company in each of
Novus Holdings’ principal subsidiaries are disclosed in note 5 to the annual financial statements. Details relating
to significant acquisitions and divestitures in the Group during the year are highlighted in note 30 to the annual
financial statements.
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BORROWINGS
The company has unlimited borrowing powers in terms of its memorandum of incorporation.

EVENTS AFTER REPORTING DATE
The directors are not aware of any matter or circumstance arising since the end of the financial year that would
significantly affect the operations of the Group or the results of its operations.

DIRECTORS AND AUDITOR
The names of directors, their attendance of meetings and their membership of board committees are set out
on pages 86.
Mr KA Vroon has been appointed as acting chief executive officer with effect from 16 February 2016 and chief
executive officer from 28 July 2016.
Mr E Fivaz has been appointed as chief financial officer with effect from 1 September 2016 to succeed
Mr E van Niekerk who resigned as executive director, effective 31 August 2016.
Mr A Mayman has resigned as independent non-executive director effective 3 April 2017 due to his retirement
and Ms CJ Hess has been appointed as an independent non-executive director, effective 23 March 2017.
Mr NW Birch has been appointed as independent non-executive director and chairman of the board following
Mr F Robertson’s resignation as interim chairman and lead independent non-executive director on 3 April 2017.
These changes took place following the sad passing of Lambert Retief on 25 January 2017, who had served as
chairman and non-executive director of the board since 2005.
Mr JN Potgieter, a current independent non-executive director, was appointed as lead independent nonexecutive director.
PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. will continue in office as auditor in accordance with section 90(6) of the South African
Companies Act, 71 of 2008.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND EMOLUMENTS
Particulars of the emoluments of directors and their interests in the issued share capital of the company and
in contracts are disclosed in notes 16, 31 and 38 to the annual financial statements.
Signed on behalf of the board
NW Birch				KA Vroon
Chairman				Chief executive officer
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To the Shareholders of Novus Holdings Limited

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated and separate financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated and separate financial position of Novus Holdings Limited (the Company) and its subsidiaries
(together the Group) as at 31 March 2017, and its consolidated and separate financial performance and its
consolidated and separate cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa.

What we have audited
Novus Holdings Limited’s consolidated and separate financial statements set out on pages 134 to 212 comprise:
•
•
•
•
•
•

the consolidated and separate statements of financial position as at 31 March 2017;
the consolidated and separate income statements for the year then ended;
the consolidated and separate statements of comprehensive income for the year then ended;
the consolidated and separate statements of changes in equity for the year then ended;
the consolidated and separate statements of cash flows for the year then ended; and
the notes to the financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting policies.

Certain required disclosures have been presented elsewhere in the Integrated Annual Report, rather than in the
notes to the financial statements. These are cross-referenced from the financial statements and are identified as
audited.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
and separate financial statements section of our report.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors Code
of Professional Conduct for Registered Auditors (IRBA Code) and other independence requirements applicable
to performing audits of financial statements in South Africa. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with the IRBA Code and in accordance with other ethical requirements applicable to performing
audits in South Africa. The IRBA Code is consistent with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (Parts A and B).
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Our audit approach
Overview
Overall group materiality
–– Overall group materiality: R26,1 million, which represents 5% of weighted average
adjusted consolidated profit before tax for the past three years.
Materiality

Group
scoping

Group audit scope
–– There are three components within the Group which operate mainly in Cape Town,
Johannesburg, Durban and Pietermaritzburg.
–– Two of the components were subjected to a full scope audit.
Key audit matters
Applicable to the consolidated financial statements only:
–– Impairment consideration of goodwill.
–– Assigning appropriate useful economic lives, residual values to items of plant and
machinery and assessing recoverable amounts.

As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material misstatement in the
consolidated and separate financial statements. In particular, we considered where the directors made subjective
judgements; for example, in respect of significant accounting estimates that involved making assumptions and
considering future events that are inherently uncertain. As in all of our audits, we also addressed the risk of
management override of internal controls, including among other matters, consideration of whether there was
evidence of bias that represented a risk of material misstatement due to fraud.

Materiality
The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. An audit is designed to obtain reasonable
assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. Misstatements may arise due to
fraud or error. They are considered material if individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the consolidated financial statements.
Based on our professional judgement, we determined certain quantitative thresholds for materiality, including the
overall group materiality for the consolidated financial statements as a whole as set out in the table below. These,
together with qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the scope of our audit and the nature, timing and
extent of our audit procedures and to evaluate the effect of misstatements, both individually and in aggregate on
the financial statements as a whole.
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Overall group materiality

R26,1 million

How we determined it

5% of weighted average adjusted consolidated profit before tax
of the past three years.

Rationale for the materiality
benchmark applied

We chose weighted average profit before tax as the benchmark because, in our
view, it is the benchmark against which the performance of the Group is most
commonly measured by users. The group has been affected by the downturn
in the market as well as the rationalisation of their plant and equipment usage
therefore we adjusted the 2017 consolidated profit before tax for significant
impairment losses. We chose 5% which is consistent with quantitative
materiality thresholds used for profit-oriented companies in this sector.
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How we tailored our group audit scope
We tailored the scope of our audit in order to perform sufficient work to enable us to provide an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, taking into account the structure of the Group, the accounting
processes and controls, and the industry in which the Group operates.
The group consists of three components, namely Coldset and Heatset which operate mainly in Cape Town,
Johannesburg and Pietermaritzburg, and Correll Tissue which operates in Durban. We performed a full scope audit
on the Heatset and Coldset components due to their financial significance and specified procedures on the Tissue
component to address specific identified audit risks.
In establishing the overall approach to the group audit, we determined the extent of the work that needed to be
performed by us, as the group engagement team, and the component audit team from another PwC network firm,
operating under our instruction, in order to issue our audit opinion on the consolidated financial statements of the
Group. Where the work was performed by component auditors, we determined the level of involvement necessary
in the audit work at those components to be able to conclude whether sufficient appropriate audit evidence has
been obtained as a basis for our opinion on the Group financial statements as a whole.

Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit
of the consolidated and separate financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
The key audit matters listed below are applicable to the consolidated financial statements. We have determined
that there are no key audit matters in respect of the separate financial statements to communicate in our report.

INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2017 | NOVUS HOLDINGS

129

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Impairment consideration of goodwill (applicable
to the consolidated financial statements only)

Our audit procedures included:
−

Refer to note 1.1(a), note 1.5 and note 3 to the
consolidated financial statements.
Goodwill amounts to R155 million as at 31 March 2017
and represents 4% of the total consolidated assets of
the Group.
The Cash Generating Units identified by management
are:
−
−
−
−
−
−
−

 aarl Tissue (R45 million),
P
Intrepid Printers (R31 million),
Paarl Media Holdings (R25 million),
Paarl Coldset (R17 million),
Paarl Labels (R17 million)
Paarl Media Cape (R14 million) and
Digital Print Solutions (R7 million).

Management conducts annual impairment tests of
the cash generating units identified above to assess
the recoverability of the carrying value of goodwill.
Management has determined the recoverable value
using the discounted cash flow model. As disclosed in
note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, there
are a number of key judgements and estimates made
in determining the inputs in these cash flow models,
which include:
−

−
−
−

Revenue growth, which is derived from volume
growth, changes in market share and price
increases
Operating margins
Discount rates applied to the projected future
cash flows
Terminal growth rates

 e considered this a matter of most significance to
W
our audit due to the magnitude of these balances and
higher degree of estimation uncertainty relating to
the key judgements and estimates.
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−

−
−

−

Evaluating the valuation methodology used by
management in determining the recoverable
value and considering whether the value in use
of the Cash Generating Units was appropriate
and consistent with the requirements of IAS 36
Impairment of Assets. Our evaluation involved
the assessment of management’s forecasted
future cash flows and the performance of
sensitivity analyses in respect of management’s
assumptions;
Evaluating the reasonability of management’s
discount rate by performing a recalculation of
the discount rate and benchmarking the cost
of capital of the Company against industry
specific market information available for similar
companies as well as considering territory
specific factors. In our evaluation of the discount
rate we made use of our valuations expertise;
Recalculating the value in use calculations
performed by management;
Assessing the reasonability of the terminal
growth rates used by management by comparing
them to the industry average long term growth
rates; and
Assessing the assumptions underlying projected
future cash flows which includes revenue
estimates, volume growth rates and operating
margins used in the models by understanding the
process followed by management to determine
these forecasts and agreeing the forecasted
information to management approved budgets
and business plans. We analysed these
projections against historical performance.

 ased on the results of our procedures, we accepted
B
management’s assumptions as falling within
reasonable ranges.
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Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Assigning appropriate useful economic lives,
residual values to items of plant and machinery
and assessing recoverable amounts (applicable to
the consolidated financial statements only)

Our audit procedures included:

Refer to Notes 1.1(b), 1. 4 and 2 to the consolidated
financial statements.
The Company has plant and machinery with an
aggregate carrying value of R1.3 billion as at
31 March 2017, consisting mainly of printing and
tissue machinery.
For plant and machinery, the current year depreciation
charge amounts to R162 million and the current year
impairment charge amounts to R137 million.
The carrying value of these items are dependent upon
significant management judgement, including:
−
−
−

E stimated useful economic lives
Estimated residual values
Estimated recoverable amount

For the above reason this has been determined as a
matter of most significance to our audit.

−

−
−

−

−

Obtaining an understanding of the
methodologies used by management’s internal
engineering expert to assess the useful lives,
residual values and realisable values;
Evaluating the internal engineering experts’
competence, capabilities and objectivity;
Engaged an independent external expert to
assess the reasonableness of management’s
assumptions regarding the remaining useful lives
of plant and machinery;
Assessing the relevance of the input data used
by management and agree on a sample basis the
input data used to estimate the carrying values to
supporting documentation; and
Comparing market values to correspondence
from manufacturers of the same equipment or
similar types of equipment in order to assess the
recoverable amounts of assets and impairment
charges.

Based on the results of our procedures, we accepted
management’s estimates as falling within reasonable
ranges.

Other information
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Directors’ Report
to the Shareholders, the Report of the Audit Committee and the Certificate by the Company Secretary as required
by the Companies Act of South Africa and Statement of responsibility by the Board of Directors and the Integrated
Annual Report, which we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report. Other information does not include
the consolidated and separate financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.
Our opinion on the consolidated and separate financial statements does not cover the other information and we
do not and will not express an audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements, our responsibility is to read
the other information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated and separate financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we obtained prior to the date of this
auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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Responsibilities of the directors for the consolidated and separate financial statements
The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated and separate financial
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies
Act of South Africa, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated and separate financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.
In preparing the consolidated and separate financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the
Group and the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group
and/or the Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated and separate financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated and separate financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:
−

−

−
−
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Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated and separate financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s and the Company’s internal control.
Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.
Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt on the Group’s and the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated and separate financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group and / or Company to cease to continue as a
going concern.
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−

−

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated and separate financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated and separate financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our
audit opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.
We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought
to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements of the current period and are therefore the
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not
be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
In terms of the IRBA Rule published in Government Gazette Number 39475 dated 4 December 2015, we report
that PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. has been the auditor of Novus Holdings Limited for 23 years.

PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc.
Director: V Harri
Registered Auditor
Cape Town
8 June 2017
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STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 31 MARCH
GROUP
Notes
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Goodwill
Other intangible assets
Investments in subsidiaries
Available-for-sale financial assets
Loans and receivables
Deferred taxation assets
Current assets
Inventory
Trade and other receivables
Related-party receivables
Loans and receivables
Derivative financial instruments
Current income tax receivable
Cash and cash equivalents
Non-current asset held for sale

2
3
4
5
6
7
8
31
34
9
10

TOTAL ASSETS
EQUITY
Capital and reserves attributable to the Group’s
equity holders
Share capital
Treasury shares
Other reserves
Retained earnings
Non-controlling interest
TOTAL EQUITY
LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities
Post-employment medical liability
Provisions
Long-term liabilities
Cash-settled share-based payment liability
Deferred taxation liabilities
Deferred income
Current liabilities
Provisions
Current portion of long-term liabilities
Trade and other payables
Related-party payables
Cash-settled share-based payment liability
Current income tax payable
Derivative financial instruments
Bank overdrafts and call loans
Deferred income
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

134

11
11
12

13
14
15
16
6
18
14
15
17
31
16
34
9
18

COMPANY

2017
R’000

2016
R’000

2017
R’000

2016
R’000

2 356 990
2 102 674
155 419
42 250
–
3 000
3 050
50 597

2 428 017
2 237 208
138 711
38 028
–
–
1 508
12 562

1 297 121
–
–
–
1 297 121
–
–
–

1 297 121
–
–
–
1 297 121
–
–
–

1 242 561
342 330
478 439
126 958
–
1 462
–
229 968
63 404

1 269 224
325 276
531 463
128 376
293
5 596
–
278 220
–

134
–
–
–
–
–
–
134
–

25
–
–
–
–
–
20
5
–

3 599 551

3 697 241

1 297 255

1 297 146

2 882 839
606 040
(368 172)
(804 465)
3 449 436
(374)
2 882 465

2 822 624
606 040
(368 172)
(827 441)
3 412 197
–
2 822 624

1 128 728
606 040
(368 172)
862 819
28 041
–
1 128 728

1 102 065
606 040
(368 172)
862 819
1 378
–
1 102 065

371 171
2 987
17 045
60 436
3 139
242 429
45 135

360 276
3 486
8 601
19 473
6 239
270 521
51 956

–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
–

345 915
2 177
20 090
288 848
1 154
9 422
120
16 520
2 744
4 840

514 341
–
61 014
384 612
911
15 537
16 561
15 002
11 442
9 262

168 527
–
–
–
168 527
–
–
–
–
–

195 081
–
–
2
195 079
–
–
–
–
–

3 599 551

3 697 241

1 297 255

1 297 146
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INCOME STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH
GROUP
Notes
Revenue
Cost of sales
Gross profit
Operating expenses
Other gains/(losses) – net
Operating profit
Finance income
Finance costs
Profit before taxation
Taxation
Net profit for the year
Attributable to:
Equity holders of the Group
Non-controlling interests
Earnings per share (cents):
Basic
Diluted

19

20
21
22
23
24

25
25

2017
R’000
4 312 464
(3 207 060)
1 105 404
(576 579)
(135 089)
393 736
13 433
(45 688)
361 481
(104 654)
256 827

COMPANY
2016
R’000
4 174 517
(2 914 816)
1 259 701
(608 928)
(2 013)
648 760
20 688
(31 048)
638 400
(190 132)
448 268

2017
R’000

2016
R’000

269 717
–
269 717
(1)
–
269 716
110
–
269 826
(30)
269 796

13 226
–
13 226
(22)
–
13 204
394
–
13 598
(104)
13 494

256 819
8
256 827

445 764
2 504
448 268

269 796
–
269 796

13 494
–
13 494

80,37
80,37

139,50
139,50

–
–

–
–
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STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH
GROUP
Notes
Profit for the year

COMPANY

2017
R’000

2016
R’000

2017
R’000

2016
R’000

256 827

448 268

269 796

13 494

(12)
(109)
31
(18 122)
5 075
9 425
(2 639)
8 787

3 514
(8)
2
56 761
(15 893)
(11 215)
3 140
(40 657)

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

(2 460)

11 384

–

–

(1 855)

–

(2 577)

–

–

–

722

–

–

–

660

981

–

–

917

1 363

–

–

(257)

(382)

–

–

(1 207)
255 620

4 495
452 763

–
269 796

–
13 494

255 612
8
255 620

450 102
2 661
452 763

269 796
–
269 796

13 494
–
13 494

Other comprehensive income
Items that may be subsequently reclassified
to profit or loss
Hedging reserve
Net fair value (losses)/gains, gross
Net fair value (gains)/losses, tax portion
Foreign exchange movement, gross
Foreign exchange movement, tax portion
Derecognised and added to asset, gross
Derecognised and added to asset, tax portion
Derecognised and reported in cost of sales, gross
Derecognised and reported in cost of sales,
tax portion

12

Foreign currency translation reserve
Exchange loss arising on translating foreign
operations, gross
Deferred tax relating to loss arising on translating
foreign operations, tax portion

12

Items that will not be reclassified
to profit or loss
Post-employment benefit obligations
and provisions
Remeasurement of post-employment benefit
obligations and provisions, gross
Remeasurement of post-employment benefit
obligations and provisions, tax portion
Total other comprehensive income, net of tax
Total comprehensive income for the year
Attributable to:
Equity holders of the Group
Non-controlling interests

136
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH

COMPANY

Notes

Balance as at 1 April 2015
Total comprehensive income for the year
Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income
Transactions with owners:
Dividends paid
Balance as at 31 March 2016

29.1

Notes

Treasury
shares
R’000

Other
reserves
R’000

Retained
earnings
R’000

Total
R’000

606 040
–
–
–

(368 172)
–
–
–

862 819
–
–
–

210 177
13 494
13 494
–

1 310 864
13 494
13 494
–

–
606 040

–
(368 172)

–
862 819

(222 293)
1 378

(222 293)
1 102 065

–
–
–

269 796
269 796
–

269 796
269 796
–

(243 133)
28 041

(243 133)
1 128 728

–
–
–

Total comprehensive income for the year
Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income
Transactions with owners:
Dividends paid
Balance as at 31 March 2017

Share
capital
R’000

29.1

–
606 040
11

–
–
–
–
(368 172)
11

–
862 819
12
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH

GROUP

Notes

Balance as at 1 April 2015
Total comprehensive income for the year
Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income
Transactions with owners:
Share-based compensation movement
Dividends paid
Transactions with non-controlling interests
Total transactions with owners

29.1
32

Balance as at 31 March 2016
Total comprehensive income for the year
Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income
Transactions with owners:
Share-based compensation movement
Transfer from share based compensation reserve
Dividends paid
Transactions with non-controlling interests
Total transactions with owners
Balance as at 31 March 2017
Notes

138

Share
capital and
premium
R’000

Treasury
shares
R’000

606 040
–
–
–

(368 172)
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
606 040
–
–
–

29.1
32

–
–
–
–
–
606 040
11

–
–
–
–
(368 172)
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
(368 172)
11

Existing
control
business
combination
reserve
R’000

Share-based
compensation
reserve
R’000

(871 301)
–
–
–

5 300
–
–
–

–
–
13 404
13 404

27 392
–
–
27 392

(857 897)
–
–
–

32 692
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
(857 897)
12

28 285
(4 102)
–
–
24 183
56 875
12
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Hedging
reserve
R’000

Actuarial
reserve
R’000

Foreign
currency
translation
reserve
R’000

(5 115)
3 357
–
3 357

(1 459)
981
–
981

–
–
–
–

(872 575)
4 338
–
4 338

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

27 392
–
13 404
40 796

(1 758)
(12)
–
(12)
–
–
–
–
–
(1 770)
12

(478)
660
–
660
–
–
–
–
–
182
12

–
(1 855)
–
(1 855)
–
–
–
–
–
(1 855)
12

Total other
reserves
R’000

(827 441)
(1 207)
–
(1 207)
28 285
(4 102)
–
–
24 183
(804 465)
12

Retained
earnings
R’000

Attributable
to equity
holders
of the Group
R’000

Noncontrolling
interest
R’000

Total
equity
R’000

3 170 942
445 764
445 764
–

2 536 235
450 102
445 764
4 338

30 480
2 661
2 504
157

2 566 715
452 763
448 268
4 495

–
(204 509)
–
(204 509)

27 392
(204 509)
13 404
(163 713)

111
(848)
(32 404)
(33 141)

27 503
(205 357)
(19 000)
(196 854)

3 412 197
256 819
256 819
–

2 822 624
255 612
256 819
(1 207)

–
8
8
–

2 822 624
255 620
256 827
(1 207)

–
4 102
(223 682)
–
(219 580)
3 449 436

28 285
–
(223 682)
–
(195 397)
2 882 839

–
–
–
(382)
(382)
(374)

28 285
–
(223 682)
(382)
(195 779)
2 882 465

30, 32
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STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH
GROUP
Notes
Cash generated from operating activities
Cash generated from operations
Finance income
Finance costs
Taxation paid
Cash generated from operating activities
Cash flows from investment activities
Property, plant and equipment acquired
Proceeds from government grants
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and
equipment
Purchase of intangible assets
Insurance proceeds
Loans and receivables advanced
Loans and receivables repaid
Acquisition of subsidiaries/businesses
Cash (utilised)/generated in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Repayment of long-term loans
Acquisition of non-controlling interests
Dividend paid
Cash utilised in financing activities
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and
cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year

140

2017
R’000

COMPANY
2016
R’000

2017
R’000

27
22
23
28

661 829
13 433
(11 718)
(188 513)
475 031

720 128
20 688
(18 079)
(178 381)
544 356

2

(243 719)
–

(236 187)
33 508

–
–

–
–

15 098
(8 363)
–
(4 512)
263
10 785
(230 448)

2 914
(15 117)
996
–
1 454
(50 484)
(262 916)

–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
13 743
–
13 743

(60 455)
–
(223 682)
(284 137)

(72 146)
(19 000)
(205 357)
(296 503)

(39 554)
266 778
227 224

(15 063)
281 841
266 778

4

30

32
29.1

9

243 162
110
–
(10)
243 262

2016
R’000

–
–
(243 133)
(243 133)
129
5
134

205 658
394
–
(124)
205 928

–
–
(222 293)
(222 293)
(2 622)
2 627
5
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2017
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these annual financial statements are set out below. These policies
have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.
1.

Basis of preparation
The annual consolidated and separate financial statements of Novus Holdings Limited have been prepared in accordance
with the requirements of the JSE Limited Listings Requirements and the Companies Act No 71 of 2008. The Listings
Requirements require the financial statements to be prepared in accordance with the framework concepts, the
measurement and recognition requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and the interpretations
issued by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC), the SAICA Financial Reporting Guides
as issued by the Accounting Practices Committee and Financial Pronouncements as issued by the Financial Reporting
Standards Council. The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the
revaluation of certain financial assets and financial liabilities (including derivative instruments) at fair value through profit
or loss.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates.
It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The
areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to
the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in note 1.1.
These financial statements incorporate accounting policies that have been consistently applied to all years presented,
with the exception of the implementation of the following standards, interpretations and amendments to published
standards that became effective and were adopted by the Group during the current financial year:

Standard/Interpretation:
Amendments to IFRS 10 – Consolidated Financial Statements
Amendments to IFRS 11 – Joint Arrangements
Amendments to IAS 1 – Presentation of Financial Statements
Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38: Clarification of acceptable
methods of depreciation and amortisation
Amendments to IAS 27 – Separate financial statements
Annual Improvements 2012 – 2014 cycle

Effective date:
years beginning
on or after
1 January 2016
1 January 2016
1 January 2016
1 January 2016
1 January 2016
1 January 2016

The relevance of these amendments to the published standards has been assessed with respect to the Group’s
operations and it was concluded that, other than the additional presentational disclosures required, they did not
have a material impact on the Group.
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2017
1.

Basis of preparation (continued)
Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards which are not yet effective
Management considered all new accounting standards, interpretations and amendments to IFRS that were issued prior
to 31 March 2017, but not yet effective on that date. Management are in the process of assessing the impact of these
standards, interpretations and amendments on the reported results of the Group. The standards that are applicable to
the Group, but that were not implemented early, are the following:

Standard/Interpretation:
Amendment to IAS 12 – Income taxes
Amendment to IAS 7 – Cash flow statements
Amendment to IFRS 2 – Share-based payments
IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments
IFRS15 – Revenue from contracts with customers*
IFRS16 – Leases
Annual Improvements 2014 – 2016

Effective date:
years beginning
on or after
1 January 2017
1 January 2017
1 January 2018
1 January 2018
1 January 2018
1 January 2019
1 January 2018

*	Management has assessed the impact of this standard on the reported results of the Group and concluded that this impact
is not material.

1.1

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future and these accounting estimates are an integral
part of the preparation of financial statements. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the
related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are as follows:
a) Estimated impairment of goodwill and intangible assets
The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any impairments, in accordance with the accounting policy
stated in note 1.5. The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units are determined as being the higher of the valuein-use or fair value less costs to sell. Calculation of these amounts requires the use of estimates. Further details are
provided in note 3.
b) Property, plant and equipment
The estimated useful economic lives of property, plant and equipment are based on management’s judgement and
experience. Management engages with internal technical experts in assessing the appropriateness of estimated useful
lives and recoverable amounts of property, plant and equipment. When management identifies that actual useful
economic lives differ materially from the estimates used to calculate depreciation, that charge is adjusted prospectively.
Due to the significance of property, plant and equipment investment to the Group, variations between actual and
estimated useful economic lives could impact operating results both positively and negatively, although historically few
changes to estimated useful economic lives have been required.
The Group is required to evaluate the carrying values of property, plant and equipment for impairment whenever
circumstances indicate, in management’s judgement, that the carrying value of such assets may not be recoverable.
An impairment review requires management to make subjective judgements concerning the cash flows, growth rates
and discount rates of the cash generating units under review.
c) Revenue recognition and allowance for doubtful receivables
At each reporting date, the company and each of its subsidiaries evaluate the recoverability of trade receivables and
record allowances for doubtful receivables based on experience. These allowances are based on, amongst other things,
a consideration of actual collection history. The actual level of receivables collected may differ from the estimated levels
of recovery, which could impact operating results positively or negatively.
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1.2

Basis of consolidation
Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity
when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control
is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.
The Group applies the acquisition method to account for business combinations. The consideration transferred for the
acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group. The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset
or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.
Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured
initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree on
an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the
recognised amounts of acquiree’s identifiable net assets.
If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s previously held
equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date; any gains or losses arising from such
remeasurement are recognised in profit or loss.
Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the Group is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration that is deemed to be an asset or liability is
recognised in accordance with IAS 39 either in profit or loss or as a change to other comprehensive income. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured, and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.
The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the
acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable net
assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the total of consideration transferred, non-controlling interest recognised and
previously held interest measured is less than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired in the case of a
bargain purchase, the difference is recognised directly in the income statement.
Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of the impairment of
the transferred asset. When necessary, amounts reported by subsidiaries have been adjusted to conform with the
Group’s accounting policies.
Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated income
statement, statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of financial position.
The investments of Novus Holdings Limited in the ordinary shares of its subsidiaries are carried at cost less impairment
losses in the separate financial statements.
Common control transactions
Business combinations in which all of the combining entities or businesses are ultimately controlled by the same party
or parties both before and after the business combination (and where that control is not transitory) are referred to
as common control transactions. The accounting policy for the acquiring entity is to account for the transaction at
book value (predecessor values) in its consolidated financial statements. The book value of the acquired entity is the
consolidated book value as reflected in the consolidated financial statements at the highest level of common control.
The excess of the cost of the transaction over the acquirer’s proportionate share of the net asset value acquired is
allocated to the “existing control business combination reserve” in equity. Where comparative periods are presented,
the financial statements and financial information presented are not restated.
Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries without change of control
The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in loss of control as transactions with
equity owners of the Group. A change in ownership interest results in an adjustment between the carrying amounts of
the controlling and non-controlling interests to reflect their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between
the amount of the adjustment to non-controlling interests and any consideration paid or received is recognised within the
“existing control business combination reserve” in equity.
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2017
1.2

Basis of consolidation (continued)
Disposal of subsidiaries
When the Group ceases to have control, any retained interest in the entity is remeasured to its fair value at the date
when control is lost, with the change in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair value becomes the initial
carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained interest as an associate, joint venture or
financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of that entity
are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss.

1.3

Segment reporting
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the Executive Committee that makes strategic decisions.

1.4

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost, being the purchase cost plus any cost to prepare the assets for their
intended use, less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. Cost includes transfers from
equity of any gains/losses on qualifying cash flow hedges relating to foreign currency property, plant and equipment
acquisitions. Property, plant and equipment, with the exception of land, are depreciated in equal annual amounts
over each asset’s estimated useful life to their residual values. Land is not depreciated as it is deemed to have an
indefinite life.
Depreciation periods vary in accordance with the conditions in the relevant industries, but are subject to the following
range of useful lives:
Item
Buildings
Plant and machinery
Furniture and fixtures
Motor vehicles
Office equipment
IT equipment

Average
useful life
8 – 50 years
3 – 25 years
3 – 10 years
4 – 5 years
1 – 10 years
2 – 5 years

The Group applies the component approach whereby parts of some items of property, plant and equipment may require
replacement at regular intervals. The carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment will include the cost
of replacing the part of such an item when that cost is incurred, if it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to
the Group and the cost can be reliably measured. The carrying amount of those parts that are replaced is derecognised
on disposal or when it is withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits are expected from its disposal. Each
part of an item of property, plant and equipment with a cost that is significant in relation to the total cost of the item is
depreciated separately.
Major leasehold improvements are amortised over the shorter of their respective lease periods and estimated useful
economic lives.
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only
when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the
item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the financial period
in which they are incurred. The cost of major renovations is included in the carrying amount of the asset when it is
probable that future economic benefits will flow to the Group and the cost can be reliably measured. Major renovations
are depreciated over the remaining useful economic life of the related asset.
Items of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for indicators of impairment at least annually. Where indicators of
impairment are identified, the carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed to assess whether or not
the recoverable amount has declined below the carrying amount. In the event that the recoverable amount of the asset
is lower than its carrying amount, the carrying amount is reduced and the reduction is charged to profit or loss.
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1.4

Property, plant and equipment (continued)
The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting
period. An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount
is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised
within ‘‘Other gains/(losses)’’ in profit or loss.
Work in progress is defined as assets still in the construction phase and not yet available for use. These assets are carried
at initial cost and are not depreciated. Depreciation on these assets commences when they become available for use and
depreciation periods are based on management’s assessment of their useful lives.

1.5

Intangible assets
Goodwill
Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being an amount representing the excess of the consideration transferred, the
amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the acquisition date fair value of any previously held equity
interest over the fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If this consideration is lower than
the fair value of the net assets of the acquiree (a bargain purchase), the difference is recognised in profit or loss.
Goodwill arising on acquisition of subsidiaries is included in “goodwill” in the statement of financial position. Goodwill is
not amortised but it is tested for impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate
that it might be impaired, and is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Impairment losses on goodwill
are not reversed. Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the
entity sold.
Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of impairment testing. The allocation is made to those
cash-generating units or groups of cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the business combination in
which the goodwill arose. The units or groups of units are identified at the lowest level at which goodwill is monitored
for internal management purposes. An impairment test is performed by assessing the recoverable amount of the cashgenerating unit to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised.
Trademarks and licences
Separately acquired trademarks and licences are shown at historical cost. Trademarks and licences acquired in a business
combination are recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. They have a finite useful life and are carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the cost of trademarks
and licences over their estimated useful lives of two to five years.
Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the
specific software. These costs are amortised over their estimated useful lives of two to five years.
Computer software
Costs associated with maintaining computer software programmes are recognised as an expense as incurred.
Development costs that are directly attributable to the design and testing of identifiable and unique software products
controlled by the Group are recognised as intangible assets when the following criteria are met:
––

it is technically feasible to complete the software product so that it will be available for use;

––

management intends to complete the software product and use or sell it;

––

there is an ability to use or sell the software product;

––

it can be demonstrated how the software product will generate probable future economic benefits;

––

adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development; and

––

the expenditure attributable to the software product during its development can be reliably measured.

Directly attributable costs that are capitalised as part of the software product include the software development
employee costs and an appropriate portion of relevant overheads.
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2017
1.5

Intangible assets (continued)
Computer software (continued)
Other development expenditures that do not meet these criteria are recognised as an expense as incurred. Development
costs previously recognised as an expense are not recognised as an asset in a subsequent period.
Computer software is amortised on the straight-line method over its estimated useful life (three to ten years) when
available for use.
Work in progress is defined as intangible assets still in the development phase and not yet available for use. These assets
are tested annually for impairment and carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses while still being developed.
Amortisation on these assets commences when they become available for use and amortisation periods are based on
management’s assessment of their useful lives.

1.6

Financial assets
The Group classifies its financial assets in the following categories: at fair value through profit or loss, loans and
receivables and available-for-sale financial assets. The classification depends on the purpose for which the financial
assets were acquired. Management determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition.
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are financial assets held for trading. A financial asset is classified in
this category if acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short term. Derivatives are also categorised as held
for trading unless they are designated as hedges. Assets in this category are classified as current assets if expected to be
settled within 12 months, otherwise they are classified as non-current.
Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market. They are included in current assets, except for maturities greater than 12 months after the end of the
reporting period. These are classified as non-current assets.
Available-for-sale financial assets
Investments are designated as available-for-sale financial assets if they do not have fixed maturities and fixed or
determinable payments, and management intends to hold them for the medium to long term. Financial assets that are
not classified into any of the other categories (at fair value through profit or loss and loans and receivables) are also
included in the available-for-sale category. The financial assets are presented as non-current assets unless they mature,
or management intends to dispose of them within 12 months of the end of the reporting period.
Recognition and measurement
Regular purchases and sales of investments are recognised on trade date – the date on which the Group commits to
purchase or sell the asset. Investments are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs for all financial assets
not carried at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss is initially
recognised at fair value and transaction costs are expensed in the income statement. Financial assets are derecognised
when the rights to receive cash flows from the investments have expired or have been transferred and the Group has
transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. Available-for-sale investments and financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss are subsequently carried at fair value.
Loans and receivables are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.
Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of the ‘‘financial assets at fair value through profit or loss’’ category
are presented in the income statement within ‘‘Other gains/(losses)’’ in the period in which they arise. Changes in the
fair value of financial assets classified as available for sale are recognised in other comprehensive income. When these
financial assets classified as available for sale are sold or impaired, the accumulated fair value adjustments recognised in
equity are included in the income statement as ‘‘Other gains/(losses)’’.
Offsetting financial instruments
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial position when there
is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
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1.6

Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets
The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or
group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired and impairment losses are
incurred only if there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial
recognition of the asset (a ‘‘loss event’’) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows
of the financial asset or group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.
(a) Assets carried at amortised cost
Evidence of impairment may include indications that the debtors or a Group of debtors is experiencing significant or
delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial difficulty,
default reorganisation, and where observable data indicate that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future
cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults.
For loans and receivables category, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred)
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced and
the amount of the loss is recognised in the consolidated income statement. If a loan or held-to-maturity investment
has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current effective interest rate
determined under the contract. As a practical expedient, the Group may measure impairment on the basis of an
instrument’s fair value using an observable market price.
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively
to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised (such as an improvement in the debtor’s credit rating), the
reversal of the previously recognised impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss.
(b) Assets classified as available for sale
The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or
a group of financial assets is impaired. In the case of equity investments classified as available for sale, a significant or
prolonged decline in the fair value of the security below its cost is also evidence that the assets are impaired. If any such
evidence exists for available for sale financial assets, the cumulative loss – measured as the difference between the
acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognised in profit
or loss – is removed from equity and recognised in the income statement. Impairment losses recognised in the income
statement on equity instruments are not reversed through the income statement.
Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
remeasured to their fair value at the end of each reporting period. The accounting for subsequent changes in the fair
value depends on whether the derivative is designated as a hedging instrument, and if so, the nature of the item being
hedged. The Group designates certain derivatives as either:
(a) hedges
	
of the fair value of recognised assets or liabilities or a firm commitment (fair value hedge); and
(b) h
 edges of a particular risk associated with the cash flows of recognised assets and liabilities and highly probable
forecast transactions (cash flow hedge).
The Group documents at the inception of the hedging transaction the relationship between hedging instruments and
hedged items, as well as its risk management objectives and strategy for undertaking various hedging transactions. The
Group also documents its assessment, both at hedge inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether the derivatives that
are used in hedging transactions have been and will continue to be highly effective in offsetting changes in fair values or
cash flows of hedged items.
The fair values of various derivative instruments used for hedging purposes are disclosed in the income statement. The
full fair value of a hedging derivative is classified as a non-current asset or liability when the remaining maturity of the
hedged item is more than 12 months, and as a current asset or liability when the remaining maturity of the hedged item
is less than 12 months. Trading derivatives are classified as a current asset or liability.
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1.6

Financial assets (continued)
Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities (continued)
(a) Fair value hedge
Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges are recorded in the income
statement, together with any changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability that are attributable to the
hedged risk. The Group only applies fair value hedge accounting for hedging fixed interest risk on borrowings. The gain
or loss relating to the effective portion of interest rate swaps hedging fixed rate borrowings is recognised in the income
statement within ‘‘Finance costs’’.
If the hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, the adjustment to the carrying amount of a hedged item
for which the effective interest method is used is amortised to profit or loss over the period to maturity.
(b) Cash flow hedge
The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges
is recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in reserves in equity. The gain or loss relating to the
ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the income statement within ‘‘Other gains/(losses)’’.
Amounts accumulated in equity are reclassified to profit or loss in the periods when the hedged item affects profit or
loss (for example, when the forecast sale that is hedged takes place). The gain or loss relating to the effective portion of
interest rate swaps hedging variable rate borrowings is recognised in the income statement within ‘‘finance income/cost’’.
However, when the forecast transaction that is hedged results in the recognition of a non-financial asset (for example,
inventory or fixed assets), the gains and losses previously deferred in equity are transferred from equity and included in
the initial measurement of the cost of the asset. The deferred amounts are ultimately recognised in cost of goods sold in
the case of inventory or in depreciation in the case of fixed assets.
When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, or when a hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, any
cumulative gain or loss existing in equity at that time remains in equity and is recognised when the forecast transaction
is ultimately recognised in the income statement. When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the
cumulative gain or loss that was reported in equity is immediately reclassified to the income statement within ‘‘Other
gains/(losses)’’.

1.7

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out (FIFO)
method. The cost of finished goods and work-in-progress comprises, raw materials, direct labour, other direct costs and
related production overheads (based on normal operating capacity). It excludes borrowing costs. Net realisable value is
the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated
costs necessary to make the sale. Costs of inventories include the transfer from equity of any gains/losses on qualifying
cash flow hedges for purchases of raw materials. Provisions are made for obsolete, unusable and unsaleable inventory
and for latent damage first revealed when inventory items are taken into use or offered for sale.

1.8

Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for merchandise sold or services performed in the ordinary course of
business. If collection is expected in one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer), they are
classified as current assets. If not, they are presented as non-current assets.
Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less provision for impairment. A provision for impairment of trade receivables is established when
there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms
of receivables. The amount of the provision is the difference between the carrying amount and the estimated
recoverable amount.

1.9
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Cash and cash equivalents
In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call
with banks, other short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily
convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and bank
overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown separately within current liabilities on the statement of financial position.
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1.10

Non-current assets held for sale
Non-current assets (or disposal groups) are classified as assets held for sale when their carrying amount is to be
recovered principally through a sale transaction and a sale is considered highly probable. They are stated at the lower
of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.

1.11

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new ordinary shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction,
net of tax, from the proceeds.
Where any Group company purchases the company’s equity share capital (treasury shares), the consideration paid,
including any directly attributable incremental costs (net of income taxes) is deducted from equity attributable to the
company’s equity holders until the shares are cancelled or reissued. Where such ordinary shares are subsequently
reissued, any consideration received, net of any directly attributable incremental transaction costs and the related
income tax effects, is included in equity attributable to the company’s equity holders.

1.12

Borrowings
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently carried
at amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount is
recognised in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.
Borrowings are removed from the statement of financial position when the obligation specified in the contract is
discharged, cancelled or expired.

1.13

Employee benefits
Retirement benefits
The Group provides retirement benefits for its full-time employees, primarily by means of monthly contributions to a
number of defined contribution pension and provident funds in the countries in which the Group operates. The assets of
these funds are generally held in separate trustee-administered funds. The Group’s contributions to retirement funds are
recognised as an expense in the period in which employees render the related service.
Medical aid benefit
The Group’s contributions to medical aid benefit funds for employees are recognised as an expense in the period during
which the employees render services to the Group.
Post-employment medical aid benefit
Some Group companies provide post-employment healthcare benefits to their retirees. The entitlement to postemployment healthcare benefits is subject to the employee remaining in service up to retirement age and completing
a minimum service period. The expected costs of these benefits are accrued over the minimum service period.
Independent qualified actuaries carry out annual valuations of these obligations. All actuarial remeasurements resulting
from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are recognised immediately in other comprehensive
income. The actuarial valuation method used to value the obligations is the projected unit credit method. Future
benefits are projected using specific actuarial assumptions and the liability to in-service members is accrued over their
expected working lifetime. These obligations are unfunded.

1.14

Share-based payments
The Group grants share options/share appreciation rights (SARs) to its employees under a number of equity
compensation plans. The Group has recognised an employee benefit expense in the income statement, representing the
fair value of share options/SARs granted to the Group’s employees. A corresponding credit to equity has been raised for
equity-settled plans, whereas a corresponding credit to liabilities has been raised for cash-settled plans. The fair value of
the options/SARs at the date of grant under equity-settled plans is charged to income over the relevant vesting periods,
adjusted to reflect actual and expected levels of vesting. For cash-settled plans, the Group remeasures the fair value of
the recognised liability at each reporting date and at the date of settlement, with any changes in fair value recognised in
profit or loss for the period.
A share option scheme/SAR is considered equity-settled when the option/gain is settled by the issue of shares. They are
considered cash-settled when they are settled in cash or any other asset, i.e. not by the issue of shares. Each share trust
deed and SAR plan rules, as appropriate, indicates whether the option/gain is to be settled by the issue of shares or not.
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1.15

Current and deferred income tax
The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the income statement, except to
the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is
also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.
The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance
sheet date in the countries where the company and its subsidiaries operate and generate taxable income. Management
periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is
subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to
the tax authorities.
Deferred income tax is recognised on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised
if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill; deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date and are expected to apply when the related
deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.
Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.
Deferred income tax liabilities are provided on taxable temporary differences arising from investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint arrangements, except for deferred income tax liability where the timing of the reversal of the
temporary difference is controlled by the Group and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Generally the Group is unable to control the reversal of the temporary difference for associates, only
where there is an agreement in place that gives the Group the ability to control the reversal of the temporary difference
not recognised.
Deferred income tax assets are recognised on deductible temporary differences arising from investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint arrangements only to the extent that it is probable the temporary difference will reverse in the
future and there is sufficient taxable profit available against which the temporary difference can be utilised.
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by
the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities where there is an intention to
settle the balances on a net basis.
The normal South African company tax rate used for the year ending 31 March 2017 is 28% (2016: 28%). Deferred tax
assets and liabilities have been calculated using the 28% (2016: 28%) rate, being the rate that the Group expects to apply
to the periods when the assets are realised or the liabilities are settled. Capital gains tax is calculated as 80% (2016: 80%)
of the company tax rate. The tax rate utilised for the Group’s foreign operation is 32%, being the statutory tax rate of the
country in which the entity operates, Mozambique. Local income tax as per note 24 refers to taxation applicable to the
country in which the subsidiaries operate.
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1.16

Dividends withholding tax (DWT)
Shareholders are subject to DWT on dividends received, unless they are exempt in terms of the amended tax law.
DWT is levied at 20% (2016: 15%) of the dividend received. The DWT is categorised as a withholding tax as the tax is
withheld and paid to tax authorities by the company paying the dividend or by a regulated intermediary and not the
beneficial owner of the dividend.

1.17

Provisions
Provisions for restructuring costs and legal claims are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation,
and the amount has been reliably estimated. Restructuring provisions comprise lease termination penalties and
employee termination payments. Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.
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1.17

Provisions (continued)
Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is
determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an
outflow with respect to any one item included in the same class of obligations may be small.
Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation using a
pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the obligation.
The increase in the provision due to passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

1.18

Trade and other payables
Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business
from suppliers. Accounts payable are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less (or in the
normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.
Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

1.19

Revenue
Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the sale of goods and rendering of
services in the ordinary course of the activities. Revenues are recognised upon completion of the services and delivery
of the related product and customer acceptance. The recognition of print services and tissue revenue is based upon
delivery of the product to the distribution depot and acceptance by the distributor of the customer, or where the
customer is responsible for the transport of the customers’ products, acceptance by the customer or its nominated
transport company. Revenues from distribution services are recognised upon delivery of the product to the customer
and acceptance thereof.
Where print and distribution services are provided to the same client, the terms of each separate contract are consistent
with contracts where an unrelated party provides one of the services. Revenue is recognised separately for print and
distribution services as the contracts are separately negotiated, based on fair value for each service.
Revenue is net of returns and allowances, trade discounts and volume rebates.
Revenue for the company, comprises dividends received from subsidiaries and is recognised as revenue when the right
to receive payment is established.

1.20

Other income
Interest and dividends received on financial assets are included in “Finance income” and “Other gains/(losses)”
respectively. Interest is accrued using the effective interest method and dividends are recognised when the right to
receive payment is established.

1.21

Dividend distribution
Dividend distribution to the company’s shareholders is recognised as a liability in the Group’s financial statements in the
period in which the dividends are approved by the board of directors.

1.22

Leases
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as
operating leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) are charged to
the income statement on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.
The Group leases certain property, plant and equipment. Leases of property, plant and equipment where the Group has
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as finance leases. Finance leases are capitalised at the
lease’s commencement at the lower of the fair value of the leased property and the present value of the minimum
lease payments.
Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance charges. The corresponding rental obligations, net of
finance charges, are included in other long-term payables. The interest element of the finance cost is charged to the
income statement over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance
of the liability for each period. The property, plant and equipment acquired under finance leases is depreciated over the
shorter of the useful life of the asset and the lease term.

INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2017 | NOVUS HOLDINGS

151

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2017
1.23

Foreign currency translation
(a) Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates (the functional currency). The consolidated financial statements are
presented in South African rand (ZAR) which is the Group’s presentation currency.
(b) Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates
of the transactions or valuation where items are remeasured. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in profit or loss, except when deferred in other comprehensive income
as qualifying cash flow hedges.
(c) Foreign subsidiary
The results and financial position of the Group’s only foreign operation – International Printing Group Limitada, which
does not have a currency of a hyperinflationary economy, and has a functional currency different from the presentation
currency is translated into the presentation currency as follows:
––

assets and liabilities are translated at the closing rate at the date of the statement of financial position;

––

income and expenses for the statement of profit or loss and statement of comprehensive income is translated
at average exchange rates (unless this is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates
prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are translated at the dates of the
transactions); and

––

all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income within the foreign currency
translation reserve (FCTR).

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in this foreign entity is
recognised in other comprehensive income in the foreign currency translation reserve. When a foreign operation is sold,
the associated exchange differences are reclassified to profit or loss, as part of the gain or loss on sale.
Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets and liabilities
of the foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.
1.24

Government grants
Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will
be received and the Group will comply with all attached conditions. Government grants relating to costs are deferred
and recognised in the income statement over the period necessary to match them with the costs that they are intended
to compensate.
Government grants relating to property, plant and equipment are included in non-current liabilities as deferred income
(note 18) and are credited to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the expected lives of the related assets.

1.25
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Related parties
Individuals or entities are related parties if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control or jointly control
the other party or exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and/or operating decisions.
Key management personnel are defined as all directors of Novus Holdings Limited as well as members of the
Novus Holdings Limited Executive Committee and certain members of senior management.
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2.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Cost
Accumulated depreciation
and impairment
Net book value at 1 April 2015
Additions – cash
Additions – other
Disposals
Reclassifications
Depreciation
Transfers from work in progress
Impairment
Acquisition of subsidiaries/
businesses
Net book value at
31 March 2016
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
and impairment
Additions – cash
Additions – other
Disposals
Reclassifications
Depreciation
Transfers from work in progress
Impairment
Transferred to “held for sale”
Net book value at
31 March 2017
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
and impairment

Land and
buildings
R’000

Plant and
machinery
R’000

Vehicles,
computers
and office
equipment
R’000

853 071

2 803 275

152 184

53 277

3 861 807

(167 569)
685 502
1 788
–
(243)
–
(18 610)
6 544
–

(1 447 745)
1 355 530
32 992
–
(1 503)
23 813
(156 391)
106 817
(2 323)

(111 970)
40 214
9 244
–
(1 801)
(3)
(17 736)
651
–

–
53 277
192 163
41 180
–
–
–
(114 012)
–

(1 727 284)
2 134 523
236 187
41 180
(3 547)
23 810
(192 737)
–
(2 323)

–

111

4

–

115

674 981
861 160

1 359 046
2 962 086

30 573
158 902

172 608
172 608

2 237 208
4 154 756

(186 179)
3 595
–
–
–
(21 167)
66 289
(1 793)
(63 404)

(1 603 040)
52 304
35 696
(11 260)
(30)
(161 932)
132 764
(136 528)
–

(128 329)
13 644
–
(211)
(35)
(17 166)
4 484
(321)
–

–
174 176
–
–
(102)
–
(203 537)
–
–

(1 917 548)
243 719
35 696
(11 471)
(167)
(200 265)
–
(138 642)
(63 404)

658 501
847 932

1 270 060
3 086 081

30 968
174 654

143 145
143 145

2 102 674
4 251 812

(189 431)

(1 816 021)

(143 686)

Work in
progress
R’000

Total
R’000

–

(2 149 138)
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2.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)
Additions – other relates to non-cash acquisitions made during the year. The non-cash acquisitions relate primarily to
assets where risks and rewards had transferred in the year and includes negative adjustments of R28,8 million made for
assets which were recognised in 2016 with corresponding trade payables balances but where the cash flow occurred in
the current year and an increase in additions of R64,4 million relating to the leased assets capitalised in this year.
Reclassifications during the prior year included property, plant and equipment items which were previously classified in
inventory and other asset categories on the statement of financial position. Reclassifications in the current year relate to
items reclassified to other asset categories.
Leased assets – Land and buildings and plant and machinery includes assets with carrying values of R3,8 million
(2016: R3,5 million) and R64,4 million (2016: Rnil) respectively for assets where the Group is a lessee under a finance
lease. Refer to note 15 for more details.
The Group recognised an impairment of property, plant and equipment of R138,6 million (2016: R2,3 million).
R109,0 million (2016: R2,0 million) of the impairments relates to the “Printing” segment and R29,6 million
(2016: R0,3 million) relates to the “Other” segment. The impairment loss has been included in “Other gains/(losses)”
in the income statement.
The current year impairments related to the following:
Printing equipment (R109,0 million)
A biomass boiler in a non-operational state has been impaired by an amount of R18,2 million. The impaired boiler was
installed during the 2015 financial year. This boiler was impaired to a recoverable amount of R7 million.
Press and mailroom equipment has been impaired by R90,8 million. These impairments resulted from unutilised
printing capacity and related equipment that is no longer required. These assets were impaired to a recoverable
amount of R17,0 million.
Other impairments (R29,6 million)
The Group has previously invested in both tissue milling and converting equipment in its tissue operation. The investment
to significantly expand capacity and improve quality firmly positions the tissue business as a growing supplier of jumbo reel
tissue wadding, which is showing greater prospects for the Group than the converting facility. As a result, the Group has
taken a conservative approach and proactively impaired the converting equipment to the value of R26,4 million.
These assets were impaired down to the potential resale value of R3 million.
Finishing equipment to enable the production of canned food labels was purchased during the 2016 financial year. A
combination of operational inefficiencies and unsustainable pricing levels for these labels has led to the decision not to
further pursue this avenue, and this piece of equipment was taken out of production. This equipment with a book value
of R3,2 million has been impaired in full.
The recoverable amounts of the impaired assets were determined by reference to the asset’s fair value less costs of
disposal. The main inputs used were market values of these assets obtained from manufacturers of the same equipment
or similar types of equipment. Where the market values were not obtainable, the recoverable amounts were estimated
by management with the use of internal technical experts and given that these are unobservable inputs, the fair value of
these assets were classified as level 3 fair value. Where there was no market considered for the specific asset and there
is no value in use, this asset was impaired in full.
The cash generating units to which the above impaired assets related to were evaluated for impairment and no further
impairment was required. Also refer to note 3 for goodwill recognised in these cash-generating units.
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2.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)
There were no reversals of impairments in the current year.
At 31 March 2017, the Group has pledged property, plant and equipment of R68,2 million (2016: R3,5 million) as
security against certain finance leases.
The directors are of the opinion that the recoverable amount of each class of property, plant and equipment exceeds
the carrying amount at which it is included in the consolidated statement of financial position.

3.

GOODWILL
2017
R’000

2016
R’000

Cost
Opening balance
Acquisition of subsidiaries
Closing balance

138 711
16 708
155 419

132 052
6 659
138 711

Accumulated impairment
Opening balance
Impairment
Reclassifications
Closing balance

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

155 419

138 711

Net book value

Impairment testing of goodwill
The Group has allocated its goodwill to various cash-generating units. The recoverable amounts of these cash-generating
units have been determined based on a value-in-use calculation. The value-in-use is based on discounted cash flow
calculations. The Group based its cash flow calculations on three to five year budgeted and forecast information
approved by the Executive Committee of the Group and the various boards of directors of Group companies. Long-term
average growth rates were used to extrapolate the cash flows into the future. These rates were also compared to the
average long-term industry growth rates for reasonableness. The discount rates used are post tax and reflect specific
risks relating to the relevant cash generating units in which they operate. Prior year disclosure included pre-tax discount
rates which was amended in the current year to reflect post tax discount rates. The pre-tax discount rate disclosed
was 20,1%.
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3.

GOODWILL (CONTINUED)
The Group allocated goodwill to the following cash-generating units:
Net
Basis of
book determination
value of recoverable
R’000
amount
Cash-generating unit
At 31 March 2017
Paarl Media Cape
Paarl Coldset
Paarl Media Holdings
Intrepid Printers
Paarl Tissue
Digital Print Solutions
Paarl Labels

At 31 March 2016
Paarl Media Cape
Paarl Coldset
Paarl Media Holdings
Intrepid Printers
Paarl Tissue
Digital Print Solutions

Discount
rate
applied to
cash flows

Growth
rate

14 008
17 226
24 596
30 871
45 351
6 659
16 708
155 419

Value in use
Value in use
Value in use
Value in use
Value in use
Value in use
Value in use

12,2%
12,2%
12,2%
12,2%
12,2%
12,2%
12,2%

2%
2%
3%
2%
6%
2%
6%

14 008
17 226
24 596
30 871
45 351
6 659
138 711

Value in use
Value in use
Value in use
Value in use
Value in use
Value in use

14,5%
14,5%
14,5%
14,5%
14,5%
14,5%

2%
2%
3%
2%
6%
2%

Goodwill represents the above cash-generating units’ ability to generate future cash flows, which is a direct result of
various factors, including technological innovations, the quality of the workforce acquired, supplier relationships and
possible future synergies.
If one or more of the inputs were changed to a reasonable possible alternative assumption, there would be no further
significant impairments that would have to be recognised.
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4.

OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Patents, trademarks and
other rights
R’000

Computer
software
R’000

Work
in
progress
R’000

Total
R’000

Cost
Accumulated amortisation and impairment
Net book value at 1 April 2015
Additions
Transfers from work in progress
Amortisation
Net book value at 31 March 2016
Cost
Accumulated amortisation and impairment

407
(407)
–
–
5
–
5
412
(407)

49 309
(42 601)
6 708
4 192
30 110
(4 343)
36 667
83 611
(46 944)

20 546
–
20 546
10 925
(30 115)
–
1 356
1 356
–

70 262
(43 008)
27 254
15 117
–
(4 343)
38 028
85 379
(47 351)

Additions
Disposals
Transfers from work in progress
Reclassification
Amortisation
Acquisition of subsidiaries
Net book value at 31 March 2017
Cost
Accumulated amortisation and impairment

–
–
–
–
(1 017)
3 051
2 039
3 463
(1 424)

5 885
(75)
3 936
83
(6 285)
–
40 211
93 351
(53 140)

2 478
–
(3 936)
102
–
–
–
–
–

8 363
(75)
–
185
(7 302)
3 051
42 250
96 814
(54 564)
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5.

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
The following information relates to the Group’s financial interest in its significant subsidiaries, over which the Group has
control through its direct and indirect interests in respective intermediate holding companies and other entities:
All subsidiaries, except for Novus Holdings Share Trust which has a year end of 28 February and International Printing
Group Limitada which has a year end of 31 December and is incorporated in Mozambique, share the same financial yearend as Novus Holdings Limited and are incorporated in South Africa.
COMPANY

Name of company
Unlisted
Direct interests
Paarl Media Holdings Proprietary Limited
Paarl Coldset Proprietary Limited
Latiano 554 Proprietary Limited
Paarl Packaging Proprietary Limited
Novus Holdings Share Trust
Leif 663 Proprietary Limited
Novus Packaging Proprietary Limited
Indirect interests
Macleary Investments 456
Proprietary Limited
Paarl Media Paarl Proprietary Limited
Paarl Media Proprietary Limited
Paarl Labels Proprietary Limited
Media Administration Proprietary Limited
Extra Dimensions 1 Proprietary Limited
Intrepid Printers Proprietary Limited
Paarl Labels Africa Proprietary Limited
Paarl Tissue Proprietary Limited
Victory Ticket 376 Proprietary Limited
t/a Digital Print Solutions
International Printing Group Limitada
*
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Nature of business

Effective
interest
2017

Effective
interest
2016

%

%

Carrying
amount
2017
R’000

Carrying
amount
2016
R’000

Printing
Printing
Investment holding company
Investment holding company
Investment holding entity
Investment holding company
Investment holding company

100,0
100,0
100,0
100,0
100,0
100,0
100,0

100,0 1 043 782 1 043 782
100,0
253 339
253 339
100,0
*
*
100,0
*
*
100,0
*
*
–
*
*
–
*
*
1 297 121 1 297 121

Dormant
Printing
Printing
Printing
Dormant
Dormant
Dormant
Dormant
Tissue manufacturing

100,0
100,0
100,0
100,0
100,0
100,0
100,0
100,0
100,0

100,0
100,0
100,0
100,0
100,0
100,0
100,0
100,0
100,0

Printing
Retail

100,0
97,7

–
–

The carrying amounts of these investments are less than R1 000.
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6.

DEFERRED TAXATION
The deferred tax assets and liabilities and movement thereon are attributable to the following items:

2017
Deferred taxation assets
Receivables and other current assets
Provisions and other current liabilities
Income received in advance
Tax losses carried forward
Capitalised finance leases
Derivative assets
Hedging reserve
Share-based compensation

Deferred taxation liabilities
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Receivables and other current assets
Translation reserves
Hedging reserve
Net deferred taxation
Notes:

Opening
balance
R’000

Charged
to income
R’000

Charged
to other
comprehenAcquisition
sive income of subsidiary
R’000
R’000

2 948
21 790
1 042
16 907
411
(1 215)
582
6 096
48 561

(2 044)
(8 784)
(954)
31 551
(271)
5 145
–
(2 580)
22 063

–
(257)
–
–
–
–
–
–
(257)

(304 914)
(113)
(1 834)
–
341
(306 520)
(257 959)

49 026
397
(4 068)
–
–
45 355
67 418

–
–
–
722
(902)
(180)
(437)

24

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
(854)
–
–
–
(854)
(854)

Closing
balance
R’000
904
12 749
88
48 458
140
3 930
582
3 516
70 367

(255 888)
(570)
(5 902)
722
(561)
(262 199)
(191 832)

30
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6.

DEFERRED TAXATION (CONTINUED)

2016
Deferred taxation assets
Receivables and other current assets
Provisions and other current liabilities
Income received in advance
Tax losses carried forward
Capitalised finance leases
Derivative assets
Hedging reserve
Share-based compensation

Deferred taxation liabilities
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Receivables and other current assets
Hedging reserve
Net deferred taxation
Note

Charged
to other
comprehensive income
R’000

Opening
balance
R’000

Charged
to income
R’000

Acquisition
of subsidiary
R’000

Closing
balance
R’000

3 782
19 960
774
6 514
1 277
2 833
887
12 242
48 269

(834)
2 251
268
10 393
(866)
(4 048)
–
(6 146)
1 018

–
(421)
–
–
–
–
(305)
–
(726)

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

2 948
21 790
1 042
16 907
411
(1 215)
582
6 096
48 561

(311 341)
–
(2 172)
1 272
(312 241)
(263 972)

6 427
(113)
338
–
6 652
7 670

–
–
–
(931)
(931)
(1 657)

–
–
–
–
–
–

(304 914)
(113)
(1 834)
341
(306 520)
(257 959)

24

A summary of the Group’s recognised tax losses carried forward at 31 March and the expected dates of utilisation are
set out below. The tax losses are within the South African tax jurisdiction.
GROUP

Utilised within two to five years
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2017
R’000

2016
R’000

173 063
173 063

60 383
60 383
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6.

DEFERRED TAXATION (CONTINUED)
The ultimate outcome of additional taxation assessments may vary from the amounts accrued. However, management
believes that any additional taxation liability over and above the amount accrued would not have a material adverse
impact on the Group’s income statement and statement of financial position.
Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax losses carried forward to the extent that the realisation of the related
benefit through future taxable profits is probable. The deferred tax assets relate mainly to carried forward tax losses of
Paarl Tissue Proprietary Limited. The subsidiary has incurred losses over the last three years following the acquisition
of the business. They relate mainly to costs of integrating the operations and delays in the expansion project of the
business. The Group has concluded that the deferred tax assets will be recoverable using the estimated future taxable
income based on approved business plans and budgets for the subsidiary.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when the income tax relates to the same fiscal authority and there is a legal
right to offset at settlement. The following amounts are shown in the consolidated statement of financial position:
GROUP
2017
R’000
50 597
(242 429)
(191 832)

Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax liabilities
7.

2016
R’000
12 562
(270 521)
(257 959)

INVENTORY
GROUP

Raw materials (paper, ink and plates)
Finished products, trading inventory and
consumables
Work in progress
Gross inventory
Less: Provision for slow-moving and obsolete
inventories
Net inventory

COMPANY

2017
R’000

2016
R’000

2017
R’000

2016
R’000

239 425

238 732

–

–

61 366
48 641
349 432

53 780
41 953
334 465

–
–
–

–
–
–

(7 102)
342 330

(9 189)
325 276

–
–

–
–

The total provision charged to the income statement to write inventory down to net realisable value amounted to
R1,6 million (2016: R7,4 million), and reversals of these provisions amounted to R3,6 million (2016: R0,6 million).
The cost of inventories recognised as an expense and included in ‘‘costs of goods sold’’ amounted to R2 129 million
(2016: R1 924 million).
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8.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
GROUP
2017
R’000
Trade accounts receivable, gross
Less: Provision for impairment of receivables
Prepayments
Staff debtors
VAT receivable
Sundry deposits
Other receivables

430 407
(11 275)
419 132
22 233
599
7 955
4 960
23 560
478 439

COMPANY
2016
R’000

2017
R’000

2016
R’000

499 219
(26 660)
472 559
19 773
648
22 277
4 474
11 732
531 463

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying value of the receivables mentioned
above. The Group does not hold any form of collateral as security relating to trade receivables.
The movement in the allowance account for impairment of trade receivables during the year was as follows:
GROUP

Provision for impairment of trade receivables
Opening balance
Provision for impairment
Unused amounts reversed
Provisions utilised
Closing balance

COMPANY

2017
R’000

2016
R’000

2017
R’000

2016
R’000

26 660
7 918
(7 325)
(15 978)
11 275

18 009
27 879
(9 469)
(9 759)
26 660

–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–

The ageing of the provision per age class is presented below:
GROUP

30 days and older
60 days and older
90 days and older
120 days and older
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COMPANY

2017
R’000

2016
R’000

2017
R’000

2016
R’000

2 016
921
335
8 003
11 275

3 595
384
44
22 637
26 660

–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
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8.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)
As at 31 March 2017, trade receivables of R72,6 million (2016: R140,9 million) were past due but not impaired.
These relate to a number of independent customers for whom there is either no recent history of default or if defaults
were noted, where management have assessed the outstanding balances to be recoverable by taking into account the
debtor’s financial position, past experience and other factors. The ageing of these trade receivables, after provisions for
impairments were raised, is as follows:
GROUP

Neither past due nor impaired
Past due:
30 days and older
60 days and older
90 days and older
120 days and older

COMPANY

2017
R’000

2016
R’000

2017
R’000

2016
R’000

346 530

331 592

–

–

47 801
7 605
11 047
6 149
419 132

61 522
8 936
20 183
50 326
472 559

–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–

The credit risk of trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired can be assessed by reference to their customer
type. Trade receivables, neither past due nor impaired by type of customer, are categorised and ranked by concentration
of risk as follows:
GROUP
COMPANY

Listed South African corporates
Government/parastatals
South African corporates
Corporates in the rest of Africa

2017
R’000

2016
R’000

2017
R’000

2016
R’000

121 320
24 681
198 642
1 887
346 530

108 780
3 420
215 490
3 902
331 592

–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
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9.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
GROUP
2017
R’000
Cash and cash equivalents consist of:
Bank balances
Cash and cash equivalents
Bank overdrafts

Total amount of undrawn facilities available for
future operating activities and commitments
10.

COMPANY
2016
R’000

2017
R’000

2016
R’000

229 968
229 968
(2 744)
227 224

278 220
278 220
(11 442)
266 778

134
134
–
134

5
5
–
5

612 731

749 889

–

–

NON-CURRENT ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE
In March 2017, management took a decision to sell land and buildings in Paarl where the previous Paarl Media Paarl
business was located. These land and buildings were therefore reclassified as held for sale. The transaction is expected
to be completed by 30 September 2017.

Opening balance
Transfers from property, plant and equipment
Closing balance

2017
R’000

2016
R’000

–
63 404
63 404

–
–
–

In accordance with IFRS 5, the land and buildings were measured at the lower of its carrying amount and fair value less
costs to sell at the time of the reclassification.
11.

SHARE CAPITAL
GROUP
2017
R’000

2016
R’000

2017
R’000

2016
R’000

–

–

–

–

Issued
347 332 454 ordinary no par value shares
(2016: 347 332 454 ordinary no par
value shares)

606 040

606 040

606 040

606 040

Treasury shares
Shares held as treasury shares

368 172

368 172

368 172

368 172

Authorised
3 000 000 000 ordinary no par value shares
(2016: 3 000 000 000 ordinary no par
value shares)

164

COMPANY

ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

11.

SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED)
Treasury shares
Treasury shares include 24 313 272 ordinary shares issued to the Novus Holdings Share Trust in respect of options
allotted to selected employees and 3 473 325 ordinary shares issued to Latiano 554 Proprietary Limited in respect of
the options previously allotted to Mr LP Retief in his capacity as non-executive chairman and director of the company.
Mr Retief’s options have been cancelled during the current financial year but the shares remain within the legal entity,
Latiano 554 Proprietary Limited.
Unissued share capital
The directors of the company have unrestricted authority until the next annual general meeting, to allot and issue up
to ten percent, amounting to 34 733 245 shares, of the unissued ordinary shares of the company. This authority was
granted subject to the provisions of the South African Companies Act No 71 of 2008 and the JSE Listings Requirements.

12.

OTHER RESERVES
GROUP
2017
R’000

COMPANY
2016
R’000

2017
R’000

2016
R’000

(857 897)
32 692
(1 758)
(478)
–
(827 441)

862 819
–
–
–
–
862 819

862 819
–
–
–
–
862 819

Other reserves in the statement of financial
position comprise the following:
Existing control business combination reserve
Share-based compensation reserve
Hedging reserve
Actuarial reserve
Foreign currency translation reserve

(857 897)
56 875
(1 770)
182
(1 855)
(804 465)

The existing control business combination reserve is used to account for transactions with non-controlling shareholders
in terms of the economic entity model, whereby the excess of the cost of the transactions over the acquirer’s interest
in previously recognised assets and liabilities is allocated to this reserve in equity. This reserve is also used in common
control transactions (where all of the combining entities in a business combination are ultimately controlled by the
same entity) where the excess of the cost of the transactions over the acquirer’s proportionate share of the net assets
acquired is allocated to this reserve.
The fair value of equity settled share options issued to employees is accounted for in the share-based compensation
reserve over the vesting period. The reserve is adjusted at each year-end when the entity revises its estimates of the
number of share options that are expected to become exercisable. It recognises the impact of the revision of
original estimates, if any, in the income statement, with a corresponding adjustment to this reserve in equity for
equity-settled plans.
The hedging reserve relates to the changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments and the relevant
underlying hedged items. It hedges forecast transactions or the foreign currency part of firm commitments. The
changes in fair value are recorded in the hedging reserve until the forecast transaction or firm commitment results
in the recognition of a non-financial asset or liability, when such deferred gains or losses are included in the initial
measurement of the non-financial asset or liability.
The actuarial reserve relates to actuarial gains or losses on the post employment medical liability as well as the
provisions for pensioner gratuities.
Exchange differences arising on translation of the foreign controlled entity are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in the foreign currency translation reserve. The cumulative amount is reclassified to profit
or loss when the net investment is disposed of.
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13.

POST-EMPLOYMENT MEDICAL LIABILITY
The employees of the Group participate in a post-retirement medical benefit scheme. The obligation of the Group to
pay medical aid contributions after retirement is no longer part of the conditions of employment for new employees.
A number of pensioners and current employees, however, remain entitled to this benefit. The entitlement to this benefit
for current participating employees is dependent on the employees remaining in service until retirement age and
completing a minimum service period.
The Group provides for post-retirement medical aid benefits on the accrual basis determined each year by way of a
valuation. The key assumptions and the valuation methods are described below. The directors believe that adequate
provision has been made for future liabilities.
Key assumptions and valuation method
The actuarial valuation method used to value the liabilities is the Projected Unit Credit Method prescribed by IAS 19
“Employee Benefits”. Future benefit values are projected using specific actuarial assumptions and the liability for
in-service members is accrued over the expected working lifetime.
The most significant assumptions used for the current and previous valuations are outlined below:

Discount rate
Health cost inflation
Expected retirement age
Membership discontinued at retirement

2017

2016

9,8%
9,2%
60
0%

10,4%
10,0%
60
0%

It is assumed that current in-service members would retire on their current medical scheme option and that there would
be no change in options on retirement.
Actuarial assumptions are generally more suited to estimating the future experience of larger groups of individuals.
The overall experience of larger groups is less variable and is more likely to tend to the expected value.

Opening balance
Current service cost
Interest cost
Employer benefit payments
Remeasurements
Closing balance
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2017
R’000

2016
R’000

3 486
129
363
(1)
(990)
2 987

4 133
111
345
(49)
(1 054)
3 486
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13.

POST-EMPLOYMENT MEDICAL LIABILITY (CONTINUED)
A sensitivity analysis is presented below to show the effect of a one percentage point decrease or increase in the rate of
healthcare cost inflation:
2017

Assumption
10,00%

Healthcare cost inflation
Accrued liability 31 March
% change
Current service cost and interest cost
% change

2 987
492

2016

14.

2 667
(10,7%)
436
(11,4%)

+1%
3 372
12,9%
561
14,0%

Assumption
10,00%

Healthcare cost inflation
Accrued liability 31 March
% change
Current service cost and interest cost
% change

-1%

3 486
456

-1%
3 113
(10,7%)
404
(11,5%)

+1%
3 936
12,9%
520
14,1%

PROVISIONS
The long-service and retirement gratuity provisions were determined based on management’s estimates and
assumptions as below. The Group has an obligation to pay the benefits relating to the long-service bonus for current
employees, however the obligation to settle benefits relating to the retirement gratuity provision is limited to a group
of employees who still remain entitled to these benefits. The remeasurements relating to the long-service bonus
provision is recognised in profit or loss and the remeasurements relating to the retirement gratuity provision is
recognised in other comprehensive income.
Key assumptions and valuation method
The actuarial valuation method used to value the provisions is the Projected Unit Credit Method as prescribed by IAS 19
“Employee Benefits”.
The most significant assumptions used for the current and previous valuations are outlined below:

Discount rate
Normal salary increase rate
Expected retirement age

2017

2016

8,8%
5,0%
60

9,4%
5,0%
60

The discount rate and the normal salary increase rate assumptions should be considered in relation to each other.
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14.

PROVISIONS (CONTINUED)
Long-service bonus
As per the Group’s remuneration policies a long-service bonus is paid to qualifying employees at the following intervals:
––
––
––
––

10 years uninterrupted service – 50% of one month’s total cost to company
15 years uninterrupted service – 75% of one month’s total cost to company
25 years uninterrupted service – 100% of one month’s total cost to company
40 years uninterrupted service – 100% of one month’s total cost to company

The accrued liability is determined on the basis that each employee’s long-service benefit accrues uniformly over the
period to which the benefit becomes payable.

Opening balance
Current service cost
Interest cost
Employer benefit payments
Remeasurements
Closing balance

2017
R’000

2016
R’000

4 662
397
349
(916)
4 387
8 879

8 957
896
567
(2 141)
(3 617)
4 662

A sensitivity analysis is presented below to show the effect of a one percentage point decrease or increase in the salary
increase rate:
GROUP
2017

Assumption
5%

Normal salary increase rate
Accrued liability 31 March
% change
Current service cost and interest cost
% change

8 879
746

2016

+1%

8 515
(4,1%)
717
(3,9%)

9 261
4,3%
784
5,1%

Assumption
5%

Normal salary increase rate
Accrued liability 31 March
% change
Current service cost and interest cost
% change

-1%

4 662
1 463

-1%

+1%

4 480
(3,9%)
1 397
(4,5%)

4 858
4,2%
1 533
4,8%

Retirement gratuity
The retirement gratuity is paid to qualifying employees in the event of retirement (normal, early and ill health) at the age
of 55 years or older and with at least 15 years of continued service at retirement.
The accrued liability was calculated by taking a pro rata proportion of the total calculated value. This proportion is based
on the past service of members relative to their prospective total service.
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14.

PROVISIONS (CONTINUED)

Opening balance
Current service cost
Interest cost
Employer benefit payments
Remeasurements
Closing balance

2017
R’000

2016
R’000

3 194
82
268
(453)
75
3 166

3 741
94
243
(575)
(309)
3 194

A sensitivity analysis is presented below to show the effect of a one percentage point decrease or increase in the salary
increase rate:
2017

Assumption
5%

Normal salary increase rate
Accrued liability 31 March
% change
Current service cost and interest cost
% change

3 166
350

2016
Normal salary increase rate
Accrued liability 31 March
% change
Current service cost and interest cost
% change

-1%
2 919
(7,8%)
318
(9,1%)

+1%
3 438
8,6%
386
10,2%

Assumption
5%

-1%

+1%

3 194

2 983
(6,6%)
307
(8,9%)

3 430
7,4%
371
10,0%

337

Other provisions
Other provisions includes an amount of R6,3 million (2016: Rnil) relating to costs provided in terms of an onerous
lease contract.
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14.

PROVISIONS (CONTINUED)
Total provisions

15.

2017
R’000

2016
R’000

Long-service bonus provision
Retirement gratuity provision
Other provisions
Total provisions

8 879
3 166
7 177
19 222

4 662
3 194
745
8 601

Non-current provisions
Current provisions

17 045
2 177
19 222

8 601
–
8 601

2017
R’000

2016
R’000

Total liabilities
Less: current portion
Interest-bearing: capitalised finance leases
Total liabilities
Less: current portion
Interest-bearing: loans and other liabilities

63 504
(3 068)
60 436
17 022
(17 022)
–

4 304
(2 501)
1 803
76 183
(58 513)
17 670

Net long-term liabilities

60 436

19 473

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

Capitalised finance leases
Currency of balance: South African rand
Type of lease: lease of printing and tissue manufacturing equipment
Weighted average year-end interest rate: 9,83%
Final repayment dates: 2017 – 2036
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15.

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)
2017
R’000

2016
R’000

Future finance costs on finance leases
Present value of finance lease liabilities

9 114
30 058
93 644
132 816
(69 312)
63 504

2 508
2 148
–
4 656
(352)
4 304

Present value
Payable within one year
Payable within two to five years
Payable later than five years
Present value of finance lease liabilities

3 068
7 744
52 692
63 504

2 501
1 803
–
4 304

2017
R’000

2016
R’000

17 022
–
17 022

58 513
17 670
76 183

–
–
80 526
80 526

2 032
1 803
76 652
80 487

Payable within one year
Payable within two to five years
Payable later than five years

Loans and other liabilities
Rand Merchant Bank loan
Currency of balance: South African rand
Year-end interest rate: 9,058% (three-month JIBAR +1,7%)
Final repayment date of loan: July 2017

Repayment terms of loans
Payable within one year
Payable within two to five years

Interest rate profile of long-term liabilities (long and short-term portion,
including capitalised finance leases)
Loans at fixed rates (1 – 12 months)
Loans at fixed rates (more than 12 months)
Loans linked to variable rates
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16.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
The Group operates a number of share incentive plans and share appreciation rights (SARs) schemes.
All share options are granted with an exercise price of not less than 100% of the market value or fair value of the
respective company’s shares on the date of the grant. All SARs are granted with an exercise price of not less than 100%
of the fair value of the SARs on the date of the grant. All unvested share options/SARs are subject to forfeiture upon
termination of employment. All cancelled options/SARs are options/SARs cancelled by mutual agreement between the
employer and employee.
The share-based payment liabilities and reserves at 31 March are as follows:

Notes
Share-based payment liability
Non-current liability
Current liability

172

2017
R’000

2016
R’000

3 139
9 422
12 561

6 239
15 537
21 776

Share-based compensation reserve
Balance as at 31 March

12

56 875

32 692

Income statement
Share-based compensation charge

21

28 068

36 254
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16.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)
The following significant share incentive plans were in operation during the financial year:

Share Trusts
Novus Holdings Share Trust
LP Retief share option***
Share appreciation rights schemes
Paarl Coldset Proprietary Limited
Paarl Media Holdings
Proprietary Limited

Period to
expiry
from date
of offer

Date of
incorporation

Maximum
awards
permissible#

Vesting
period

11 March 2015
27 February 2015

10%
1%

*
*

10 March 2010

5%

*

**

Cash settled

10 March 2010

5%

*

**

Cash settled

IFRS 2
classification

6 years Equity settled
*** Equity settled

Notes:
	The percentage reflected in this column is the maximum percentage of the respective companies issued/notional
share capital that the applicable trust may hold and subsequently allocate to participants subject to the following,
where applicable.
*	One-third vests after each of years three, four and five.
**	Period to expiry from date of offer is five years and 14 days.
***	These options were cancelled during the current year.
#
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16.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)
Movements in the share trust incentive plan is as follows:
2017
Novus Holdings Share Trust
Shares
Outstanding 1 April
Forfeited
Outstanding 31 March

Weighted average exercise price
Outstanding 1 April
Forfeited
Outstanding 31 March

20 173 565
(4 648 135)
15 525 430

2016

24 260 097
(4 086 532)
20 173 565

R

R

13,25
13,25
13,25

13,25
13,25
13,25

2017

2016

Movements in the share trust incentive plan is as follows:

LP Retief Share option
Shares
Outstanding 1 April
Cancelled
Outstanding 31 March

Weighted average exercise price
Outstanding 1 April
Cancelled
Outstanding 31 March

3 473 325
(3 473 325)
–

3 473 325
–
3 473 325

R

R

13,25
13,25
13,25

13,25
–
13,25

There is an accelerated share-based compensation charge of R8,9m recognised in the current year as a result of the
cancellation of these options. Refer to note 11 for further detail of these options.
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16.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)
Movements in the share appreciation rights (SAR) plans are as follows:
2017
Paarl Coldset Proprietary Limited
SARs
Outstanding 1 April
Movements in/(out)
Exercised
Forfeited
Outstanding 31 March

Weighted average exercise price
Outstanding 1 April
Movements in/(out)
Exercised
Forfeited
Outstanding 31 March
Weighted average share price of options taken up during the year
SARs
Weighted average SAR price (R)

Paarl Media Holdings Proprietary Limited
SARs
Outstanding 1 April
Movements in/(out)
Exercised
Forfeited
Outstanding 31 March

Weighted average exercise price
Outstanding 1 April
Movements in/(out)
Exercised
Forfeited
Outstanding 31 March
Weighted average share price of options taken up during the year
SARs
Weighted average SAR price (R)

1 153 337
–
(386 663)
(166 669)
600 005

2016

2 404 333
(110 000)
(730 995)
(410 001)
1 153 337

R

R

15.34
–
10,56
17,36
17,85

13,23
6,16
8,20
18,14
15,34

386 663
19,37

730 995
18,10

2017

2016

1 813 349
–
(533 334)
(280 006)
1 000 009

3 413 342
(26 665)
(1 173 326)
(400 002)
1 813 349

R

R

33,55
–
30,14
35,28
34,88

31,80
27,47
28,30
34,46
33,55

533 334
45,04

1 173 326
42,09

INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2017 | NOVUS HOLDINGS

175

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2017
16.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)
Share option allocations outstanding to be implemented at 31 March by exercise price for the Group’s significant share
incentive plans.
Novus Holdings Share Trust
SHARE OPTIONS
OUTSTANDING

Exercise
price
2017

SHARE OPTIONS
CURRENTLY AVAILABLE

Weighted
average
Weighted
Number
remaining
average
outstanding contractual life exercise price
at 31 March
(years)
(R)

Exercisable
at 31 March

Weighted
average
exercise price
(R)

13,25

15 525 430
15 525 430

4

13,25
13,25

–
–

–
–

13,25

20 173 565
20 173 565

5

13,25
13,25

–
–

–
–

2016

LP Retief Share Option
SHARE OPTIONS
OUTSTANDING

Exercise
price
2016

176

13,25

SHARE OPTIONS
CURRENTLY AVAILABLE

Weighted
average
Number
remaining
outstanding contractual life
at 31 March
(years)
3 473 325
3 473 325

5

Weighted
average
exercise price
(R)

Exercisable
at 31 March

Weighted
average
exercise price
(R)

13,25
13,25

–
–

–
–
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16.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)
SARs allocations outstanding to be implemented at 31 March by exercise price for the Group’s significant SARs:
Paarl Coldset Proprietary Limited
SHARE OPTIONS
OUTSTANDING

Exercise price
2017

SHARE OPTIONS
CURRENTLY AVAILABLE

Weighted
average
Weighted
Number
remaining
average
outstanding contractual life exercise price
at 31 March
(years)
(R)

Exercisable
at 31 March

Weighted
average
exercise price
(R)

10,41
18,68

60 003
540 002
600 005

0,01
1,70

10,41
18,68
17,85

60 003
159 994
219 997

10,41
18,68
16,42

8,33
10,41
18,68

210 000
203 337
740 000
1 153 337

0,04
1,01
2,71

8,33
10,41
18,68
15,34

210 000
73 331
–
283 331

8,33
10,41
–
8,87

2016

Paarl Media Holdings Proprietary Limited
SHARE OPTIONS
OUTSTANDING

Exercise
price
2017

SHARE OPTIONS
CURRENTLY AVAILABLE

Weighted
average
Weighted
Number
remaining
average
outstanding contractual life exercise price
at 31 March
(years)
(R)

Exercisable
at 31 March

Weighted
average
exercise price
(R)

24,96
36,07

106 671
893 338
1 000 009

0,01
1,62

24,96
36,07
34,88

106 671
226 657
333 328

24,96
36,07
32,51

24,96
28,31
36,07

313 343
140 006
1 360 000
1 813 349

1,01
0,04
2,63

24,96
28,31
36,07
33,55

133 325
140 006
–
273 331

24,96
28,31
–
26,68

2016

There were no share options granted during the year.
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16.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)
The directors of Novus Holdings Limited have the following share trust and SARs:
2017

Director

Date of
award

Number of
instruments
awarded

Paarl Coldset
Paarl Coldset
Paarl Coldset
Paarl Media Holdings
Paarl Media Holdings
Paarl Media Holdings
Novus Holdings Share Trust

22/03/2012
02/07/2013
26/03/2014
22/03/2012
02/07/2013
26/03/2014
31/03/2015

40 000
20 000
70 000
40 000
50 000
70 000
1 910 329

10,41
18,68
18,68
24,96
36,07
36,07
13,25

26 667
20 000
70 000
26 667
50 000
70 000
1 910 329

Paarl Coldset
Paarl Coldset
Paarl Media Holdings
Paarl Media Holdings
Novus Holdings Share Trust

31/03/2011
26/03/2014
31/03/2011
26/03/2014
31/03/2015

10 000
20 000
6 668
20 000
764 131

8,33
18,68
28,31
36,07
13,25

10 000
20 000
6 668
20 000
764 131

Paarl Coldset
Paarl Media Holdings
Paarl Media Holdings
Novus Holdings Share Trust

31/03/2011
31/03/2011
22/03/2012
31/03/2015

30 000
20 000
20 000
1 041 997

8,33
28,31
24,96
13,25

10 000
6 668
13 334
1 041 997

LP Retief Share Option

27/02/2015

3 473 325

13,25

3 473 325

SAR/Share Scheme

Offer price
(R)

Outstanding
at 31 March
2016

KA Vroon

E Fivaz

E van Niekerk

LP Retief

	The indicative value of outstanding options/SARs was calculated based on the number of instruments held by the individual
at year-end share price (or SAR valuation) less the instrument’s strike (or option) price. Only indicative gains were disclosed.

#

The following shares prices (or SAR valuations) were applicable at year-end:
Paarl Media Holdings SAR – R45,04
Paarl Coldset SAR – R19,37
Novus Holdings Limited – R8,55
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Accepted
during
the year

Exercised
during
the year

–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
–

Price on
exercise date
(R)

Indicative
value of
unvested
and/or
unexercised
options
(R’000)#

Increase
in value
R’000

Cancelled
during
the year

Outstanding
at 31 March
2017

–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
–

26 667
20 000
70 000
26 667
50 000
70 000
1 910 329

239
14
48
535
449
628
–
1 913

–
–
–
–
–

–
20 000
–
20 000
764 131

–
14
–
179
–
193

–
–
–
–
–

(10 000)
–
(6 668)
–
–

19,37
–
45,04
–
–

110
–
112
–
–
222

–
–
–
–

(10 000)
(6 668)
(13 334)
–

19,37
45,04
45,04
–

110
112
268
–
490

–
–
–
(1 041 997)

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–

–

–

(3 473 325)

–

–

–

–
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16.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)
The directors of Novus Holdings Limited have the following share trust and SARs:
2016

Date of
award

Number of
instruments
awarded

Offer price
(R)

Outstanding
at 31 March
2015

Naspers
Naspers
Naspers
Paarl Coldset
Paarl Coldset
Paarl Coldset
Paarl Coldset
Paarl Coldset
Paarl Media Holdings
Paarl Media Holdings
Paarl Media Holdings
Paarl Media Holdings
Paarl Media Holdings
Novus Holdings Share Trust

07/09/2012
11/07/2013
28/03/2014
23/03/2010
31/03/2011
22/03/2012
02/07/2013
26/03/2014
23/03/2010
22/03/2012
31/03/2011
02/07/2013
26/03/2014
31/03/2015

10 776
4 019
2 050
266 000
240 000
127 000
126 667
126 667
300 000
150 000
300 000
150 000
150 000
2 778 660

484,70
770,00
1155,00
4,35
8,33
10,41
18,68
18,68
28,38
24,96
28,31
36,07
36,07
13,25

10 776
4 019
2 050
177 332
160 000
127 000
126 667
126 667
100 000
150 000
300 000
150 000
150 000
2 778 660

Paarl Coldset
Paarl Coldset
Paarl Coldset
Paarl Media Holdings
Paarl Media Holdings
Paarl Media Holdings
Paarl Media Holdings
Novus Holdings Share Trust

22/03/2012
02/07/2013
26/03/2014
23/03/2010
22/03/2012
02/07/2013
26/03/2014
31/03/2015

40 000
20 000
70 000
160 000
40 000
50 000
70 000
1 910 329

10,41
18,68
18,68
28,38
24,96
36,07
36,07
13,25

40 000
20 000
70 000
53 334
40 000
50 000
70 000
1 910 329

Paarl Coldset
Paarl Media Holdings
Paarl Media Holdings
Novus Holdings Share Trust

31/03/2011
31/03/2011
22/03/2012
31/03/2015

30 000
20 000
20 000
1 041 997

8,33
28,31
24,96
13,25

20 000
13 334
20 000
1 041 997

LP Retief Share Option

27/02/2015

3 473 325

13,25

3 473 325

SAR/Share Scheme
STM van der Walt

KA Vroon

E van Niekerk

LP Retief

	The indicative value of outstanding options/SARs was calculated based on the number of instruments held by the individual
at year-end share price (or SAR valuation) less the instrument’s strike (or option) price. Only indicative gains were disclosed.

#

The following shares prices (or SAR valuations) were applicable at year-end:
Paarl Media Holdings SAR – R42,09
Paarl Coldset SAR – R18,10
Novus Holdings Limited – R11,50
Naspers Limited – R2 061,00
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Accepted
during
the year

Exercised
during
the year

Price on
exercise date
(R)

Increase in
value
R’000

Cancelled
during
the year

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

(3 592)
–
–
(177 332)
(160 000)
(127 000)
–
–
(100 000)
(150 000)
(300 000)
(150 000)
–
–

2171,91
–
–
18,10
18,10
18,10
–
–
42,09
42,09
42,09
42,09
–
–

6 060
–
–
2 438
1 563
977
–
–
1 371
2 570
4 134
903
–
–
20 016

(7 184)
(4 019)
(2 050)
–
–
–
(126 667)
(126 667)
–
–
–
–
(150 000)
(2 778 660)

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

(13 333)
–
–
(53 334)
(13 333)
–
–
–

18,10
–
–
42,09
42,09
–
–
–

103
–
–
731
228
–
–
–
1 062

–
–
–
–

(10 000)
(6 666)
(6 666)
–

18,10
42,09
42,09
–

–

–

–

98
92
114
–
304
–

Indicative value
of unvested
and/or
Outstanding
unexercised
at 31 March
options
2016
(R’000)#
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

26 667
20 000
70 000
–
26 667
50 000
70 000
1 910 329

205
–
–
–
457
301
421
–
1 384

–
–
–
–

10 000
6 668
13 334
1 041 997

–

3 473 325

98
92
228
–
418
–
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17.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
GROUP

Trade payables
Amounts received in advance
Personnel accruals
Accrued leave pay
Accrued bonus
Accrued expenses
Value-added tax
Amounts owing in respect of business
combinations
Other current liabilities

COMPANY

2017
R’000

2016
R’000

2017
R’000

2016
R’000

191 561
–
5 255
19 705
18 615
44 466
9 246

234 293
3 387
6 808
18 259
33 690
75 798
6 700

–
–
–
–
–
–
–

2
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
288 848

2 385
3 292
384 612

–
–
–

–
–
2

The fair values of trade and other payables approximate their carrying values.
18.

DEFERRED INCOME
Deferred income consists of Government grants received.
GROUP

COMPANY

2017
R’000

2016
R’000

2017
R’000

2016
R’000

Opening balance
Grants received
Included in profit or loss
Closing balance

61 218
–
(11 243)
49 975

33 579
33 508
(5 869)
61 218

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

Non-current liability portion
Current liability portion

45 135
4 840
49 975

51 956
9 262
61 218

–
–
–

–
–
–

On 26 March 2016, a grant of R4,3 million and on 20 October 2015, a grant of R15,2million, in respect of production
equipment, was received from the Department of Trade and Industry (DTI) in terms of the Manufacturing Competitiveness
Enhancement Programme (MCEP).
On 28 February 2013, a grant of R33,2 million was received from the DTI and a further R16,3 million on 1 October 2015.
This was in terms of the MCEP. The grant was provided on condition that the related capital expenditure project was an
expansion and not a replacement of the project that burned down at Paarl Media Paarl and that the transfer of machinery
and labour between the these projects would not be allowed for the duration of the approval of the grant.
On 3 November 2011, a grant of R1,4 million was received from the DTI in terms of the Enterprise Investment
Programme (EIP).
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19.

REVENUE
GROUP

Printing revenue
Tissue revenue
Waste sales
Other revenue

COMPANY

2017
R’000

2016
R’000

2017
R’000

2016
R’000

4 077 159
154 428
35 370
45 507
4 312 464

3 954 650
143 393
36 212
40 262
4 174 517

–
–
–
269 717
269 717

–
–
–
13 226
13 226

2017
R’000

2016
R’000

2017
R’000

2016
R’000

3 553

(633)

–

–

(2 323)
(53)
996
(2 013)

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

Other revenue for the company is dividend income.
20.

OTHER GAINS/(LOSSES) – NET
GROUP

Profit/(loss) on sale of property, plant
and equipment
Impairment of property, plant and equipment
(note 2)
Cost associated with business combinations
Insurance proceeds

(138 642)
–
–
(135 089)

COMPANY
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21.

EXPENSES BY NATURE
GROUP

Operating profit includes the following items:
Depreciation classification
Cost of providing goods
Selling, general and administrative costs
Amortisation classification
Cost of providing goods
Selling, general and administrative costs
Operating leases
Buildings
Other equipment

Auditor’s remuneration
Fees
Prior year under provision
Audit-related fees
Tax fees
All other fees

Foreign exchange profits
On capitalisation of forward exchange
contracts in hedging transactions
Other

Advertising expense
Cost of inventories sold
Employee costs
Salaries, wages and bonuses
Retirement benefit costs
(defined contribution plan)
Medical aid fund contributions
Post-retirement benefits
Share-based compensation charge
Long-service and retirement gratuities
Training costs
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COMPANY

2017
R’000

2016
R’000

2017
R’000

2016
R’000

161 933
38 332
200 265

156 391
36 346
192 737

–
–
–

–
–
–

5 608
1 694
7 302

3 289
1 054
4 343

–
–
–

–
–
–

13 472
–
13 472

8 120
654
8 774

–
–
–

–
–
–

4 575
633
–
1 125
562
6 895

4 112
220
128
242
177
4 879

–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–

(9 229)
–
(9 229)

(40 672)
(138)
(40 810)

–
–
–

–
–
–

8 168

11 011

–

–

2 129 157

1 924 069

–

–

537 482

517 094

–

–

61 697
28 163
492
28 068
5 541
10 534
671 977

57 411
27 649
407
36 254
(4 480)
6 969
641 304

–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
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22.

FINANCE INCOME
GROUP

Bank
Other

23.

COMPANY

2017
R’000

2016
R’000

2017
R’000

2016
R’000

13 406
27
13 433

20 065
623
20 688

110
–
110

394
–
394

2017
R’000

2016
R’000

2017
R’000

2016
R’000

33 970
8 314
–
3 404
11 718
45 688

12 969
14 696
67
3 316
18 079
31 048

–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–

FINANCE COSTS
GROUP

Net loss from foreign exchange translation
and fair-value adjustments on derivative
financial instruments
Loans and overdrafts
Interest rate swaps
Other
Interest paid

COMPANY
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24.

TAXATION
GROUP
2017
R’000
Major components of the income tax expense
Current
Local income tax – current period
Local income tax – prior years
Deferred
Local income tax – current period
Local income tax – prior years

COMPANY
2016
R’000

2017
R’000

2016
R’000

172 072
168 635
3 437
(67 418)
(60 694)
(6 724)

197 802
197 724
78
(7 670)
(8 159)
489

30
30
–
–
–
–

104
104
–
–
–
–

104 654

190 132

30

104

361 481
101 215

638 400
178 752

269 826
75 551

13 598
3 807

10 878
(3 550)
(3 286)
2 485
(3 920)
832
104 654

10 269
(1 643)
567
2 187
–
–
190 132

–
(75 521)
–
–
–
–
30

–
(3 703)
–
–
–
–
104

29,0%

29,8%

Reconciliation of the income tax expense
Reconciliation between the accounting profit
and the income tax expense
Accounting profit
Tax at the applicable tax rate of 28% (2016: 28%)
Tax effects of adjustments on taxable income
Non-deductible expenses*
Non-taxable income**
Prior year adjustments
Other taxes
Previously unrecorded assessed loss***
Adjustments for entities with foreign taxes

Effective tax rate

0,0%

0,8%

* 	Non-deductible expenses relates mainly to equity settled share-based compensation charges on the employee share
incentive plans.
** 	Non-taxable income mainly includes exempt income relating to Government grants recognised by the Group and exempt
dividends in the company.
*** 	This relates to the previously unrecognised assessed loss in International Printing Group Limitada.
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25.

EARNINGS PER SHARE
Basic earnings per share
Earnings per share is calculated using the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the period and is
based on the net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders. For the purpose of calculating earnings per share, treasury
shares are deducted from the number of ordinary shares in issue. Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting
the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding to assume conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary
shares and is based on the net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders, adjusted for the after-tax dilutive effect.
Currently, the share options granted to directors and employees are anti-dilutive.
Headline earnings per share
Headline earnings per share is calculated using the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the
period and is based on the earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders, after excluding those items as required by
Circular 2/2015 issued by the South African Institute of Chartered Accountants (SAICA).

2017
Earnings
Net profit attributable to shareholders
Adjustments
Profit on sale of property, plant and equipment
Impairment in value of property, plant and
equipment

Gross
R’000

Taxation
R’000

Noncontrolling
interest
R’000

135 089
(3 553)

(37 825)
995

–
–

256 819
97 264
(2 558)

138 642

(38 820)

–

99 822

Headline earnings
2016
Earnings
Net profit attributable to shareholders
Adjustments
Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment
Insurance proceeds
Impairment in value of property, plant
and equipment

354 083

1 960
633
(996)

(549)
(178)
279

(17)
(17)
–

2 323

(650)

–

Headline earnings

Number of ordinary shares in issue at year-end
Weighted average number of shares
Shares for earnings per share adjusted for weighting
Earnings per ordinary share (cents)
Basic
Diluted
Headline earnings per share (cents)
Basic
Diluted

Net
R’000

445 764
1 394
438
(717)
1 673
447 158

2017

2016

347 332 454
319 545 857

347 332 454
319 545 857

80,37
80,37

139,50
139,50

110,81
110,81

139,94
139,94
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26.

SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS
IFRS 8: Operating segments requires operating segments to be identified on the basis of internal reports about
components of the Group that are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision-maker (CODM) to allocate
resources to the segments and to assess their performance. The CODM has been identified as the Executive Committee
that makes strategic decisions.
The Executive Committee has identified four operating segments based on its business by service or product.
Two operating segments meet the quantitative thresholds for separate reporting. They are however similar in nature and
meet the aggregation criteria in terms of IFRS 8 paragraph 12 as they have similar profit margins, production processes,
customers and suppliers. They are aggregated into the “Printing” segment, which comprises printing of books,
magazines, newspapers and related products. The remaining two operating segments do not meet the quantitative
threshold for separate reporting, and are combined in “Other”, which comprises the Labels division that prints flexible
labels, Paarl Tissue Proprietary Limited which manufactures tissue paper and any non-print-related transactions in
the year.
Revenue, other than to related parties, of approximately R660,2 million (2016: R595,5 million) is derived from
a single external customer. These revenues are attributable to the Print segment. The total revenue from external
foreign customers is R150,3 million (2016: R150,1 million).

2017
External revenue
Inter-segmental revenue
Total revenue
Cost of sale of goods
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Other losses
EBITDA
Depreciation
Amortisation
Operating profit
Finance income
Finance costs
Profit before taxation
Taxation
Profit after taxation
Non-controlling interest
Profit attributable to equity holders
of the company
Additional disclosure
Property, plant and equipment additions
Capital commitments
Impairment of assets
Total assets
Total liabilities
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Printing
R’000
3 986 504
11 514
3 998 018
(2 750 092)
(488 861)
(101 479)
657 586
(177 836)
(5 929)
473 821
69 152
(35 908)
507 065
(146 170)
360 895
(8)

Other
R’000
325 960
32 783
358 743
(333 724)
(47 692)
(33 610)
(56 283)
(22 429)
(1 373)
(80 085)
3 078
(68 577)
(145 584)
41 516
(104 068)
–

360 887

(104 068)

112 985
47 867
(108 998)
3 685 512
642 023

166 430
42 784
(29 644)
634 549
795 573

Eliminations
R’000
–
(44 297)
(44 297)
44 297
–
–
–
–
–
–
(58 797)
58 797
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
(720 510)
(720 510)

Total
R’000
4 312 464
–
4 312 464
(3 039 519)
(536 553)
(135 089)
601 303
(200 265)
(7 302)
393 736
13 433
(45 688)
361 481
(104 654)
256 827
(8)
256 819

279 415
90 651
(138 642)
3 599 551
717 086
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26.

SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

2016
External revenue
Inter-segmental revenue
Total revenue
Cost of sale of goods
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Other losses
EBITDA
Depreciation
Amortisation
Operating profit
Finance income
Finance costs
Profit before taxation
Taxation
Profit after taxation
Non-controlling interest
Profit attributable to equity holders
of the company
Additional disclosure:
Property, plant and equipment additions
Capital commitments
Impairment of assets
Total assets
Total liabilities

Printing
R’000

Other
R’000

Eliminations
R’000

3 918 108
20 239
3 938 347
(2 554 937)
(513 854)
(1 889)
867 667
(180 982)
(3 623)
683 062
44 817
(29 345)
698 534
(208 693)
489 841
(2 504)

256 409
–
256 409
(220 438)
(57 674)
(124)
(21 827)
(11 755)
(720)
(34 302)
431
(26 263)
(60 134)
18 561
(41 573)
–

–
(20 239)
(20 239)
20 239
–
–
–
–
–
–
(24 560)
24 560
–
–
–
–

487 337

(41 573)

131 003
24 285
2 039
3 674 290
831 337

146 479
66 366
284
520 727
541 056

–

–
–
–
(497 776)
(497 776)

Total
R’000
4 174 517
–
4 174 517
(2 755 136)
(571 528)
(2 013)
845 840
(192 737)
(4 343)
648 760
20 688
(31 048)
638 400
(190 132)
448 268
(2 504)
445 764

277 482
90 651
2 323
3 697 241
874 617
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27.

CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS
GROUP
2017
R’000

2016
R’000

2017
R’000

2016
R’000

Profit before tax

361 481

638 400

269 826

13 598

Adjusted for:
Depreciation of property, plant
and equipment
Amortisation of intangible assets
Impairment of property, plant
and equipment
(Profit)/loss on disposal of property, plant
and equipment
Finance income
Finance costs
Movement in provisions for inventory
write-down
Post-retirement medical liability expense
Long-service and retirement gratuity
expense
Payments against provisions and postretirement
medical liability
Reversal of bad debt provision
Share-based payment expense
Share-based compensation payments
Foreign exchange movements
Changes in working capital
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Trade and other payables

374 674

227 304

2
4

200 265
7 302

192 737
4 343

–
–

–
–

2

138 642

2 323

–

–

20
22
23

(3 553)
(13 433)
11 718

633
(20 688)
18 079

13

(2 087)
492

6 812
456

–
–

–
–

21

5 541

(1 817)

–

–

Notes
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COMPANY

21

(110)

–
(110)
–

(394)

–
(394)
–

(1 370)
(15 385)
28 068
(15 496)
33 970
(74 326)
(15 049)
70 835
(130 112)

(2 765)
8 651
36 254
(25 624)
7 910
(145 576)
(30 187)
(154 048)
38 659

–
–
–
–
–
(26 554)
–
–
(26 554)

–
–
–
–
–
192 454
–
–
192 454

661 829

720 128

243 162

205 658
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TAX PAID
GROUP
2017
R’000
(Owing)/Receivable at the beginning of the year
Current tax for the year recognised in profit or loss
Owing/(Receivable) at the end of the year

COMPANY
2016
R’000

(16 561)
(172 072)
120
(188 513)

2 860
(197 802)
16 561
(178 381)

2017
R’000
20
(30)
–
(10)

2016
R’000
–
(104)
(20)
(124)

29.

DIVIDENDS
The board of directors has proposed and approved on 8 June 2017, that a dividend of 56 cents (2016: 70 cents)
per ordinary share be paid to shareholders on 4 September 2017. The Group will pay a total dividend of approximately
R179 million based on the number of shares in issue.

29.1

DIVIDENDS PAID
GROUP
2017
R’000
Dividends declared and paid by
Novus Holdings Limited
Dividends declared and paid by subsidiary to
non-controlling shareholders

COMPANY
2016
R’000

2017
R’000

2016
R’000

(223 682)

(204 509)

(243 133)

(222 293)

–
(223 682)

(848)
(205 357)

–
(243 133)

–
(222 293)
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30.

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS
2017
With effect from 21 September 2016, the Group acquired 97,74% of the share capital of International Printing Group
Limitada for a purchase consideration of R265 505. This consideration was settled by converting a portion of the debt
owed to the Group, to equity in International Printing Group Limitada.
The acquisition will enable the Group to expand its existing geographical footprint for label sales and goodwill of
R16,7 million relates to the expected benefits to be derived from a larger customer base.

Note
Fair value of assets and liabilities acquired
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Trade and other payables
Deferred taxation
Intangible asset
Identifiable assets and liabilities at acquisition date
Non controlling interest
Goodwill
Total purchase consideration
Cash flow
Cash consideration paid in respect of Digital Printing Solutions
Cash in entity acquired – International Printing Group Limitada
Cash flow on acquisition

192

6

3

2017
R’000
13 408
3 424
(35 852)
(854)
3 051
(16 823)
381
16 708
266

(2 623)
13 408
10 785
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30.

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)
2016
On 1 May 2015, the Group acquired 100% of the share capital of Victory Ticket 376 Proprietary Limited trading as
Digital Print Solutions for a consideration of R7,4 million.
The acquisition was a result of the Group’s diversification strategy, equipping Novus Holdings with the ability to print
“on demand” books and small batches of high-quality material within short turnaround times.
Goodwill of R6,7 million relates to expected synergies resulting from the Group’s ability to offer a more complete printing
offering to existing clients. None of the goodwill recognised is expected to be deductible for income tax purposes.

Notes
Fair value of assets and liabilities acquired
Property, plant and equipment
Investments and loans
Net current assets/(liabilities)
Long-term liabilities
Identifiable assets and liabilities at acquisition date
Goodwill
Total purchase consideration

2

3

Consideration as at acquisition date
Cash
Cash consideration payable

2016
R’000
115
848
682
(848)
797
6 659
7 456

4 833
2 623
7 456

Cash flow
Cash consideration paid in respect of Digital Print Solutions
Cash in entity acquired – Digital Print Solutions
Payment in respect of the prior year acquisition of Correll Tissue
Cash flow on acquisition

(4 833)
1 204
(46 855)
(50 484)

Acquisition-related costs of R0,05 million have been included in profit and loss.
Revenue of R9,7 million and a profit after tax of R0,05 million has been included in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income since the acquisition date. The Group’s revenue and profit would have been R4 175,4 million and
R448,3 million respectively if the acquisition had occurred at the beginning of the reporting period.
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31.

RELATED PARTIES
The Group entered into transactions and has balances with a number of related parties including shareholders and
entities under common control. Transactions that are eliminated on consolidation as well as profits or losses eliminated
through application of the equity method are not included.
Relationships
Ultimate holding company
Holding company

Naspers Limited
Media24 Proprietary Limited

The balances and transactions with related parties are summarised below:
GROUP

COMPANY

2017
R’000

2016
R’000

2017
R’000

2016
R’000

92 509

92 244

–

–

20 950

23 456

–

–

4 636
8 863

3 562
9 114

–
–

–
–

Holding company and its subsidiaries

126 958

128 376

–

–

Total related-party receivables

126 958

128 376

–

–

Related-party balances
Trade receivables
Media24 Proprietary Limited

Subsidiaries of holding company
New Media Publishing Proprietary Limited
Natal Witness Printing Company Proprietary
Limited
Other

The above receivables from related parties are non-interest-bearing, are unsecured and are provided on standard credit
terms. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the fair value of each class of loan mentioned above.
The Group does not hold any collateral as security.
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RELATED PARTIES (CONTINUED)
GROUP

COMPANY

2017
R’000

2016
R’000

2017
R’000

2016
R’000

–

–

168 527

195 079

Trade payables
Subsidiary of ultimate holding company
Media24 Proprietary Limited
Other

1 154
–

615
296

–
–

–
–

Total related-party payables

1 154

911

168 527

195 079

Related-party balances
Loans payable
Subsidiary
Paarl Media Proprietary Limited

The loan from Paarl Media Proprietary Limited is non-interest-bearing and is payable on demand.
The above trade payables are non-interest-bearing, are unsecured and are extended at standard credit terms.
GROUP

Purchases from related parties
Holding company
Media24 Proprietary Limited

COMPANY

2017
R’000

2016
R’000

2017
R’000

2016
R’000

162
162

68
68

–
–

–
–
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31.

RELATED PARTIES (CONTINUED)
GROUP

Sales to related parties
Media24 Proprietary Limited

Subsidiaries of holding company
New Media Publishing Proprietary Limited
Natal Witness Printing Company
Proprietary Limited
Nasou Via Afrika Proprietary Limited
CT Media Publications Proprietary Limited
Other
Ultimate holding company and its subsidiaries
Joint ventures and associates of holding company
Rodale & Touchline Publishers Proprietary Limited
Other

Total sales to related parties

COMPANY

2017
R’000

2016
R’000

2017
R’000

2016
R’000

985 496

1 033 420

–

–

102 673

117 172

–

–

40 258
9 057
23 157
33 428
1 194 069

35 041
4 119
22 629
33 129
1 245 510

–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–

13 838
4 988
18 826

16 136
4 152
20 288

–
–
–

–
–
–

1 212 895

1 265 798

–

–

The Group receives revenue from a number of its related parties mainly for the printing of magazines, newspapers
and books.
Directors emoluments

2017
Salaries
Incentive bonuses
Pension contributions
Fees for services as director
Total
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Executive
R’000

Nonexecutive
R’000

Total
R’000

6 993
–
579
–
7 572

6 666
5 090
555
4 147
16 458

13 659
4 859
1 134
4 147
24 030
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31.

RELATED PARTIES (CONTINUED)
The detail of directors’ participation in share/SARs schemes is included in note 16.
The individual directors received the following remuneration and emoluments:

Executive directors
Mr E van Niekerk#
Mr KA Vroon*
Mr E Fivaz**

Salary
R’000

Bonus and
performancerelated
payments
R’000

Pension
contributions
R’000

Total
R’000

2 258
3 185
1 550
6 993

–
–
–
–

98
354
127
579

2 356
3 539
1 677
7 572

Notes:
*
**
#

Appointed as acting chief executive officer on 16 February 2016; appointed as chief executive officer on 28 July 2016.
Appointed as chief financial officer on 1 September 2016.
Resigned on 31 August 2016.

Non-executive directors
Mr LP Retief**
Mr CG Botha
Ms E Weideman***
Mr A Mayman***,#
Ms CJ Hess*, ***
Ms GP Dingaan
Mr SDM Zungu
Mr BJ Olivier
Mr F Robertson#
Mr JN Potgieter

Fees for
services as
director
R’000
1 319
408
–
–
–
451
329
561
750
329
4 147

Salary
R’000

Bonus and
performancerelated
payments
R’000

Pension
contributions
R’000

Total
R’000

–
–
3 321
1 872
1 473
–
–
–
–
–
6 666

–
–
2 429
1 532
1 129
–
–
–
–
–
5 090

–
–
304
140
111
–
–
–
–
–
555

1 319
408
6 054
3 544
2 713
451
329
561
750
329
16 458

Notes:
*
Appointed on 23 March 2017.
**	Payments to Mr LP Retief includes payments for services in terms of a management agreement with the Group. Mr Retief
ceased to be a non-executive director on 25 January 2017.
#
Resigned on 3 April 2017.
***	Remuneration paid by Media24 Proprietary Limited in respect of services rendered in their capacity as directors of
Media24 Proprietary Limited, and not as directors of Novus Holdings Limited.
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RELATED PARTIES (CONTINUED)
Directors emoluments

Executive
R’000

Nonexecutive
R’000

Total
R’000

8 183
3 871
1 044
–
13 098

5 141
4 878
533
3 800
14 352

13 324
8 749
1 577
3 800
27 450

Salary
R’000

Bonus and
performancerelated
payments
R’000

Pension
contributions
R’000

Total
R’000

3 820
1 784
2 579
8 183

1 808
405
1 658
3 871

438
294
312
1 044

6 066
2 483
4 549
13 098

2016
Salaries
Incentive bonuses
Pension contributions
Fees for services as director
Total

The individual directors received the following remuneration and emoluments:

Executive directors
Mr STM Van Der Walt#
Mr E van Niekerk
Mr KA Vroon*

Notes:
*
#
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Appointed as acting chief executive officer on 16 February 2016.
Resigned on 31 March 2016.
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RELATED PARTIES (CONTINUED)
Directors’ emoluments (continued)

Non-executive directors
Mr LP Retief**
Mr U Meyer#
Mr CG Botha*
Ms E Weideman***
Mr A Mayman***
Ms GP Dingaan
Mr SDM Zungu
Mr BJ Olivier
Mr F Robertson
Mr JN Potgieter

Fees for
services as
director
R’000
1 560
350
–
–
–
350
310
570
350
310
3 800

Salary
R’000

Bonus and
performancerelated
payments
R’000

Pension
contributions
R’000

Total
R’000

–
–
–
2 874
2 267
–
–
–
–
–
5 141

–
–
–
2 764
2 114
–
–
–
–
–
4 878

–
–
–
363
170
–
–
–
–
–
533

1 560
350
–
6 001
4 551
350
310
570
350
310
14 352

Notes:
*

Appointed on 24 February 2016.
Resigned on 17 March 2016.
** Payments to Mr LP Retief includes payments for services in terms of a management agreement with the Group.
***	Remuneration paid by Media24 Proprietary Limited in respect of services rendered in their capacity as directors of
Media24 Proprietary Limited, and not as directors of Novus Holdings Limited.
#

Key management compensation
The total of executive directors’ and key management emoluments amounted to R68,1 million (2016: R89,3 million);
comprising short-term employee benefits of R58,6 million (2016: R68,2 million) and share-based payments of
R9,5 million (2016: R21,1million). Comparatives have not been restated to account for the change in the composition
of key management.
No other remuneration is paid to executive directors. Remuneration is earned for services rendered in conducting the
business of the Group.
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32.

TRANSACTIONS WITH NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
2017
Refer to note 30 for details on transactions giving rise to non-controlling interests in the current financial year.
2016
On 30 September 2015, the Group acquired an additional 16% of its subsidiary Paarl Media Paarl Proprietary Limited
from Kurisani Investments Proprietary Limited for a consideration of R19 million. Paarl Media Paarl Proprietary Limited
is now wholly owned by the Group.
The effect of the above transaction can be summarised as follows:
2016
R’000
Carrying amount of non-controlling interest
Purchase consideration paid
Amount credited to equity

33.

32 404
(19 000)
13 404

COMMITMENTS
GROUP

COMPANY

2017
R’000

2016
R’000

2017
R’000

2016
R’000

Authorised capital expenditure
Already contracted for but not provided for
– Property, plant and equipment

46 807

90 651

–

–

Operating leases – as lessee (expense)
Minimum lease payments due
– within one year
– in second to fifth year inclusive

5 486
12 841

4 068
14 109

–
–

–
–

The Group leases manufacturing and office space and equipment under various non-cancellable operating leases.
Certain contracts contain renewal options and escalation clauses for various periods of time.
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34.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
All of the Group’s financial assets are classified as “loans and receivables” and are carried at amortised cost, apart from
derivatives, which are held for hedging purposes. Similarly, all of the Group’s financial liabilities are classified as “other
financial liabilities” and are carried at amortised cost apart from derivatives, which are held for hedging purposes.
Capital risk management
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, so
that it can continue to provide adequate returns for shareholders.
The Group sets the amount of capital in proportion to risk. The Group manages the capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. In
order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders,
return capital to shareholders, issue new shares, or sell assets to reduce debt. The Group does not have a formal
targeted debt to equity ratio.
Financial risk factors
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk, interest rate risk
and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.
The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to
minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance. The Group uses derivative financial instruments
to hedge certain risk exposures. Risk management is carried out by a central treasury department (Group treasury)
under policies approved by the directors. Group treasury identifies, evaluates and hedges financial risks in close
cooperation with the Group’s operating units. The directors provide written principles for overall risk management, as
well as written policies covering specific areas, such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, and credit risk, use of
derivative financial instruments and non-derivative financial instruments, and investment of excess liquidity.
Liquidity risk
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities, the availability of
funding through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities and the ability to close out market positions. In
terms of the Memorandum of Incorporation of the Group, no limitation is placed on its borrowing capacity. The facilities
expiring within one year are subject to renewal at various dates during the next year.
The Group had the following unutilised borrowing facilities at 31 March:
GROUP

On call

COMPANY

2017
R’000

2016
R’000

2017
R’000

2016
R’000

612 731

749 889

–

–
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34.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
The following analysis details the Group and company’s non-derivative financial liabilities and derivative financial assets/
(liabilities) which will be settled on a gross basis, using working capital and unused credit facilities, into relevant maturity
groupings based on the remaining period at the statement of financial position to the contractual maturity date. The
amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within 12 months equal their
carrying balances as the impact of discounting is not significant.
GROUP
Carrying
amount
R’000
Non-derivative financial
liabilities
At 31 March 2017
Interest-bearing: Loans and other
Interest-bearing: Capitalised
finance lease
Trade payables
Accrued expenses and other
current liabilities
Related-party balances
Bank overdrafts

Contractual
cash flows 0 to 12 months
R’000
R’000

1 to 5 years
R’000

Over 5 years
R’000

17 022

24 458

19 579

4 879

–

63 504
191 561

132 816
191 561

9 114
191 561

30 058
–

93 644
–

49 721
1 154
2 744
325 706

49 721
1 154
2 744
402 454

49 721
1 154
2 744
273 873

–
–
–
34 937

–
–
–
93 644

GROUP

At 31 March 2016
Interest-bearing: Loans and other
Interest-bearing: Capitalised
finance lease
Trade payables
Accrued expenses and other
current liabilities
Related-party balances
Bank overdrafts

Carrying
amount
R’000

Contractual
cash flows
R’000

0 to 12 months
R’000

1 to 5 years
R’000

Over 5 years
R’000

76 183

79 839

62 620

17 219

–

4 304
234 293

4 656
234 293

2 508
234 293

2 148
–

–
–

88 282
911
11 442
415 415

88 282
911
11 442
419 423

88 282
911
11 442
400 056

–
–
–
19 367

–
–
–
–

1 to 5 years
R’000

Over 5 years
R’000

–
–
–

–
–
–

COMPANY
Carrying
amount
R’000
At 31 March 2017
Accrued expenses and other
current liabilities
Related-party balances
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–
168 527
168 527

Contractual
cash flows 0 to 12 months
R’000
R’000

–
168 527
168 527

–
168 527
168 527
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
COMPANY
Carrying
amount
R’000
At 31 March 2016
Accrued expenses and other
current liabilities
Related-party balances

2
195 079
195 081

Contractual
cash flows 0 to 12 months
R’000
R’000

2
195 079
195 081

2
195 079
195 081

1 to 5 years
R’000

Over 5 years
R’000

–
–
–

–
–
–

1 to 5 years
R’000

Over 5 years
R’000

GROUP
Carrying
amount
R’000
Derivative financial assets/
(liabilities)
At 31 March 2017
Forward exchange contracts
– Outflow
– Inflow
At 31 March 2016
Forward exchange contracts
– Outflow
– Inflow
Other derivatives – Interest rate
swaps
– Inflow

Contractual
cash flows 0 to 12 months
R’000
R’000

(15 058)
–
(15 058)

(364 468)
349 410
(15 058)

(364 468)
349 410
(15 058)

–
–
–

–
–
–

(9 515)
–

(531 764)
522 249

(531 764)
522 249

–
–

–
–

109
(9 406)

109
(9 406)

109
(9 406)

–
–

–
–

Interest rate risk
As part of the process of managing the Group’s fixed and floating borrowings mix, the interest rate characteristics of
new borrowings and the refinancing of existing borrowings are positioned according to expected movements in interest
rates. Where appropriate, the Group uses derivative instruments, such as interest rate swap agreements, purely for
hedging purposes.
At 31 March 2017, if the Group’s interest rates on rand-denominated borrowings had been 1% higher/lower with all
other variables held constant, post-tax profit for the year would have been R0,1 million (2016: R0,6 million) lower/higher,
mainly as a result of higher/lower interest expense on floating rate borrowings.
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34.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
Credit risk
The Group is exposed to credit risk relating to the following assets:

Available-for-sales investments and loans
There is no concentration of credit risk within investments and loans and management monitors the credit risk regularly.
Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables consist primarily of invoiced amounts from normal trading activities. The majority of trade receivables
consist of receivables within the print segment. Various credit checks are performed on new debtors to determine
the quality of their credit history. These checks are also performed on existing debtors with long-overdue accounts.
Furthermore, current debtors are monitored to ensure they do not exceed their credit limits.
Cash deposits and derivative assets
The Group is exposed to certain concentrations of credit risk relating to its cash and current investments. It places its
cash and current investments mainly with major banking groups and high-quality institutions that have high credit
ratings. The Group’s treasury policy is designated to limit exposure to any one institution and invests its excess cash in
low-risk investment accounts. As at 31 March 2017 the Group held the majority of its cash, deposits and derivative assets
with local banks with a “Baa2” credit rating or higher (Moody’s International Long-term Deposit rating). The counter
parties that are used by the Group are evaluated on a continuous basis.
Foreign exchange
The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency exposures, primarily with respect to the euro
and the US dollar. As the Group acquires a significant portion of the materials used in the printing process internationally,
depreciation of the local currency against the Euro or US dollar adversely affects the Group’s earnings and its ability to
meet cash obligations. The Group makes use of forward exchange contracts to hedge their exposure to foreign currency
risk. The Group generally covers forward 38% to 100% of firm commitments in foreign currency for up to one year.
Management has set up a policy to manage their foreign exchange risk against their functional currency. The Group
companies are required to hedge their foreign exchange risk exposure with the Group treasury. To manage their foreign
exchange risk arising from future commercial transactions and recognised assets and liabilities, entities in the Group
use forward contracts, transacted with financial institutions. Foreign exchange risk arises when future commercial
transactions or recognised assets or liabilities are denominated in a currency that is not the entity’s functional currency.
The Group has classified its forward exchange contracts relating to forecast transactions and firm commitments as cash
flow hedges, and states them at fair value. The transactions relate mainly to the acquisition of inventory items.
The Group separates the interest element and the spot price element of a forward exchange contract. The interest
element is accounted for in finance cost (refer to note 23). The spot price element is designated as the hedging
instrument in a cash flow hedge, with the cumulative gain or loss recognised in the initial carrying amount of inventory
and therefore recognised in cost of goods sold when the inventory is sold. Refer to note 21 for amounts recognised in
cost of goods sold.
A cumulative after tax loss of R1,8 million (2016: R1,8 million) has been deferred in a hedging reserve at
31 March 2017. This amount is expected to realise over the next year. Changes in the fair value of forward exchange
contracts that economically hedge monetary liabilities in foreign currencies and for which no hedge accounting is
applied, are recognised in the income statement. Both the changes in fair value of the forward contracts and the
foreign exchange gains and losses relating to the monetary items are recognised in profit and loss. The fair value of all
forward exchange contracts at 31 March 2017 was a liability of R15 million (2016: R9,5 million).
The ineffective portion recognised in the profit or loss that arises from cash flow hedges amounts to a gain of R nil
(2016: R nil).
The notional principal amounts of the outstanding forward exchange contracts for import purchases and export sales
transactions at 31 March 2017 were R364,4 million (2016: R533,8 million).
The hedged highly probable forecast transactions denominated in foreign currency are expected to occur at various
dates during the next 12 months.
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34.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
At 31 March 2017, if the currency had weakened/strengthened by 10% against the US dollar and Euro with all other
variables held constant, comprehensive income for the year would have been R23,9 million (2016: R20,1 million) higher/
lower, mainly as a result of foreign exchange gains or losses on translation of US dollar and Euro denominated trade
receivables and foreign exchange contracts.
Total FECs outstanding at year end (commitments to buy foreign exchange maturing within one year)
GROUP

Total FECs outstanding at year-end (maturing within one year)
Denominated in euro
Rand value
Denominated in US dollars
Rand value
Denominated in British pounds
Rand value
Denominated in Swiss francs
Rand value

2017
R’000

2016
R’000

22 985
350 254
879
11 983
9
147
147
2 038

24 729
431 667
6 731
101 856
14
317
–
–

GROUP

Derivative financial assets – Current portion
Foreign exchange contracts
Interest rate swaps

Derivative financial liabilities – Current portion
Foreign exchange contracts

2017
R’000

2016
R’000

1 462
–
1 462

5487
109
5 596

16 520
16 520

15 002
15 002

GROUP
Exchange rates used for conversion of foreign items were:
Euro
US dollar
British pound
Swiss franc

R

R

14,27
13,37
16,67
13,35

16,74
14,69
21,15

The Group reviews its foreign currency exposure, including commitments on an ongoing basis. The Group expects its
foreign exchange contracts to hedge foreign exchange exposure.
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35.

FAIR VALUE ESTIMATION OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The fair values, which approximate the carrying values, net gains and losses recognised in profit and loss, total interest
income, total interest expense, and impairment of each class of financial instrument are as follows:
31 March 2017
GROUP
Net
gains/(losses)
Carrying recognised in
value profit and loss
R’000
R’000
Assets
Available-for-sale financial assets
Loans and receivables
Receivables and loans
Trade receivables
Other receivables
Related-party receivables
Derivative financial instruments
Foreign exchange contracts
Interest rate swaps
Cash and cash deposits
Total

3 000
3 050
570 249
419 132
24 159
126 958
1 462
1 462
–
229 968
807 729

–
–
–
–
–
–
54
54
–
–
54

Net
gains/(losses)
Carrying recognised in
value profit and loss
R’000
R’000
Liabilities
Long-term liabilities
Interest-bearing: capitalised finance leases
Interest-bearing: loans and other
Short-term payables and loans
Interest-bearing: capitalised finance leases
Interest-bearing: loans and other
Trade payables
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities
Related-party payables
Derivatives
Foreign exchange contracts
Interest rate swaps
Bank overdrafts and call loans
Total

206

60 436
60 436
–
257 271
3 068
17 022
191 561
44 466
1 154
16 520
16 520
–
2 744
336 971

–
–
–
20 226
–
–
20 226
–
–
(63 479)
(63 479)
–
–
(43 253)

Total interest
income
R’000

Impairment
R’000

–
–
2 753
2 753
–
–
–
–
–
10 680
13 433

–
–
593
593
–
–
–
–
–
–
593

Total interest
expense
R’000

Impairment
R’000

4 681
1 228
3 453
1 244
76
–
1 168
–
–
–
–
–
4 860
10 785

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
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35.

FAIR VALUE ESTIMATION OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
The fair values, together with the carrying values, net gains and losses recognised in profit and loss, total interest income,
total interest expense, and impairment of each class of financial instrument are as follows:
31 March 2016
GROUP

Assets
Loans and receivables
Receivables and loans
Trade receivables
Other receivables
Related-party receivables
Derivative financial instruments
Foreign exchange contracts
Interest rate swaps
Cash and cash deposits
Total

Liabilities
Long-term liabilities
Interest-bearing: capitalised finance leases
Interest-bearing: loans and other
Short-term payables and loans
Interest-bearing: capitalised finance leases
Interest-bearing: loans and other
Trade payables
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities
Related-party payables
Derivatives
Foreign exchange contracts
Interest rate swaps
Bank overdrafts and call loans
Total

Carrying
value
R’000

Net
gains/(losses)
recognised in
profit and loss
R’000

Total interest
income
R’000

Impairment
R’000

1 801
613 315
472 559
12 380
128 376
5 596
5 487
109
278 220
898 932

–
–
–
–
–
(7 874)
(7 874)
–
–
(7 874)

23
466
466
–
–
–
–
–
20 065
20 554

–
8 651
8 651
–
–
–
–
–
–
8 651

Carrying
value
R’000

Net
gains/(losses)
recognised in
profit and loss
R’000

Total interest
income
R’000

Impairment
R’000

19 473
1 803
17 670
384 500
2 501
58 513
234 293
88 282
911
15 002
15 002
–
11 442
430 417

–
–
–
1 686
–
–
1 686
–
–
34 028
34 028
–
–
35 714

8 654
251
8 403
3 057
263
–
2 794
–
–
67
–
67
6 292
18 070

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2017 | NOVUS HOLDINGS

207

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2017
35.

FAIR VALUE ESTIMATION OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
The table below analyses financial instruments carried at fair value, by valuation method. The different levels have been
defined as follows:
Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets
or liabilities.
Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that
are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). The fair value
of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, derivatives such as interest rate swaps,
foreign exchange contracts and certain options) is determined through valuation techniques. These valuation techniques
maximise the use of observable market data where it is available and rely as little as possible on entity specific estimates.
If all significant inputs required to fair value an instrument are observable, the instrument is included in level 2.
Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset or liability
that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).
At 31 March 2017
GROUP

Assets
Available-for-sale financial assets
Foreign exchange contracts
Liabilities
Foreign exchange contracts

Level 1
R’000

Level 2
R’000

Level 3
R’000

Total
R’000

–
–
–

3 000
1 462
4 462

–
–
–

3 000
1 462
4 462

–

16 520

–

16 520

At 31 March 2016
GROUP

Assets
Interest rate swap
Foreign exchange contracts
Liabilities
Foreign exchange contracts
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Level 1
R’000

Level 2
R’000

Level 3
R’000

Total
R’000

–
–
–

109
5 487
5 596

–
–
–

109
5 487
5 596

–
–

15 002
15 002

–
–

15 002
15 002
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35.

FAIR VALUE ESTIMATION OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
Valuation techniques and key inputs used to measure significant level 2 fair values
Foreign exchange contracts – in measuring the fair value of foreign exchange contracts the Group makes use of
market observable quotes of forward foreign exchange rates on instruments that have a maturity similar to the
maturity profile of the Group’s foreign exchange contracts. Key inputs used in measuring the fair value of foreign
exchange contracts include current spot exchange rates, market forward exchange rates, and the term of the Group’s
foreign exchange contracts.

Available-for-sale financial assets – the use of quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments.
Interest rate swaps – the fair value of the Group’s interest rate swaps is determined through the use of discounted
cash flow techniques using only market observable information. Key inputs used in measuring the fair value of interest
rate swaps include spot market interest rates, contractually fixed interest rates, counterparty credit spreads, notional
amounts on which interest rate swaps are based, payment intervals, risk-free interest rates, as well as the duration
of the relevant interest rate swap arrangement.
Price risk
The Group is not exposed to significant price risk.
36.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY
Financial instruments disclosed in the statement of financial position include interest-bearing borrowings, financial
assets, cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables and trade and other payables.
The following is a summary of financial instrument categories applicable to the Group:
Financial assets
Financial
assets at
Fair value
amortised through profit
cost
or loss
R’000
R’000
2017
Available-for-sale financial assets
Loans and receivables
Trade and other receivables
Related-party receivables
Derivative financial instruments
Cash and cash equivalents

2016
Loans and receivables
Trade and other receivables
Related-party receivables
Derivative financial instruments
Cash and cash equivalents

Assets at
FVOCI
R’000

Total
R’000

3 000
3 050
443 291
126 958
–
229 968
806 267

–
–
–
–
1 462
–
1 462

3 000
–
–
–
–
–
3 000

3 000
3 050
443 291
126 958
1 462
229 968
807 729

1 801
484 939
128 376
–
278 220
893 336

–
–
–
5 596
–
5 596

–
–
–
–
–
–

1 801
484 939
128 376
5 596
278 220
898 932
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36.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (CONTINUED)
Financial liabilities
Financial
assets at
Fair value
amortised through profit
cost
or loss
R’000
R’000
2017
Long-term liabilities
Trade and other payables
Related-party payables
Derivative financial instruments
Bank overdrafts

Total
R’000

80 526
241 282
1 154
–
2 744
325 706

–
–
–
16 520
–
16 520

–
–
–
–
–
–

80 526
241 282
1 154
16 520
2 744
342 226

80 487
322 575
911
–
11 442
415 415

–
–
–
15 002
–
15 002

–
–
–
–
–
–

80 487
322 575
911
15 002
11 442
430 417

Number of
shareholders

Number of
shares owned

333
741
40
82
3
1 199

158 063
6 531 787
2 756 758
81 526 717
256 359 129
347 332 454

Name

% held

Number of
shares owned

Media24 Proprietary Limited
Novus Holdings Share Trust
Huguenot Finance Proprietary Limited

61,18%
7,00%
5,63%

212 500 000
24 313 272
19 545 857

2016
Long-term liabilities
Trade and other payables
Related-party payables
Derivative financial instruments
Bank overdrafts
37.

Assets at
FVOCI
R’000

ANALYSIS OF SHAREHOLDERS

Size of holdings
1 – 1 000
1 001 – 50 000
50 001 – 100 000
100 001 – 10 000 000
10 000 001 and above

The following shareholders hold 5% or more of the issued share capital of the company.
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37.

ANALYSIS OF SHAREHOLDERS (CONTINUED)
Public shareholder spread
To the best of the knowledge of the directors, the spread of public shareholders in terms of section 4.25 of the
JSE Limited Listings Requirements at 31 March 2017 was 25,19%, represented by 1 195 shareholders holding
87 500 000 shares in the company. The non-public shareholders of the company comprising four shareholders
representing 259 832 454 ordinary shares are analysed as follows:

Shareholder
Media24 Proprietary Limited
Huguenot Finance Proprietary Limited
Novus Holdings Share Trust
Latiano 554 Proprietary Limited
38.

Number
of shares

% of issued
share capital

212 500 000
19 545 857
24 313 272
3 473 325
259 832 454

61,18%
5,63%
7,00%
1,00%
74,81%

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARE CAPITAL AND TRANSACTIONS
Other than as disclosed in notes 16 and 31, no director of the company nor any director of any of its subsidiaries has
or had any beneficial interest, directly or indirectly, in any transaction which is, or was, material to the business of
Novus Holdings Limited and which was effected by Novus Holdings Limited during the current financial year or the
immediately preceding financial year or in respect of any previous financial year which remains in any respect outstanding
or unperformed.
Apart from the below, none of the directors had any direct interest in Novus Holdings Limited ordinary shares on
31 March 2017. Detail of directors’ participation in share/SARs schemes is included in note 16.
Directors interests in shares
As at 31 March 2017
Executive
K Vroon
E Fivaz
E van Niekerk1
Total
Non-executive
LP Retief2
Total

Direct

Indirect

Total

1 910 329
764 131
–
2 674 460

–
–
–
–

1 910 329
764 131
–
2 674 460

–
2 674 460

–
–

–
2 674 460

	E van Niekerk resigned effective 31 August 2016. He had a direct interest in 1 041 997 shares through the Novus Holdings Share Option scheme
for the duration of his appointment in the 2017 financial year.
	LP Retief passed away on 25 January 2017. He had a direct interest in 3 473 325 shares through an option scheme for the duration of his
appointment in the 2017 financial year.

1

2
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38.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARE CAPITAL AND TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)
As at 31 March 2016
Executive
KA Vroon
E van Niekerk
STM van der Walt1
Total
Non-executive
LP Retief
Total

Direct

Indirect

Total

1 910 329
1 041 997
–
2 952 326

–
–
–
–

1 910 329
1 041 997
–
2 952 326

3 473 325
6 425 651

–
–

3 473 325
6 425 651

	STM van der Walt resigned effective 31 March 2016. He had a direct interest in 2 778 660 shares through the Novus Holdings Share Option
scheme for the duration of his appointment in the 2016 financial year.

1

39.
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EVENTS AFTER REPORTING DATE
The directors are not aware of any matter or circumstance arising since the end of the financial year and the date of this report.
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

NOTICE
OF ANNUAL
GENERAL
MEETING
Novus Holdings has a duty to disclose
information that will help investors
make informed decisions and secure
its investment case among existing and
potential shareholders.
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Notice of Annual
General Meeting
NOVUS HOLDINGS LIMITED (being a profit company in terms of the Companies Act, 71 of 2008 and registered
under registration number 2008/011165/06 – “the company”)
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN OF THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS, TO BE HELD AS FOLLOWS –
Place: 10 Freedom Way, Marconi Beam, Montague Gardens (the registered office of the company)
Date: Friday, 18 August 2017
Time: 10:00
CONVENED PURSUANT TO CLAUSE 24.2 OF THE MEMORANDUM OF INCORPORATION OF THE COMPANY (MOI)
IN ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 61(7), IN CONJUNCTION WITH SECTION 62(1)(A), OF THE COMPANIES ACT,
71 OF 2008, AS AMENDED (the Companies Act)

1.

INTRODUCTION AND EXPLANATORY NOTES
1.1.

216

Purpose – the company proposes:
1.1.1

for the purpose of the Annual General Meeting (i) to present the directors’ report and
the audited annual financial statements of the company for the immediate preceding
financial year, an audit committee report, risk committee report and the social and
ethics committee report (if any); (ii) to consider and, if approved, to adopt with or
without amendment, the resolutions set out below; and (iii) to consider any matters
raised by the shareholders of the company, with or without advance notice to the
company; and, more particularly;

1.1.2

to confirm the appointment of a number of executive directors;

1.1.3

to elect and approve the appointment of a number of directors;

1.1.4

to elect and approve the appointment of the audit committee;

1.1.5

to place a certain number of the authorised share capital of the company under the
control of the directors of the company;

1.1.6

to approve the directors’ remuneration;

1.1.7

to approve ancillary matters, all as set in the further resolutions hereunder; and

1.1.8

to authorise any director or secretary of the company to sign and give effect to the
resolutions set out hereunder.

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

1.2.

1.3.

Attendance and voting – the shareholders are notified that:
1.2.1

Identification of shareholders – participants at the Annual General Meeting
must provide satisfactory identification in accordance with section 63(1) of the
Companies Act and the person presiding at the Annual General Meeting must be
reasonably satisfied that the right of any person to participate in and vote (whether
as shareholder or as proxy for a shareholder) has been reasonably verified – forms
of identification include valid identity documents, driver’s licences and passports.

1.2.2

Appointment of proxy – a shareholder of the company who is entitled to attend the
Annual General Meeting and to vote thereat is entitled in accordance with the MOI of
the company to appoint one proxy to attend the Annual General Meeting on his/her
behalf, to participate and speak and vote thereat in the place of the shareholder and/
or appoint a person/s to exercise voting rights in accordance with section 57(1) of the
Companies Act.

1.2.3

Status of proxy – a proxy need not also be a shareholder of the company and a
shareholder is entitled to appoint one proxy only.

1.2.4

Proxy form – a form of proxy, which includes the relevant instructions for its
completion, is attached for the use of holders of certificated shares and “own name”
dematerialised shareholders who wish to be represented at the Annual General
Meeting. Completion of a form of proxy will not preclude such a shareholder from
attending and voting (in preference to that shareholder’s proxy) at the Annual General
Meeting. Holders of dematerialised shares, other than “own name” dematerialised
shareholders, who wish to vote at the Annual General Meeting, must instruct their
Central Securities Depository Participant (CSDP or participant) or broker accordingly
in the manner and cut-off time stipulated by their CSDP or broker. The form appointing
a proxy and the authority (if any) under which it is signed, must reach the transfer
secretaries of the company (Link Market Services South Africa (Proprietary) Limited,
13th Floor, Rennie House, 19 Ameshoff Street, Braamfontein 2001 or
PO Box 4844, Johannesburg 2000) by no later than 10:00 on Wednesday,
16 August 2017 (i.e. at least 48 hours before the commencement of the Annual
General Meeting or adjourned meeting at which the proxy intends to exercise that
shareholder’s rights). A form of proxy is enclosed with this Notice. The form of proxy
may also be obtained from the registered office of the company.

1.2.5

Electronic participation – the company will not provide for electronic participation at
the Annual General Meeting.

1.2.6

All resolutions put to the vote shall be decided by a polled vote in accordance with
clause 26.3 of the memorandum of incorporation of the company.

Interpretation – it is recorded that words and phrases defined anywhere in the text of this
document shall have the meaning throughout this document, unless specifically provided
otherwise. “Listings Requirements” mean the Listings Requirements of the JSE (“JSE” meaning
the JSE Limited, registration number 2005/022939/06, a licensed financial exchange in terms
of the Financial Markets Act, 19 of 2012, or any exchange which operates as its successor exchange).
“King IVTM Report” means the King IV Report on Corporate GovernanceTM for South Africa, 2016.
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RECORD DATE AND REQUISITE QUORUM AND MAJORITY FOR THE
RESOLUTIONS TO BE PASSED AT THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
OF SHAREHOLDERS
2.1.

The record date for the Annual General Meeting (being the date used for the purpose of
determining which shareholders are entitled to participate in and vote at the meeting)
is Friday, 11 August 2017.

2.2.

The requisite quorum is determined, subject to the Companies Act, in accordance with
clause 24.4.1 of the MOI, read in conjunction with the definition of “shareholder” in clause 1.1.26
of the MOI, to count the number of shareholders for purposes of a quorum.

2.3.

For the special resolutions set out hereunder to be passed, it must be supported by at least 75%
of the voting rights of all shareholders present at the Annual General Meeting, exercised on this
special resolution.

2.4.

For ordinary resolution number 9 set out hereunder to be passed, it must be supported by at least
75% of the voting rights of all shareholders present at the Annual General Meeting, exercised on
this ordinary resolution.

2.5.

For the ordinary resolutions set out hereunder (except for ordinary resolution number 9) to be
passed, it must be supported by more than 50% of the voting rights of all shareholders present at
the Annual General Meeting, exercised on each of these ordinary resolutions respectively.

2.6.

In respect of the endorsements regarding the remuneration policy and the implementation report
by way of non-binding advisory votes in accordance with the King IVTM Report, not more than 25%
of the votes exercised must be exercised against either or both these reports, failing which, the
measures prescribed by the Listings Requirements (to be amended) shall be implemented.

2.7.

The special resolution and ordinary resolutions accordingly passed at the Annual General Meeting
of shareholders are as set hereunder.

INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT AND NO CHANGE STATEMENT AND
APPOINTMENT OF CHAIRPERSON
3.1.

Integrated annual report – the integrated report of the company for the financial year ended
31 March 2017 is available on www.novus.holdings or on request during normal business hours
at the registered office of the company, 10 Freedom Way, Marconi Beam, Montague Gardens
(contact person Natasha Evason) and in Johannesburg at the sponsor of the company,
Investec Bank Limited, 2nd Floor, 100 Grayston Drive, Sandown, Sandton 2196, South Africa (contact
person Robert Smith). In particular, reference is also made to the remuneration payable to the
non-executive directors and members of the board committees as contained in this integrated
report that have been approved on the Annual General Meeting held on 23 September 2016
for the three financial years ending respectively on 31 March 2017 and 31 March 2018 as well as
31 March 2019, and as supplemented in terms of special resolution number 1 below.

3.2.

No change statement – other than the facts and developments reported on in the integrated
report and annual financial statements, there have been no material changes in the affairs or
financial position of the company and its subsidiaries since the date of signature of the audit
report and up to the date of this Notice.

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

3.3.

4.

Chairperson and lead independent director – since the retirement of Uys Meyer as director on
17 March 2016, who also served as the lead independent director, this position has been filled
by the board of directors of the company by the appointment of Fred Robertson as the lead
independent director. He then also served as acting chairperson from 12 July 2016 as a result
of the medical leave of absence of Lambert Phillips Retief. Following upon the passing away of
Lambert Phillips Retief on 25 January 2017 and Fred Robertson’s retirement on 3 April 2017,
the positions of chairperson and lead independent director have respectively been filled by the
board of directors of the company by the appointment of Neil William Birch as chairperson and
Jan Naudé Potgieter as lead independent director.

ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 1 – CONSIDERATION AND
ACCEPTANCE OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Resolved that, the financial statements of the company and the Group for the twelve (12) months ended
31 March 2017 (as approved by the board of directors of the company) and the reports of the directors,
the auditor and the audit committee be considered and accepted.
Note: The audited results for the year ended 31 March 2017 form part of this Notice. A copy of the full
annual financial statements of the company for the financial year ended 31 March 2017 can be obtained
from www.novus.holdings or on request during normal business hours at the registered office of the
company, 10 Freedom Way, Marconi Beam, Montague Gardens (contact person Natasha Evason) and
in Johannesburg at the sponsor of the company, Investec Bank Limited, 2nd Floor, 100 Grayston Drive,
Sandown, Sandton 2196, South Africa (contact person Robert Smith).

5.

ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 2 – APPOINTMENT OF AUDITOR
Resolved that, on the recommendation of the company’s audit committee, the firm
PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. as independent registered auditor of the company be appointed
(noting that Mr Viresh Harri is the individual registered auditor of that firm who will undertake the
audit) for the period until the next Annual General Meeting of the company.
Note: The audit committee of the company has satisfied itself that PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc.
(including the individual registered auditor who undertakes the audit) is independent as contemplated
by the South African independence laws and the applicable rules of the International Federation of
Accountants (IFAC) and nominated the reappointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. as independent
registered auditor to the company, to report on the financial year ending 31 March 2018, until the conclusion
of the 2018 Annual General Meeting. Furthermore, the audit committee has, in terms of paragraph 3.86
of the Listings Requirements, considered and satisfied itself that PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc., the
reporting accountant and individual auditor are accredited to appear on the JSE List of Accredited
Auditors, in compliance with section 22 of the Listings Requirements.

6.

ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 3 – CONFIRMATION OF
APPOINTMENT OF EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Resolved that, in accordance with clause 33.1 of the MOI read in conjunction with clause 30.2.1 of the
MOI and pursuant to the authority granted in terms of clause 30.2.5 of the MOI, the appointment of the
executive directors on an individual basis, who do not retire by rotation but whose appointment must be
confirmed at each Annual General Meeting, be and is hereby confirmed and approved, the names and
particulars of which directors and the respective dates of their appointment are as set out hereunder –
6.1.	ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 3.1 – Appointment of Keith Anthony Vroon
as executive director
Keith Anthony Vroon (appointed 1 October 2008), being the chief executive officer of the company
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6.2.

ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 3.2 – appointment of Edrich Fivaz as
executive director
Edrich Fivaz (appointed 1 September 2016), being the chief financial officer of the company
General Note re Ordinary Resolution Number 3: In the interest of good corporate governance
and in compliance with paragraph 3.84 of Section 3 of the Listings Requirements the executive
directors are reappointed annually albeit they do not rotate in accordance with the memorandum
of incorporation of the company. The board of directors of the company (including the audit
committee in case of the chief financial officer) unanimously recommends the approval of
the appointments of the executive directors in question on the basis above-mentioned. Their
abridged curricula vitae appear in the integrated report.

7.

ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 4 – CONFIRMATION OF
APPOINTMENT OF NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Resolved that, in accordance with clause 30.2.7 of the MOI read in conjunction with clause 30.2.1 of the
MOI, the appointment of the director, the name and particulars and the date of appointment are as set
out hereunder, to fill a vacancy, be and is hereby confirmed –
7.1.

ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 4.1 – Appointment of Neil William Birch as
non-executive director
Neil William Birch (Appointed 3 April 2017)
Note: The above director, being eligible for appointment, has been appointed by the board
of directors of the company to fill the vacancy left by the retirement of Fred Robertson on
3 April 2017 and also as a consequence of the passing away of Lambert Phillips Retief on
25 January 2017. The board of directors of the company recommends the election of
Neil William Birch. His abridged curriculum vitae appear in the integrated report.

7.2.

ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 4.2 – Appointment of Cindy Joy Hess as
non-executive director
Cindy Joy Hess (Appointed 23 March 2017)
Note: The above director, being eligible for appointment, has been appointed by the board of
directors of the company, which appointment in time would fill the vacancy to be left by the
retirement of Abduraghman (Manie) Mayman on 3 April 2017, which has become effective
on the aforesaid date. The board of directors of the company recommends the election of
Cindy Joy Hess. Her abridged curriculum vitae appear in the integrated report.

8.

ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 5 – RE-ELECTION OF NONEXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Resolved that, in accordance with clause 30.3.4.1 of the MOI read in conjunction with clause 30.3.4.2
of the MOI, the election and appointment of directors, who retire by rotation and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election, be and is hereby approved in a vote on an individual basis in respect of each
director, the names and particulars of which directors and the respective dates of their election and
appointment are as set out hereunder –
8.1.

ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 5.1 – Re-election of
Sandile Donald Muziwenkosi Zungu as non-executive director
Sandile Donald Muziwenkosi Zungu (appointed 23 February 2015)
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8.2

ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 5.2 – Re-election of Jan Naudé Potgieter as
non-executive director
Jan Naudé Potgieter (appointed 23 February 2015)

8.3

ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 5.3 – Re-election of Gugulethu Patricia Dingaan as nonexecutive director
Gugulethu Patricia Dingaan (appointed 23 February 2015)
Note: One-third of the number of directors in office is subject to rotation and the directors to
retire in each year shall be those who have been longest in office since their last election, but as
between persons who were elected as directors on the same day, those to retire shall, unless they
otherwise agree among themselves, be determined by lot. Their abridged curricula vitae appear
in the integrated report. The board of directors of the company unanimously recommends the
approval of the election and appointments of the directors in question.

9.

ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 6 – APPOINTMENT OF
AUDIT COMMITTEE
Resolved that, as required in terms of section 94(2) of the Companies Act and as recommended by
the King Report on Governance for South Africa 2009 (chapter 3), the election and appointment of
independent non-executive directors as members of the audit committee, whose names and particulars
and the respective dates of appointment are as set out hereunder, be and is hereby approved in a vote
on an individual basis in respect of each of the aforementioned audit committee members, namely –
9.1.

ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 6.1 – Reappointment of Bernard John Olivier (appointed as
director – 23 February 2015)

9.2.

ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 6.2 – Reappointment of
Gugulethu Patricia Dingaan (appointed as director – 23 February 2015)1

9.3.

ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 6.3 – Appointment of Christoffel Botha
(appointed as director – 24 February 2016)
Note: The board of directors of the company unanimously recommends the approval of the
reappointments of the audit committee members in question, and is satisfied that all of them are
suitably skilled and experienced independent non-executive directors and that they collectively
have sufficient qualifications and experience in all necessary disciplines to fulfil their duties,
as contemplated in regulation 42 of the Regulations 2011 to the Companies Act. They have a
comprehensive understanding of financial reporting, internal financial controls, risk management
and governance processes within the company, as well as International Financial Reporting
Standards and other regulations and guidelines applicable to the company. They keep up to date
with developments affecting their required skills set. Their abridged curricula vitae appear in the
integrated report.
1

Subject to her re-election as director pursuant to ordinary resolution number 5 above.

INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2017 | NOVUS HOLDINGS

221

10.

ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 7 – ENDORSEMENT
OF THE NOVUS HOLDINGS REMUNERATION POLICY AND
IMPLEMENTATION REPORT
Resolved, by way of a non-binding advisory vote, to endorse the company’s remuneration policy (excluding
the remuneration of the non-executive directors and the members of statutory and board committees
for their services as directors and members of committees – considering paragraph 3.1 above) and the
implementation report as required in terms of the King IVTM Report, as set out in the integrated report on
pages 98 to 101 and pages 113 to 115 respectively, to be endorsed separately in respect of each of the
aforementioned matters, namely –
10.1.

ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 7.1 – Endorsement of the remuneration policy

10.2.

ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 7.2 – Endorsement of the implementation report
Note: The King IVTM Report include definitive disclosure requirements (and the Listing
Requirements as well, to be amended), dealing with boards and directors, that requires
companies to table their remuneration policy and the implementation report every year for
shareholders in a non-binding advisory vote at the Annual General Meeting. This vote enables
shareholders to express their views on the remuneration policies adopted for, among others,
executive directors and on their implementation. The remuneration policy is contained under
the heading “Part 2: Remuneration Policy” in the Remuneration report on page 102. The
implementation report is contained under the heading “Part 3: Implementation of Remuneration
Policy for the year ended on 31 March 2017” in the Remuneration report on page 103. The
remuneration policy deals with, inter alia, the company’s approach to remuneration governance,
reward philosophy and strategy and guidelines on the various components making up the
remuneration packages of employees of the company including the remuneration arrangements
in place for the non-executive directors. Please note that the remuneration to be paid to nonexecutive directors for their services as directors will require the approval of the shareholders
of the company by special resolution (see paragraph 3.1 above), in terms of the Companies Act,
such remuneration having been benchmarked in relation with other similar-sized public-listed
companies in South Africa. This ordinary resolution number 7 is of an advisory nature only and
failure to pass this resolution will at the moment therefore not have any legal consequences
relating to existing arrangements. However, the board will take the outcome of the vote into
consideration and in the event of 25% or more of the votes exercised being against either or both
endorsements the company will extend an invitation to dissenting shareholders to engage with
the company when considering the remuneration policy in the remuneration of, among others,
executive directors, and the remuneration of the directors in any event needs to be approved
pursuant to special resolution number 1.

11.

ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 8 – GENERAL ISSUE OF SHARES
Resolved that, in terms of section 38, as read with section 40, of the Companies Act and clause 7.7 of the
MOI, the company be and is hereby authorised, by way of a general authority, to proceed with the issue
of unissued ordinary no par value shares in the authorised ordinary share capital of the company –
i.

ii.
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limited to 10% (ten percent) of the issued ordinary share capital of the company on the record date
of this Annual General Meeting, amounting to 34 733 245 shares of the company’s issued ordinary
share capital of the company on the record date;
subject thereto that a rights issue that may be undertaken by the company, be included in the above
10% limitation that will also apply to such rights issue;
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iii. which shares be and is hereby placed under the control of the directors until the next Annual General
Meeting of the company; and
iv. the directors be and is hereby authorised to allot and issue any such shares as they may deem fit,
subject to the Companies Act, the MOI of the company and the Listings Requirements.
Note: The reason for this Ordinary Resolution is that the board of directors requires authority to issue
ordinary no par value shares from time to time as may be required, inter alia, as part of the company’s
fund raising exercises and to maintain a healthy capital adequacy ratio.

12.

ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 9 – GENERAL ISSUE OF SHARES
FOR CASH
Resolved that subject to Ordinary Resolution Number 8 being approved and included in the number of
unissued ordinary no par value shares referred to in Ordinary Resolution Number 8 above, in terms
of section 38, as read with section 40, of the Companies Act and clauses 7.7 and 7.8 of the MOI, the
company be and is hereby authorised, as a general approval and authority to allot and issue ordinary
no par value shares and options or convertible securities that are convertible into an existing class of
equity securities for cash without restriction, as the directors may deem fit, subject to compliance with
the Companies Act, the MOI of the company and the Listings Requirements, provided that –
i.

this general approval shall expire at the date of the company’s next Annual General Meeting in 2018
or 15 (fifteen) months from the date of this meeting of shareholders, whichever is the earlier;
ii. any such issue will be securities of a class already in issue, or limited to such securities or rights that
are convertible into a class already in issue;
iii. the securities will be issued only to public shareholders (as defined in the Listings Requirements) and
not to related parties;
iv. during the period permitted in terms of this general approval the general issue of securities of a
specific class will, in any financial year not exceed, in the aggregate, 10% of the issued ordinary share
capital of the company on the record date of this Annual General Meeting in that class at the record
date, amounting to 34 733 245 shares of the company’s issued ordinary share capital of the company
on the record date, it being recorded that ordinary no par value shares issued in terms of Ordinary
Resolution Number 8 above will diminish the number of ordinary no par value shares that may
comprise the 10% of ordinary no par value shares that can be issued as contemplated in Ordinary
Resolution Number 8 above and this Ordinary Resolution Number 9;
v. in determining the price at which an issue of equity securities may be made in terms of this general
authority, the maximum discount permitted will be 10% of the weighted average traded price of the
equity securities as measured over the 30 (thirty) business days prior to the date that the price of
the issue is agreed between the company and the party subscribing for the securities – the JSE will
be consulted for a ruling if the company’s securities have not traded on the JSE in such 30 (thirty)
business day period; and
vi. upon any issue of ordinary shares which, together with prior issues of ordinary shares during the
same financial year, will constitute 5% (five percent) or more of the total number of ordinary shares in
issue prior to that issue, the company shall publish an announcement in terms of section 11.22 of the
Listings Requirements.
Note: The reason for this Ordinary Resolution is that the board of directors requires authority to issue
ordinary no par value shares for cash as may be required as part of the company’s normal fund raising
exercises and to maintain a healthy adequacy ratio.
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13.

SPECIAL RESOLUTION NUMBER 1 – REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS
Resolved that, in accordance with sections 66(8) and (9) of the Companies Act, the payment of
remuneration to non-executive directors of the Company in office for their services as directors and
the remuneration to members of the respective committees of the company, be and is hereby approved
and sanctioned as set out below:
2016/17
Board of directors

2017/18

2018/19

Chairman

Member

Chairman

Member

Chairman

Member

R1 590 000

R265 000

R1 669 5001

R278 250

R1 102 500

R292 162

Audit committee

R159 000

R79 500

R166 950

R83 475

R175 298

R87 648

Risk committee

R106 000

R53 000

R111 300

R55 650

R116 865

R58 432

Remuneration committee

R127 200

R63 600

R133 560

R66 780

R140 238

R70 119

Nominations committee

R20 000

R10 000

R21 000

R10 500

R22 050

R11 025

R106 000

R53 000

R111 300

R55 650

R116 865

R58 432

R20 000

R10 000

R21 000

R10 500

R22 050

R11 025

Social and ethics
committee
Investment committee

Note: The reason for this Special Resolution Number 1 is to approve a minor supplementation of the
remuneration payable to the chairman of the board directors for the period 2017/18, marked with
the1 above, and furthermore to approve the remuneration in respect of the period 2018/19 as set out
above. Besides the addition of the aforesaid 2018/19 period, this resolution is a verbatim repetition of
Special Resolution Number 1 adopted at the Annual General Meeting on 23 September 2016, save that
aforesaid remuneration marked with the1 shall not exceed the amount stipulated above as approved on
23 September 2016 and, thus, is not an exact figure. This will enable the company to settle an amount
outstanding towards Fred Robertson for acting as chairman of the board of the directors which amount
equated to R137 917,00 and could not be settled in 2017 as it exceeded the amount that could be
paid to the chairman and also to remunerate Neil William Birch as chairperson in accordance with his
appointment letter stating that his remuneration will be an all-inclusive fee of R1 050 000,00 per annum
subject to the board and committee structure to be finalised to determine on which committees he
will serve and in what capacity – however, the amount paid for services as chairperson of the board of
directors will be below the maximum amount marked with the1. The board of directors of the company
deemed it prudent and in accordance with good corporate governance to approve the payment of
remuneration on this supplemented basis. The effect of the resolution will be that the afore-mentioned
payment of remuneration of non-executive directors and committee members of the company for their
services as such for the period until 31 March 2018 will in aggregate align with the already approved
remuneration, and that the remuneration for the period until 31 March 2019 will also be newly approved.

14.

SPECIAL RESOLUTION NUMBER 2 – FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE IN
TERMS OF SECTION 44
Resolved that, the board may, subject to section 44 of the Companies Act and the MOI, authorise the
company to generally provide direct or indirect financial assistance as contemplated by section 44 of the
Companies Act by way of loan, guarantee, the provision of security, or otherwise to any person (including
a director or prescribed officer of the company) for the purpose of, or in connection with, the subscription
for any option, or any securities, issued or to be issued by the company, or any related or inter-related
company to the company, or for the purchase of any securities of the company, or any related or interrelated company, provided that no such financial assistance may be provided at any time in terms of this
authority after the expiry of two years from the date of the adoption of this Special Resolution Number 2
or the date of the Annual General Meeting of the company to be held in 2018, whichever is the earlier.
Note: The reason for and effect of this Special Resolution Number 2 is to, in terms of section 44 of the
Companies Act read with the Listings Requirements, in so far as may be necessary, grant the directors
of the company the authority to provide financial assistance to the potential recipients as set out in
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the resolution. This authority shall include and also apply to the granting of financial assistance to
Novus Holdings Share Trust for purposes of ESOP and the above-mentioned SAR Scheme and RSP Scheme
and participants there-under (which may include directors, future directors, prescribed officers of the
company or of a related or interrelated company) in accordance with the terms and conditions of these
afore-mentioned employee incentive schemes.

15.

SPECIAL RESOLUTION NUMBER 3 – FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE IN
TERMS OF SECTION 45
Resolved that, the board may, subject to section 45 of the Companies Act and the MOI, authorise the
company to generally provide direct or indirect financial assistance as contemplated by section 45 of
the Companies Act to any to any related or inter-related company or corporation, or to a member of a
related or interrelated corporation; provided that no such financial assistance may be provided at any
time in terms of this authority after the expiry of two years from the date of the adoption of this Special
Resolution number 3 or the date of the Annual General Meeting of the company to be held in 2018,
whichever is the earlier.
Note: The reason for and effect of this Special Resolution Number 3 is to, in terms of Section 45 of the
Companies Act read with the Listings Requirements in so far as may be necessary, grant the directors
of the company the authority to provide financial assistance to the potential recipients as set out in
the resolution.
General note: Both Sections 44 and 45 of the Companies Act provide, among others, that the particular
financial assistance must be provided only pursuant to a special resolution of the shareholders, adopted
within the previous two years, which approved assistance either for the specific recipient, or generally for
a category of potential recipients, and such recipient falls within that category, the board of directors of
the company must be satisfied that:
i.
ii.

16.

immediately after providing the financial assistance, the company would satisfy the solvency and
liquidity test as contemplated in Section 4 of the Companies Act; and
the terms under which the financial assistance is proposed to be given are fair and reasonable to
the company.

ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 10 – SIGNING POWERS
Resolved that, any director of the company and, where applicable, the company secretary, be and is
hereby authorised to do all such things, sign all such documentation and take all such actions as may be
necessary to implement the above-mentioned special and ordinary resolutions, hereby ratifying, allowing
and confirming all and whatsoever the director and, where applicable, the company secretary, shall
lawfully do or cause to be done or might have done in the premises by virtue of these present.
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